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A. Business Unit B. Customer (Federal, State, County, International)

13% International Services

12% GEO Care

75% U.S. Corrections
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$30.0

$41.8

$0.84 $0.85
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$957.1

$58.9

$1.14

14% U.S. marshals

2 0 0 8  O p e r a t i n g  R e v e n u e  D i s t r i b u t i o n

13% ICE

6% BOp

19% Florida
13% International

6% texas

5% Arizona

5% new mexico

5% California

4% Oklahoma

10% Other
(State, County, Other)

*revenue breakdown excludes construction revenues.
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Our company experienced a 
number of milestones in 2008. 
Our financial performance 
reached new highs driven by 
strong operational results from 
our three business units of U.S. 
Corrections, International 
Services, and GEO Care.  
During the year, we activated 
eight new or expanded projects 
totaling approximately 5,900 
correctional and detention 
beds, which we expect will 
contribute approximately 
$ 1 0 6  m i l l i o n  i n  a n n u a l 
operating revenues. 

Our U.S. correctional and detention facilities 
continued to enjoy high occupancy levels 
throughout the year. Our core correctional market 
segments in the United States at the federal 
and state levels continue to be driven by strong 
fundamentals and an increased demand for 
correctional and detention beds nationwide. At 
the state level, capacity constraints and growing 
inmate populations coupled with limited state 
resources give rise to the need for cost efficient 
correctional and detention solutions. 

Our U.S. Corrections business unit provides 
correctional and detention management services 
through public-private partnerships with ten 
state clients, and we expect to build on these 
partnerships as we work with our existing and 
prospective state client to meet their ongoing bed 
space needs. At the federal level, the United States 
Congress has maintained its commitment to secure 

the United States border through a number of 
initiatives including the Secure Border Initiative 
and the Secure Communities Initiative. These 
initiatives have resulted in increased funding for 
the Federal Bureau of Prisons, the U.S. Marshals 
Service, and U.S. Immigration and Customs 
Enforcement to focus on border enforcement and 
illegal immigration detention with an emphasis 
on criminal alien populations. 

To support the growing demand for correctional 
and detention beds around the country, our U.S. 
Corrections business unit built on its public-
private partnerships with our federal and state 
clients with the activation of several important 
projects including the 200-bed expansion of the 
1,000-bed Central Arizona Correctional Facility; 
the 744-bed expansion of the 416-bed LaSalle 
Detention Facility to house immigration detainees 
for U.S. Immigration and Customs Enforcement; 
and the 500-bed expansion of the 1,000-bed East 
Mississippi Correctional Facility which houses a 
special-needs inmate population requiring mental 
health treatment. 

During the year, we also activated five new facility 
projects including the 625-bed Northeast New 
Mexico Correctional Facility and four detention 
centers for the housing of U.S. Marshals Service 
detainees and other federal offenders: the 576-bed 
Robert A. Deyton Detention Facility in Lovejoy, 
Georgia; the 688-bed Maverick Detention Center 
in Eagle Pass, Texas; the 1,100-bed Joe Corley 
Detention Facility in Conroe, Texas; and the 
GEO-owned 1,500-bed Rio Grande Detention 
Center in Laredo, Texas. 

In addition to these important activations, our 
U.S. Corrections business unit discontinued its 
contract for the management of the county-owned 
1,883-bed George W. Hill Correctional Facility, 
thus exiting the non-core county jail market 
segment and refocusing its business development 
efforts on our core correctional market segments 
at the state and federal levels.
 
Our GEO Care business unit exited a non-core 
market segment with the discontinuation of its 
management contract at the 230-bed Fort Bayard 
Medical Center, a long-term care state nursing 
home, and our U.K. wholly-owned subsidiary, 
GEO U.K. Ltd., also exited a non-core market with 
the closure of its transportation unit, Recruitment 
Solutions International. With these measures, our 
GEO Care and International Services business 
units can now refocus their resources to pursue 
new business development opportunities in their 
core market segments. 

GEO Care continues to actively market its services 
for the management of state civil and forensic 
psychiatric hospitals and for the provision of 
mental healthcare services at state correctional 
facilities throughout the country. Internationally, 
GEO U.K. received a contract award for the 
management of the 260-bed Harmondsworth 
Immigration Removal Centre, which is also 
scheduled to be expanded by another 360 beds 
in mid 2010. This important contract award 
marks our continued expansion in the U.K. 
private correctional market, where we once had 
a dominant business presence. In South Africa 
and Australia, we remain the largest private 
correctional operator and are poised to capitalize 
on new business development opportunities given 
our longstanding and successful public-private 
partnerships with our clients in those markets.   

L e t t e r  t o  S h a r e h o l d e r s

“During the year, we activated eight new or expanded projects 
totaling approximately 5,900 correctional and detention beds, 
which we expect will contribute approximately $106 million in 
annual operating revenues.”

George C. Zoley

Chairman of the Board,
Chief Executive Officer 
and Founder

Wayne H. Calabrese

Vice Chairman of the Board,
President and Chief 
Operating Officer

Our operating revenues, 
exc lud ing  cons t ruc t ion 
activity, increased ten percent 
to $957.1 million. Our adjusted 
EBITDA increased 20 percent 
to $164.8 million; and our pro 
forma net earnings grew 35 
percent to $65.0 million. The 
robust growth in our operating 
revenues, adjusted EBITDA, 
and pro forma net earnings 
demonstrates the strength of 
our company and validates 
our diversified growth and 
investment strategy. During 
2008, we invested $131 million in long-term 
capital projects, which coupled with the $155 
million in capital investments we expect to make 
in 2009, will increase the book value of our long-
term facility assets to more than $1.0 billion. 
To support this significant capital expansion, 
we expanded our borrowing capacity under our 
revolving credit facility by $90 million through 
the execution of an accordion feature in our senior 
secured credit facility. 

We remain optimistic about our company’s growth 
prospects and the fundamentals of our industry. 
Our core market segments continue to experience 
strong demand, and our organic project pipeline 
remains strong with ten projects currently under 
development totaling approximately 8,300 beds, 
which are scheduled to open between 2009 and 
2010. We have exited the county jail market 
segment to refocus our efforts on organic growth 
opportunities in our core markets, and we have 
increased our borrowing capacity to support the 
capital expansion of company owned facilities. 
These efforts have positioned our company to take 
advantage of the growing demand in our industry 
and the growth opportunities that lie ahead. 
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John M. Palms, Ph.D.
President Emeritus

University of South Carolina

Wayne H. Calabrese
Vice Chairman of the Board, 

President & Chief Operating Officer 
The GEO Group, Inc.

Richard H. Glanton
Chief Executive Officer

Philadelphia Television Network

George C. Zoley
Chairman of the Board, Chief 
Executive Officer & Founder

The GEO Group, Inc.

Anne N. Foreman
Former Under Secretary
United States Air Force

Norman A. Carlson
Former Director

Federal Bureau of Prisons

John M. Perzel
Former Speaker

Pennsylvannia House 
of Representatives

B o a r d  o f  D i r e c t o r s S e n i o r  O f f i c e r s

Wayne H. Calabrese
Vice Chairman of the Board, President 

and Chief Operating Officer

John G. O’Rourke
Senior Vice President and

Chief Financial Officer

John J. Bulfin
Senior Vice President,

General Counsel and Secretary

John M. Hurley
Senior Vice President 

and President, U.S. Corrections

Jorge A. Dominicis
Senior Vice President 

and President, GEO Care, Inc.

Tom M. Wierdsma
Senior Vice President, 
Project Development

George C. Zoley
Chairman of the Board, Chief 
Executive Officer and Founder
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At year end 2007, the total incarcerated population 

in the United States reached 2.4 million, and state 

and federal inmate populations grew to 1.6 million 

individuals according to the U.S. Department of 

Justice. Since 2000, state and federal inmate 

populations have grown by more than 207,000 

offenders, or 15 percent, and in report issued by 

the Pew Charitable Trusts, forecasters estimated 

that state and federal prison populations in the 

United States would grow by more than 192,000 

inmates between 2007 and 2011. 

In addition to growing inmate populations, state 

and federal correctional agencies continue to 

face capacity constraints. According to the U.S. 

Department of Justice, 19 states and the federal 

prison system operated above their highest rated 

capacity in 2007. In addition during 2007, another 

19 states operated between 90 and 99 percent of 

their highest rated capacity.

At the federal level, the United States Congress 

has continued to fund initiatives related to security 

of the United Sates border. The Secure Border 

Initiative and the Secure Communities Initiative 

have resulted in increased funding for the Federal 

Bureau of Prisons, the U.S. Marshals Service, and 

U.S. Immigration and Customs Enforcement to 

carry out functions related to border enforcement 

and illegal immigration detention with an emphasis 

on criminal alien populations. 

The demand for correctional and detention bed 

space nationwide has increased the need for cost-

efficient solutions in the provision of correctional 

and detention services. The private correctional 

industry in the United States has grown by more 

than 44 percent since 2000 and now manages more 

than 125,000 state and federal correctional beds 

according to the U.S. Department of Justice. 

Inmates held in State &
Federal public facilities
(�,��8,��� Beds) 

92%

Inmates held in privately 
operated facilities
(���,9�� Beds)

8%

Source: Bureau of Justice Statistics

U . S .  C o r r e c t i o n s
Partnering with State and Federal Clients 

to Deliver Cost-Efficient Solutions

The GEO Group has been partnering with 

government agencies around the country to help 

address their ongoing correctional and detention 

bed needs since the mid-1980s. The GEO 

Group’s U.S. Corrections business unit provides 

correctional and detention management services 

for ten state clients as well as the Office of the 

Federal Detention Trustee and the three major 

federal correctional and detention agencies in 

the United States: the Federal Bureau of Prisons, 

the United States Marshals Service, and U.S. 

Immigration and Customs Enforcement. 

R i o  G r a n d e  D e t e n t i o n  C e n t e r

The 1,500-bed Rio Grande Detention Center houses detainees on behalf of 
the U.S. Marshals Service. The GEO Group manages the company-owned 
center under a 20-year contract, inclusive of option periods, with the Office of 
the Federal Detention Trustee. The 1,500-bed detention center, which opened 
in October 2008, is located in Laredo, Texas.
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During 2008, The GEO Group activated eight new 

or expanded projects in the United States through 

its U.S. Corrections business unit. These projects 

totaled approximately 5,900 beds and are expected 

to generate $106 million in annualized operating 

revenues. 

U.S. Corrections activated three expansion 

projects in 2008: a 200-bed expansion of the 

1,000-bed Central Arizona Correctional Facility; 

a 744-bed expansion of the 416-bed LaSalle 

Detention Facility to house immigration detainees 

for U.S. Immigration and Customs Enforcement; 

and a 500-bed expansion of the 1,000-bed East 

Mississippi Correctional Facility which houses a 

special-needs inmate population requiring mental 

health treatment. 

U.S. Corrections also opened five new 

facility projects in 2008 including 

the 625-bed Northeast New 

Mexico Correctional Facility 

under contract with the New 

Mexico Corrections Department 

as well as four detention centers 

for the housing of U.S. Marshals 

Service prisoners and other federal 

offenders including the 576-bed 

Robert A. Deyton Detention Facility 

in Lovejoy, Georgia; the 688-bed 

Maverick Detention Center in Eagle Pass, 

Texas; the 1,100-bed Joe Corley Detention 

Facility in Conroe, Texas; and the company-

owned 1,500-bed Rio Grande Detention Center in 

Laredo, Texas.

With more than twenty years of experience and 

long-standing relationships with its clients, The 

GEO Group is well positioned to continue to 

build on its existing public-private partnerships 

in the United States.

Robert A. Deyton 
Detention Facility

Northeast New Mexico  
Detention Facility

Joe Corley 
Detention Facility

In 2008, The GEO Group activated a 744-bed expansion to the 416-
bed LaSalle Detention Facility in Jena, Louisiana. The company-owned 
facility houses immigration detainees on behalf of U.S. Immigration 
and Customs Enforcement and plays an important role in meeting the 
growing demand for federal detention bed space in the United States.  

L a S a l l e  D e t e n t i o n  F a c i l i t y
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South Africa Custodial 
Services head Office
Johannesburg, South Africa

Facility listing includes GEO’s projects under development and expansions.

U . S .  M a p I n t e r n a t i o n a l  M a p s

II. Australia

GEO Australia 
head Office
Sydney, AustraliaWestern regional Office

San Diego, CA

Central regional Office
San Antonio, tX GEO World headquarters

Boca raton, FL

Eastern regional Office
Charlotte, nC

U.S. Corrections Facilities

International Facilities 

GEO Care Facilities

non-managed Facilities

Idle Facilities 
(new - Under Development)

I. United Kingdom III. South Africa

Facility

FEDERAL JURISDICTIONS
Aurora ICE Processing Center (CO)

Bronx Community Re-Entry Center (NY)
Brooklyn Community Correctional Center (NY)
Broward Transition Center (FL)

Central Texas Detention Facility (TX) 
Guantanamo Bay Migrant Operations Center (Cuba)
Joe Corley Detention Facility (TX)
Karnes Correctional Center (TX)
LaSalle Detention Facility (LA) 
Maverick County Detention Center (TX)
Northwest Detention Center (WA)

Queens Detention Facility (NY)
Reeves County Detention Complex: R1&R2 (TX)
Reeves County Detention Complex: R3 (TX)
Rivers Correctional Institution (NC)
Rio Grande Detention Center (TX)
Robert A. Deyton Detention Facility (GA)
South Texas Detention Complex (TX)
Val Verde County Correctional Facility & Jail (TX)
Western Region Detention Facility San Diego (CA)

Facility

STATE JURISDICTIONS
ARIZONA
Arizona State Prison - Florence West 
Arizona State Prison - Phoenix West 
Central Arizona Correctional Facility  

CALIFORNIA
Central Valley Medium Community Correctional Facility 
Desert View Medium Community Correctional Facilitty
Golden State Medium Community Correctional Facility
McFarland Community Correctional Facility
FLORIDA
Graceville Correctional Facility

Moore Haven Correctional Facility
South Bay Correctional Facility
Blackwater River Correctional Facility
INDIANA
New Castle Correctional Facility
LOUISIANA
Allen Correctional Center
MISSISSIPPI
East Mississippi Correctional Facility
Marshall County Correctional Facility
NEW MEXICO
Northeast New Mexico Detention Facility
Guadalupe County Correctional Facility

Type

Immigration Detention-M/F
Expansion
Adult M/F Minimum Community/Residential
Adult M/F Minimum Community/Residential
Adult M/F Minimum Security Detention
Expansion
Adult M/F Medium/Minimum Security
Migrant Operations Center-M/F
Medium Security Detention Services
Secure Adult Detention Services
Secure Adult Detention Services
Secure Adult Detention Services
Immigration Detention-M/F Medium/Minimum Security
Expansion
M/F Pre-Sentenced Detainees
Adult Male Detention Center
Adult Male Detention Center
Adult Male Low Security
Adult M/F Detention Center
Adult M/F Detention Center
Immigration Detention-M/F-Minimum security
Adult M/F All Security Levels
Adult M/F Pre-Sentenced - High Security

Type

Adult Male DWI and RTC, Medium, Minimum Security
Adult Male DWI, Minimum Securitry
Adult Male, Sex Offenders, Medium/Minimum Security 

Adult Male Medium Security
Adult Male Medium Security
Adult Male Medium Security
Adult Male Medium Security

Adult Male Medium/Close Custody
Expansion
Adult Male Medium Security
Adult Male Medium/Close Custody
Adult Male Medium/Close Custody

Adult Male Medium/Minimum Security

Adult Male Medium/High Security

Adult Mental Health - All Security Levels
Adult Male Medium Security

Adult Male Medium Security
Adult Male All Security Levels

Capacity

400
1,100

110
177
600
294
688
130

1,100
679

1,160
688

1,030
545
222

2,407
1,356
1,200
1,500

768
1,904
1,451

700

Capacity

750
450

1,200
 

625
643
625
224

1,500
384
985

1,862
2,000

2,524

1,538

1,500
1,000

625
600

U.S. CORRECTIONS
Facility
NEW MEXICO 
Lea County Correctional Facility
OKLAHOMA
Lawton Correctional Facility 

TEXAS
Bridgeport Correctional Center
Cleveland Correctional Center
Fort Worth Community Corrections Facility
Lockhart Secure Work Program
North Texas Intermediate Sanction Facility
South Texas Intermediate Sanction Facility
VIRGINIA
Lawrenceville Correctional Center

MULTIPLE JURISDICTIONS
Frio County Detention Center (TX)
Jefferson County Downtown Jail (TX)
Newton County Correctional Center (TX)
Oklahoma Correctional Facility (OK)

IDLE FACILITES
North Lake Correctional Facility (MI)

Oak Creek Confinement Center (TX)

NON-MANAGED CORRECTIONAL FACILITIES
Mesa Verde Correctional Facility (CA)
Delaney Hall (NJ)

Type

Adult Male All Security Levels

Adult Male Medium/Minimum Security

Adult Male Pre-Release Center-Minimum Security
Adult Male Minimum Security
Adullt M/F Minimum Security
Adult M/F Pre-Release Center
Adult Male Minimum Security - Short Term Offenders
Adult Male Minimum Security - Short Term Offenders

Adult Male Medium Security

Adult M/F All Security Levels
Adult Male All Security Levels
Adult Male All Security Levels
Adult Correctional Facility

Idle Facility
Expansion
Idle Facility

Correctional Facility
Residential Re-entry Center

Capacity

1,200

2,518

520
520
225

1,000
424
450

1,536

391
500
872

1,500

500
1,225

200

400
720

GEO CARE FACILITIES
Facility
South Florida State Hospital (FL)
South Florida Evaluation & Treatment Center (FL)
Florida Civil Commitment Center (FL)
Treasure Coast Forensic Treatment Center (FL)

Capacity
335
238
720
223

INTERNATIONAL SERVICES
Facility
AUSTRALIA
Arthur Gorrie Remand & Reception Centre
Fulham Correctional Centre 
Junee Correctional Centre
Melbourne Custody Centre
REPUBLIC OF SOUTH AFRICA
Kutama Sinthumule Correctional Centre
UNITED KINGDOM 
Campsfield House Immigration Removal Centre
Harmondsworth Immigration Removal Centre

Type

Adult Remand Centre 
Adult Male Medium Security
Adult M/F Minimum/Medium Security
Court Escort & Custody Services

Adult Male Maximum Security

Immigration
Immigration
Expansion

Capacity

890
785
790
67

3,024

215
260
360

52   U.S. CORRECTIONS TOTAL   52,825 

  7   INTERNATIONAL TOTAL   6,391 

  4   GEO CARE TOTAL 1,516

63   GRAND TOTAL 60,732

GEO U.K. 
head Office
London, England

Type
Special Needs - State Psychiatric Hospital - M/F
Forensic Psychiatric Hospital
Civil Commitment Center
Forensic Treatement Center
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GEO Set to Expand its Footprint 
in the U.K. Market

Through its wholly-owned subsidiary, GEO U.K. 

Ltd., The GEO Group reentered the U.K. private 

correctional market, where it once had a dominant 

business presence. In 2005, GEO U.K. opened its 

Head Office outside London and became an active 

player in the second largest private correctional 

market in the world with the assumption of 

management services at the 215-bed Campsfield 

House Immigration Removal Centre located in 

Kidlington, England. 

In 2008, GEO U.K. took additional steps to expand 

its footprint in the U.K. private correctional market 

with a new contract award for the management 

of the 260-bed Harmondsworth Immigration 

Removal Centre, which will also be expanded by 

360 beds by mid 2010. Additionally, GEO U.K. 

discontinued its transportation unit, Recruitment 

Solutions International, thus exiting a non-core 

and underperforming market segment. GEO U.K. 

Ltd. is well positioned to continue to pursue 

growth opportunities in its core market segments 

in the United Kingdom as well as other markets in 

continental Europe.

G E O  A u s t r a l i a  D e l i v e r s 
Quality Correctional Services  

Through its wholly-owned subsidiary, GEO 

Australia Pty. Ltd., The GEO Group has established 

longstanding public-private partnerships with 

government agencies in the Australian states of 

Victoria, New South Wales, and Queensland. 

GEO Australia Pty. Ltd. provides management 

services at three correctional centers and one 

detention facility: the 790-bed Junee Correctional 

Centre under contract with the New South Wales 

Commission of Corrective Services; the 785-bed 

Fulham Correctional Centre under contract with 

the State of Victoria Ministry of Corrections; the 

67-bed Melbourne Custody Centre under contract 

with the Victoria Chief Commissioner of Police; 

and the 890-bed Arthur Gorrie Correctional Centre 

under contract with the State of Queensland 

Department of Corrections.

GEO Australia has delivered high quality and 

cost-efficient management services throughout the 

continent of Australia for more than 16 years and 

is well positioned to grow its successful public-

private partnerships in this important market. 

Campsfield House Immigration Removal Centre
Kidlington, England

Kutama Sinthumule Correctional Centre
Louis Trichardt, Limpopo Province

I n t e r n a t i o n a l  S e r v i c e s K u t a m a  S i n t h u m u l e  C o r r e c t i o n a l  C e n t r e

Building on a Success Story in 
the Republic of South Africa 

For almost a decade, The GEO Group’s subsidiary, 
South African Custodial Management, has 
operated the largest private maximum security 
correctional center in the world. The 3,024-bed 
Kutama Sinthumule Correctional Centre, located 
in Louis Trichardt, South Africa has set higher 
standards of correctional management through the 
achievement of ISO 9001:2000 certification as 
well as several governmental and business quality 
awards.

The South African Department of Correctional 

Services has issued requests for proposals for four 

new 3,000-bed facilities to be built and managed 

using public-private partnerships. South African 

Custodial Management is poised to capitalize on 

this growing demand and to build on its success 

story at the Kutama Sinthumule Correctional 

Centre. 

Junee Correctional Centre
Junee, New South Wales



�� ��

One-fourth of all psychiatric treatment beds 
in the United States are provided by state and 
local mental health hospitals according to the 
U.S. Center for Mental Health Services. These 
taxpayer funded institutions deliver mental health 
treatment to civil and forensic patient populations. 
Through its wholly-owned subsidiary, GEO Care, 
Inc., The GEO Group has established itself as a 
leading provider of mental health treatment and 
management services for civil, forensic, and 
special-needs institutions in the United States. 

In partnership with the Florida Department of 
Children and Families, GEO Care has developed 
a groundbreaking model for the delivery 
of residential treatment and mental health 
management services in safe and secure facilities. 
In 1998, GEO Care assumed management of the 
335-bed South Florida State Hospital located in 
Pembroke Pines, Florida, while developing a new 
state-of-the-art replacement facility which would 
open in 2000. During their ten-year joint venture, 
GEO Care and the Department of Children and 
Families have significantly increased the quality 
of resident care and the efficiency of treatment 
programs at South Florida State Hospital, while 
achieving meaningful cost-savings for Florida’s 
taxpayers. 

Delivering High Quality Mental 
Health Treatment & Management 
Services

GEO Care Target Market
Over 220 state and county mental health hospitals with 
57,000 beds: $6 Billion Target Market.

State & County Mental 
Health Hospitals 

TARGET MARKET

Residential Centers 
For Disturbed 
Children

18%

27%

GEO Care assumed management of the 335-bed South Florida State Hospital 
in 1998 and developed a state-of-the-art replacement facility which opened  
in 2000. During its decade-long partnership with the Florida Department of 
Children and Families, GEO Care has increased the quality of resident care 
and the efficiency of treatment programs at South Florida State Hospital. 

Source: Center for Mental Health Services (�00�).
* Includes freestanding psychiatric outpatient clinics, partial care and 
multiservice mental health organizations.

G E O  C a r e ,  I n c . S o u t h  F l o r i d a  S t a t e  H o s p i t a l

South Florida Evaluation & Treatment Center
Florida City, FL

19%
Non-Federal General 
Hospitals Psychiatric 
Services

Private Psychiatric 
Hospitals

12%

VA Medical Centers

5%

Others*

19%

GEO Care has built on its successful experience at 
South Florida State Hospital with the assumption 
of management services at three other mental 
health and special needs institutions in the state of 
Florida: the 238-bed South Florida Evaluation and 
Treatment Center, a state forensic mental health 
hospital located in Miami, the 223-bed Treasure 
Coast Forensic Treatment Center in Indiantown, 
and the 680-bed Florida Civil Commitment 
Center, a secure civil commitment facility located 
in Arcadia that provides rehabilitative treatment 
for sexually violent predators. GEO Care also 
provides offender mental healthcare services at 
the Palm Beach County Jail Complex in Florida.

The GEO Group has consolidated its correctional 
healthcare functions under GEO Care which will 
improve productivity, quality assurance, and 
the implementation of best healthcare practices 
throughout its correctional, detention, and 
residential treatment facilities. This important 
consolidation will also maximize the utilization of 
The GEO Group’s uniquely diversified resources 
and will better position GEO Care to compete 
for new business opportunities across the United 
States.
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2 0 0 8  F i n a n c i a l  H i g h l i g h t s

(In thousands, except per share data)

Total Revenues

Income before taxes, equity in earnings
of affiliates, discontinued operations 
and minority interest

Net Income

Diluted Earnings per Share

Total Assets

Shareholders’ Equity

Diluted Weighted Average Common
Shares Outstanding

2008

 $1,043,006 
 

$91,239 
 

$58,902 
 

$1.14 
 

$1,288,621 
 

$578,496 

51,830 

2007

 $976,299 
 

$58,628 
 

$41,845 
 

$0.85 
 

$1,192,634 
 

$527,705 
 

49,192 

2006

 $818,439 
 

$41,764 
 

$30,031 
 

$0.84 
 

$743,453 
 

$248,610 
 

35,744 

Comparison of Investing $100 in The GEO 
Group, Inc., Wilshire 5000 Equity, and S&P 500 
Commercial Services and Supplies Indexes 
(Five-Year Performance through December 31, 
2008)

COmPARISON OF FIvE-YEAR 
CumulATIvE TOTAl RETuRN

The GEO Group, Inc. Wilshire 5000 Equity S&P 500 Commercial Services & Supplies

Date

Dec-03

Dec-04

Dec-05

Dec-06

Dec-07

Dec-08

The GEO 
Group, Inc.

$100.00

$116.58

$100.57

$246.84

$368.42

$237.24

Wilshire
5000
Equity

$100.00

$112.49

$119.66

$138.53

$146.31

$ 91.84

S&P 500
Commercial

Services & 
Supplies

$100.00

$108.30

$109.35

$126.30

$122.02

$ 95.15

$400

 

$300

 

$200

  

$100

 

0
2003    2004        2005        2006         2007          2008

Item 5.  Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters 
and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Our common stock trades on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “GEO.” The following table shows the 
high and low prices for our common stock, as reported by the New York Stock Exchange, for each of the four quarters 
of fiscal years 2008 and 2007 and reflects the effect of the June 1, 2007 stock split. The prices shown have been rounded 
to the nearest $1/100. The approximate number of shareholders of record as of February 13, 2009 is 119, which includes 
shares held in street name.
 
      
      
      
    
    
      

We did not pay any cash dividends on our common stock for fiscal years 2008 and 2007. We intend to retain our earnings 
to finance the growth and development of our business and do not anticipate paying cash dividends on our capital stock 
in the foreseeable future. Future dividends, if any, will depend, on our future earnings, our capital requirements, our 
financial condition and on such other factors as our Board of Directors may take into consideration. In addition to these 
factors, the indenture governing our $150.0 million 8 1 / 4 % senior notes due in 2013, and our Senior Credit Facility also 
place material restrictions on our ability to pay dividends. See “Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis, Cash 
Flow and Liquidity” and “Item 8. Financial Statements — Note 11-Debt” for further description of these restrictions.
 
We did not buy back any of our common stock during 2008 or 2007. On May 1, 2007, our Board of Directors declared a 
two-for-one stock split of our common stock. The stock split took effect on June 1, 2007 with respect to stockholders of 
record on May 15, 2007. Following the stock split, our shares outstanding increased from 25.4 million to 50.8 million. 
All per share amounts have been retro-actively restated to reflect the 2-for-1 stock split.
 

Equity Compensation Plan Information 
The following table sets forth information about our common stock that may be issued upon the exercise of options, 
warrants and rights under all of our equity compensation plans as of December 28, 2008, including our 1994 Second 
Stock Option Plan, our 1999 Stock Option Plan, our 2006 Stock Incentive Plan and our 1995 Non-Employee Director 
Stock Option Plan. Our shareholders have approved all of these plans.

Quarter

First

Second

Third

Fourth

High

28.71

29.48

26.96

21.62

Low

22.01

22.10

18.00

12.65

High

25.00

29.29

32.21

31.63

Low

18.73

23.08

26.55

23.10

2008 2007

$ $ $ $

Weighted-Average Exercise 
Price of Outstanding 

Options,

Warrants and Rights

         $ 8.03

         $ 8.03

Plan Category

Equity Compensation 
plans approved by sec-
urity holders

Equity compensation 
plans not approved by 
security holders

Total

Number of Securities to be 
Issued Upon Exercise 

of Outstanding Options,

Warrants and Rights

2,808,074  

2,808,074

(a) (b) (c)

Number of Securities 
Remaining Available for 
Future Issuance Under 
Equity Compensation 

Plans (Excluding Securities 

Reflected in

Column (a)

58,157

58,157

PART II

The GEO Group, Inc.

2008 FINANCIALS  |  1



2  |  2008 FINANCIALS

The GEO Group, Inc.

2008 FINANCIALS  |  3

The GEO Group, Inc.

Item 6.  Selected Financial Data

The selected consolidated financial data should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and 
the notes to the consolidated financial statements (in thousands, except per share data).

(1) Our fiscal year ends on the Sunday closest to the calendar year end. The fiscal year ended January 2, 2005 contained 53 
weeks. Discontinued Operations have been included with Selected Financial Data. Information related to Discontinued 
Operations is listed in “Item 8. Financial Statements — Note 3 Discontinued Operations.”
     
(2) Current assets and current liabilities include activities of discontinued operations
     
(3) Compensated resident days are calculated as follows: (a) for per diem rate facilities — the number of beds occupied 
by residents on a daily basis during the fiscal year; and (b) for fixed rate facilities — the design capacity of the facility 
multiplied by the number of days the facility was in operation during the fiscal year.

Performance Graph
The following performance graph compares the performance of our common stock to the New York Stock Exchange 
Composite Index and to an index of peer companies we selected, and is provided in accordance with Item 201(e) of 
Regulation S-K.
 
Comparison of Five-Year Cumulative Total Return*
The GEO Group, Inc., Wilshire 500 Equity, and  S&P 500 Commercial Services and Supplies Indexes
(Performance through December 28, 2008)
 
 
 
                              

 
    
    
    
    
  

Assumes $100 invested on December 31, 2003 in The GEO Group, Inc. common stock and the Index companies.
* Total return assumes reinvestment of dividends.
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December 31, 2003

December 31, 2004

December 31, 2005

December 31, 2006

December 31, 2007

December 31, 2008

The GEO 

Group, Inc.

$  100.00

$  116.58

$  100.57

$  246.84

$  368.42

$  237.24

Wilshire 5000 

Equity

$  100.00

$  112.49

$  119.66

$  138.53

$  146.31

$   91.84

S & P 500 

Commercial 

Services & 

Supplies

$  100.00

$  108.30

$  109.35

$  126.30

$  122.02

$   95.15

Fiscal Year Ended:(1)

Results of Continuing 

Opperations:

Revenues

Operating income from 

continuing operations

Income from continuing 

operations

Income from continuing 

operations per common 

share:

Basic:

Diluted:

Weighted Average Shares 

outstanding:

Basic

Diluted

Financial Condition(2):

Current assets

Current liabilities

Total assets

Long-term debt, including 

current portion (excluding 

non-recourse debt and 

capital leases)

Shareholders’ equity

Operational Data

Contracts/awards

Facilities in operation

Design capacity of 

contracts

Compensated mandays(3)

2008

1,043,006

114,396

61,453

1.22

1.19

50,539

51,830

281,920

185,926

1,288,621

382,126

578,496
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61,608
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$ 100.0%

11.0%

5.9%$

$

$

$

$
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$
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69
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$ 100.0%
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$

$

$

$

2005

580,440

6,787

5,183

0.18

0.17

28,740

30,030

229,292

136,519

639,511

220,004

108,594

56

54

46,177

11,916,381

$ 100.0%

1.2%

0.9%$

$

$

$

$

2004

565,508

37,896

16,501

0.59

0.56
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480,326
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Introduction 
The following discussion and analysis provides information which management believes is relevant to an assessment 
and understanding of our consolidated results of operations and financial condition. This discussion contains forward-
looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual results may differ materially from those anticipated 
in these forward-looking statements as a result of numerous factors including, but not limited to, those described above 
under “Item 1A. Risk Factors,” and “Forward-Looking Statements — Safe Harbor” below. The discussion should be 
read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto.

We are a leading provider of government-outsourced services specializing in the management of correctional, detention 
and mental health and residential treatment facilities in the United States, Australia, South Africa, the United Kingdom 
and Canada. We operate a broad range of correctional and detention facilities including maximum, medium and minimum 
security prisons, immigration detention centers, minimum security detention centers and mental health and residential 
treatment facilities. Our correctional and detention management services involve the provision of security, administrative, 
rehabilitation, education, health and food services, primarily at adult male correctional and detention facilities. Our 
mental health and residential treatment services involve the delivery of quality care, innovative programming and active 
patient treatment, primarily at privatized state mental health facilities. We also develop new facilities based on contract 
awards, using our project development expertise and experience to design facilities, construct and finance what we 
believe are state-of-the-art facilities that maximize security and efficiency.
 
As of the fiscal year ended December 28, 2008, we managed 59 facilities totaling approximately 53,400 beds worldwide 
and had an additional 3,586 beds under development at seven facilities, including the expansion and renovation of one 
facility which we own and the expansions of six facilities we currently operate. For the fiscal year ended December 28, 
2008, we had consolidated revenues of $1.04 billion and we maintained an average company wide facility occupancy 
rate of 96.6%.
 
Fiscal year 2008
Facility Activations
The following table shows new projects that were activated during the fiscal year 2008:
 

Fiscal year 2007 Developments
Acquisition of CentraCore Properties Trust
 
On January 24, 2007, we completed the acquisition of CentraCore Properties Trust (“CPT”). We paid an aggregate 
purchase price of approximately $421.6 million for the acquisition of CPT, inclusive of the payment of approximately 
$368.3 million in exchange for the common stock and the options, the repayment of approximately $40.0 million in 
CPT debt and the payment of approximately $13.3 million in transaction related fees and expenses. We financed the 
acquisition through the use of $365.0 million in new borrowings under a new Term Loan B and approximately $65.7 
million in cash on hand. We deferred debt issuance costs of $9.1 million related to the new $365.0 million term loan. 

These costs are being amortized over the life of the term loan. As a result of the acquisition we no longer have ongoing 
lease expense related to the properties we previously leased from CPT. However, we have had an increase in depreciation 
expense reflecting our ownership of the properties and also have higher interest expense as a result of borrowings used 
to fund the acquisition.
 
Public Offering 
On March 23, 2007, we sold in a follow-on public equity offering 5,462,500 shares of our common stock at a price 
of $43.99 per share, (10,925,000 shares of our common stock at a price of $22.00 per share reflecting the two-for-one 
stock split). All shares were issued from treasury. The aggregate net proceeds to us from the offering (after deducting 
underwriter’s discounts and expenses of $12.8 million) were $227.5 million. On March 26, 2007, we utilized $200.0 
million of the net proceeds from the offering to repay outstanding debt under the Term Loan B portion of the Senior 
Credit Facility. We used a portion of the proceeds from the offering for general corporate purposes, which included 
working capital, capital expenditures and other assets.
 
Critical Accounting Policies 
We believe that the accounting policies described below are critical to understanding our business, results of operations 
and financial condition because they involve the more significant judgments and estimates used in the preparation of 
our consolidated financial statements. We have discussed the development, selection and application of our critical 
accounting policies with the audit committee of our Board of Directors, and our audit committee has reviewed our 
disclosure relating to our critical accounting policies in this “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial 
Condition and Results of Operations.”
 
Our consolidated financial statements are prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in 
the United States. As such, we are required to make certain estimates, judgments and assumptions that we believe are 
reasonable based upon the information available. These estimates and assumptions affect the reported amounts of assets 
and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the 
reporting period. We routinely evaluate our estimates based on historical experience and on various other assumptions 
that our management believes are reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ from these estimates 
under different assumptions or conditions. If actual results significantly differ from our estimates, our financial condition 
and results of operations could be materially impacted.
 
Other significant accounting policies, primarily those with lower levels of uncertainty than those discussed below, are also 
critical to understanding our consolidated financial statements. The notes to our consolidated financial statements contain 
additional information related to our accounting policies and should be read in conjunction with this discussion.
 
Revenue Recognition 
We recognize revenue in accordance with Staff Accounting Bulletin, or SAB, No. 101, “Revenue Recognition in 
Financial Statements”, as amended by SAB No. 104, “Revenue Recognition”, and related interpretations. Facility 
management revenues are recognized as services are provided under facility management contracts with approved 
government appropriations based on a net rate per day per inmate or on a fixed monthly rate. Certain of our contracts 
have provisions upon which a portion of the revenue is based on our performance of certain targets, as defined in the 
specific contract. In these cases, we recognize revenue when the amounts are fixed and determinable and the time period 
over which the conditions have been satisfied has lapsed. In many instances, we are a party to more than one contract 
with a single entity. In these instances, each contract is accounted for separately.
 
Project development and design revenues are recognized as earned on a percentage of completion basis measured by the 
percentage of costs incurred to date as compared to estimated total cost for each contract. This method is used because we 
consider costs incurred to date to be the best available measure of progress on these contracts. Provisions for estimated 
losses on uncompleted contracts and changes to cost estimates are made in the period in which we determine that such 
losses and changes are probable. Typically, we enter into fixed price contracts and do not perform additional work unless 
approved change orders are in place. Costs attributable to unapproved change orders are expensed in the period in which 
the costs are incurred if we believe that it is not probable that the costs will be recovered through a change in the contract 

Facility

Robert A. Deyton Detention Facility

Central Arizona Correctional Facility

LaSalle Detention Facility

Joe Corley Detention Facility

Northeast New Mexico Detention Facility

Rio Grande Detention Center

Maverick County Detention Facility

East Mississippi Correctional Facility

Location

Lovejoy, GA

Florence, AZ

Jena, LA

Conroe, TX

Clayton, NM

Laredo, TX

Maverick, TX

Meridian, MS

Activation

New contract

200-bed Expansion

744-bed Expansion

New contract

New contract

New contract

New contract

500-bed Expansion

Beds

576

1,200

1,160

1,100

625

1,500

688

1,500

Start date

First Quarter 2008

First Quarter 2008

Second Quarter 2008

Third Quarter 2008

Third Quarter 2008

Fourth Quarter 2008

Fourth Quarter 2008

Fourth Quarter 2008
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price. If we believe that it is probable that the costs will be recovered through a change in the contract price, costs related 
to unapproved change orders are expensed in the period in which they are incurred, and contract revenue is recognized to 
the extent of the cost incurred. Revenue in excess of the costs attributable to unapproved change orders is not recognized 
until the change order is approved. Contract costs include all direct material and labor costs and those indirect costs 
related to contract performance. Changes in job performance, job conditions, and estimated profitability, including those 
arising from contract penalty provisions, and final contract settlements, may result in revisions to estimated costs and 
income, and are recognized in the period in which the revisions are determined.
 
When evaluating multiple element arrangements, we follow the provisions of Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) Issue 
00-21, Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables (EITF 00-21). EITF 00-21 provides guidance on determining if 
separate contracts should be evaluated as a single arrangement and if an arrangement involves a single unit of accounting 
or separate units of accounting and if the arrangement is determined to have separate units, how to allocate amounts 
received in the arrangement for revenue recognition purposes. In instances where we provide project development 
services and subsequent management services, the amount of the consideration from an arrangement is allocated to the 
delivered element based on the residual method and the elements are recognized as revenue when revenue recognition 
criteria for each element is met. The fair value of the undelivered elements of an arrangement is based on specific 
objective evidence.
 
We extend credit to the governmental agencies we contract with and other parties in the normal course of business 
as a result of billing and receiving payment for services thirty to sixty days in arrears. Further, we regularly review 
outstanding receivables, and provide estimated losses through an allowance for doubtful accounts. In evaluating the 
level of established loss reserves, we make judgments regarding our customers’ ability to make required payments, 
economic events and other factors. As the financial condition of these parties change, circumstances develop or additional 
information becomes available, adjustments to the allowance for doubtful accounts may be required. We also perform 
ongoing credit evaluations of our customers’ financial condition and generally do not require collateral. We maintain 
reserves for potential credit losses, and such losses traditionally have been within our expectations.
 
Reserves for Insurance Losses 
The nature of our business exposes us to various types of third-party legal claims, including, but not limited to, 
civil rights claims relating to conditions of confinement and/or mistreatment, sexual misconduct claims brought by 
prisoners or detainees, medical malpractice claims, claims relating to employment matters (including, but not limited 
to, employment discrimination claims, union grievances and wage and hour claims), property loss claims, environmental 
claims, automobile liability claims, contractual claims and claims for personal injury or other damages resulting from 
contact with our facilities, programs, personnel or prisoners, including damages arising from a prisoner’s escape or 
from a disturbance or riot at a facility. In addition, our management contracts generally require us to indemnify the 
governmental agency against any damages to which the governmental agency may be subject in connection with such 
claims or litigation. We maintain insurance coverage for these general types of claims, except for claims relating to 
employment matters, for which we carry no insurance.
 
We currently maintain a general liability policy and excess liability coverage policy for all U.S. corrections operations 
with limits of $62.0 million per occurrence and in the aggregate, including a specific loss limit for medical professional 
liability of $35.0 million. Our wholly owned subsidiary, GEO Care, Inc., is separately insured for general liability and 
medical professional liability with a specific loss limit of $35.0 million per occurrence and in the aggregate. We also 
maintain insurance to cover property and other casualty risks including, workers’ compensation, medical malpractice, 
environmental liability and automobile liability. For most casualty insurance policies, we carry substantial deductibles 
or self-insured retentions — $3.0 million per occurrence for general liability and hospital professional liability, $2.0 
million per occurrence for workers’ compensation and $1.0 million per occurrence for automobile liability. Our Australian 
subsidiary is required to carry tail insurance on a general liability policy providing an extended reporting period through 
2011 related to a discontinued contract. We also carry various types of insurance with respect to its operations in South 
Africa, United Kingdom and Australia. There can be no assurance that the our insurance coverage will be adequate to 
cover all claims to which we may be exposed.
 

In addition, certain of our facilities located in Florida and determined by insurers to be in high-risk hurricane areas carry 
substantial windstorm deductibles. Since hurricanes are considered unpredictable future events, no reserves have been 
established to pre-fund for potential windstorm damage. Limited commercial availability of certain types of insurance 
relating to windstorm exposure in coastal areas and earthquake exposure mainly in California may prevent us from 
insuring some of our facilities to full replacement value.
 
Since our insurance policies generally have high deductible amounts, losses are recorded when reported and a further 
provision is made to cover losses incurred but not reported. Loss reserves are undiscounted and are computed based 
on independent actuarial studies. Because we are significantly self-insured, the amount of our insurance expense is 
dependent on our claims experience and our ability to control our claims experience. If actual losses related to insurance 
claims significantly differ from our estimates, our financial condition and results of operations could be materially 
impacted.
 
Income Taxes 
We account for income taxes in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No. 109, or FAS 109,  
Accounting for Income Taxes , as clarified by FASB Interpretation No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income 
Taxes  (“FIN 48”). Under this method, deferred income taxes are determined based on the estimated future tax effects 
of differences between the financial statement and tax basis of assets and liabilities given the provisions of enacted tax 
laws. Deferred income tax provisions and benefits are based on changes to the assets or liabilities from year to year. In 
providing for deferred taxes, we consider tax regulations of the jurisdictions in which we operate, estimates of future 
taxable income, and available tax planning strategies. If tax regulations, operating results or the ability to implement 
tax-planning strategies vary, adjustments to the carrying value of deferred tax assets and liabilities may be required. 
Valuation allowances are recorded related to deferred tax assets based on the “more likely than not” criteria of FAS No. 
109.
 
FIN 48 requires that we recognize the financial statement benefit of a tax position only after determining that the 
relevant tax authority would more likely than not sustain the position following an audit. For tax positions meeting 
the “more-likely-than-not” threshold, the amount recognized in the financial statements is the largest benefit that has 
a greater than 50 percent likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settlement with the relevant tax authority. The 
recognized tax benefit could change in the future as statute of limitations expire, tax authorities ultimately settle on an 
item, or if new items are identified.
 
Property and Equipment 
As of December 28, 2008, we had $878.6 million in long-lived property and equipment held for use. Property and 
equipment are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method 
over the estimated useful lives of the related assets. Buildings and improvements are depreciated over 2 to 40 years. 
Equipment and furniture and fixtures are depreciated over 3 to 10 years. Accelerated methods of depreciation are 
generally used for income tax purposes. Leasehold improvements are amortized on a straight-line basis over the shorter 
of the useful life of the improvement or the term of the lease. We perform ongoing evaluations of the estimated useful 
lives of our property and equipment for depreciation purposes. The estimated useful lives are determined and continually 
evaluated based on the period over which services are expected to be rendered by the asset. Maintenance and repairs are 
expensed as incurred. Interest is capitalized in connection with the construction of correctional and detention facilities. 
Capitalized interest is recorded as part of the asset to which it relates and is amortized over the asset’s estimated useful 
life.
 
We review long-lived assets to be held and used for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate 
that the carrying amount of such assets may not be fully recoverable in accordance with FAS 144 “Accounting for the 
Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets”. Determination of recoverability is based on an estimate of undiscounted 
future cash flows resulting from the use of the asset and its eventual disposition. Measurement of an impairment loss for 
long-lived assets that management expects to hold and use is based on the fair value of the asset. Long-lived assets to 
be disposed of are reported at the lower of carrying amount or fair value less costs to sell. Events that would trigger an 
impairment assessment include deterioration of profits for a business segment that has long-lived assets, or when other 
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changes occur which might impair recovery of long-lived assets. In 2008, we announced the termination of our contracts 
with Delaware County, Pennsylvania for the management of the county-owned George W. Hill Correctional Facility and 
the State of Idaho for the housing of inmates at the Bill Clayton Correctional Center. We also announced the closure of 
our transportation division in the United Kingdom, Recruitment Services International as well as the termination of our 
contract to manage the Tri-County Justice and Detention Center. There were no significant impairments of long-lived 
assets accounted for under FAS 144 relative to these contract terminations. Management has reviewed its long-lived 
assets and determined that there are no events requiring impairment loss recognition for the period ended December 28, 
2008.
 
Stock-Based Compensation Expense 
We account for stock-based compensation in accordance with the provisions of FAS 123R, “Shared-Based Payment”. 
Under the fair value recognition provisions of FAS 123R, stock-based compensation cost is estimated at the grant date 
based on the fair value of the award and is recognized as expense ratably over the requisite service period of the award. 
Determining the appropriate fair value model and calculating the fair value of the stock-based awards, which includes 
estimates of stock price volatility, forfeiture rates and expected lives, requires judgment that could materially impact 
our operating results.
 
Recent Accounting Pronouncements 
See Note 1 of the Consolidated Financial Statements for a description of certain other recent accounting pronouncements 
including the expected dates of adoption and effects on our results of operations and financial condition.
 
Results of Operations 
The following discussion should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and the notes to the 
consolidated financial statements accompanying this report. This discussion contains forward-looking statements that 
involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual results may differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking 
statements as a result of certain factors, including, but not limited to, those described under “Item 1A. Risk Factors” and 
those included in other portions of this report.
 
The discussion of our results of operations below excludes the results of our discontinued operations for all periods 
presented.
 
For the purposes of the discussion below, “2008” means the 52 week fiscal year ended December 28, 2008, “2007” 
means the 52 week fiscal year ended December 30, 2007, and “2006” means the 52 week fiscal year ended December 
31, 2006. Our fiscal quarters in the 52-week fiscal years discussed below are referred to as “First Quarter,” “Second 
Quarter,” “Third Quarter” and “Fourth Quarter.”
 
2008 versus 2007
 
Revenues
 

                              
                               
                   

U.S. corrections 
The increase in revenues for U.S. corrections in 2008 compared to 2007 is primarily attributable to new facility 
openings, capacity increases at existing facilities and full year operations relative to recent openings and expansions 
from 2007. The most significant increases to revenue were as follows: (i) revenues increased $56.2 million in total due 
to the opening or expansion of seven facilities in 2008 which include activations at the Robert A. Deyton Detention 
Facility, Rio Grande Detention Facility, Joe Corley Detention Facility and the Northeast New Mexico Detention Facility 
and expansions of the LaSalle Detention Facility, Central Arizona Correctional Facility and at the East Mississippi 
Correctional Facility; (ii) revenues increased $28.8 million in 2008 due to increases at our California facilities, South 
Texas Detention Center, New Castle Correctional Facility and at the Northwest Detention Facility related to contract 
modifications and enhanced services; (iii) revenues increased by $21.6 million due to the full year operation of 2007 
activations and expansions that occurred at the Graceville Correctional Facility, Val Verde Correctional Facility and the 
Moore Haven Correctional Facility. These and other increases were offset by decreases in revenues of $34.8 million due 
to the termination of our management contracts at Taft Correctional Institution, Coke County Juvenile Justice Center 
and Dickens County Correctional Center.
 
The number of compensated mandays in U.S. corrections facilities increased by approximately 807,000 to 14.7 million 
mandays in 2008 from 13.8 million mandays in 2007 due to the addition of new facilities and capacity increases. We 
look at the average occupancy in our facilities to determine how we are managing our available beds. The average 
occupancy is calculated by taking compensated mandays as a percentage of capacity. The average occupancy in our 
U.S. correction and detention facilities was 96.0% of capacity in 2008, excluding the terminated contracts for the Coke 
County Juvenile Justice Center, the Dickens County Correctional Center, and the Taft Correctional Institution. The 
average occupancy in our U.S. correction and detention facilities was 96.3% in 2007, excluding our new contracts at 
the Joe Corley Detention Facility, Rio Grande Detention Center, Robert A. Deyton Detention Facility and the Maverick 
County Detention Facility.
 
International services 
Revenues for our International services segment during fiscal year 2008 increased by $4.8 million over fiscal year 2007 
due to increases in contractual rates at some of our facilities in Australia and also in South Africa. We also experienced a 
favorable increase in revenues of $1.9 million over the prior year due to the overall strengthening of the Australian dollar 
during fiscal year 2008. This favorable variance was offset during fiscal year 2008 by a decrease in revenues of $2.9 
million related to the expansion in 2007 of the Campsfield House Immigration Removal Centre which was completed 
in September 2008. We also experienced a decrease in revenues in fiscal year 2008 compared to fiscal year 2007 due to 
unfavorable foreign exchange currency fluctuations in the South African Rand and the British Pound which resulted in 
a combined decrease of $3.2 million.
 
GEO Care 
The increase in revenues for GEO Care in 2008 compared to 2007 is primarily attributable to two items: (i) the Treasure 
Coast Forensic Center in Stuart, Florida which commenced operation in March 2007, increased revenues by $7.5 million; 
and (ii) the Florida Civil Commitment Center in Arcadia, Florida contributed an increase of $2.6 million both due to 
increases in population. This favorable increase was partially offset by $2.4 million due to the loss of the contract with 
the SFETC Annex.
 
Facility Construction and Design 
The decrease in revenues from construction activities is primarily attributable to the completion of construction at two 
facilities: (i) the South Florida Evaluation and Treatment Center in Miami, Florida, which was completed in Second 
Quarter 2008, decreased revenues by $19.3 million; and (ii) the Northeast New Mexico Detention Facility in Clayton, 
New Mexico which was completed in Third Quarter 2008 and decreased revenues by $25.6 million. These decreases over 
the same period in the prior year were offset by increases in construction revenue for the expansion of the Graceville 
Correctional Facility in Graceville, Florida which commenced in First Quarter 2008 and increased revenues by $4.0 
million and the construction of the Florida Civil Commitment Center in Arcadia, Florida which increased revenues by 
$22.1 million.
 

U.S. corrections

International services

GEO Care

Facility construction and design

Total

2008

711,038

128,672

117,399

85,897

1,043,006

% of Revenue

68.2%

12.3%

11.3%

8.2%

100.0%

2007

629,339

127,991

110,165

108,804

976,299

% of Revenue

64.5%

13.1%

11.3%

11.1%

100%

$ Change

81,699

681

7,234

(22,907)

66,707

% Change

13.0%

0.5%

6.6%

(21.1%)

6.8%

$

$

$

$

$

$

(Dollars in thousands)
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Operating Expenses
 

Operating expenses consist of those expenses incurred in the operation and management of our correctional, detention 
and mental health and GEO Care facilities and expenses incurred in our Facility construction and design segment.
 
U.S. corrections 
The increase U.S. corrections operating expenses in 2008 compared to 2007 is primarily attributable to new facility 
openings, capacity increases at existing facilities and the normalization of openings and expansions from 2007. The 
most significant increases to operating expenses were as follows: (i) operating expenses increased $43.3 million in 
total due to the opening or expansion of seven facilities in 2008 which include activations at the Robert A. Deyton 
Detention Facility, Rio Grande Detention Facility, Joe Corley Detention Facility and the Northeast New Mexico 
Detention Facility and expansions of the LaSalle Detention Facility, Central Arizona Correctional Facility and at the 
East Mississippi Correctional Facility; (ii) operating expenses increased $19.2 million in 2008 due to increases at our 
California facilities, South Texas Detention Center, New Castle Correctional Facility and at the Northwest Detention 
Facility related to contract modifications and enhanced services; (iii) operating expenses increased by $17.9 million due 
to the normalization of 2007 activations and expansions that occurred at the Graceville Correctional Facility, Val Verde 
Correctional Facility and the Moore Haven Correctional Facility. (iv) operating expenses increased by $3.6 million for 
the year ended December 28, 2008 due to changes in general liability and workers compensation reserves. The remaining 
increase in operating expenses is the result of increases in wages and employee benefits as well as general increases 
in operating costs. These increases were partially offset by decreases of $31.0 million related to the termination of 
our management contracts at Coke County Juvenile Justice Center, Taft Correctional Institution and Dickens County 
Correctional Center which were terminated prior to fiscal 2008. Beginning 2008, we changed our vacation policy for 
certain employees allowing these employees to use their vacation regardless of their service period but within the fiscal 
year. The 2008 change in our vacation policy resulted in a $3.7 million decrease in vacation expense in the fiscal year 
ended 2008 compared to the fiscal year ended 2007.
 
International services 
Operating expenses for international services facilities remained consistent as a percentage of segment revenues in 
2008 compared to 2007. On December 22, 2008, we announced the closure of our U.K.-based transportation division, 
Recruitment Solutions International (“RSI”). We purchased RSI, which provided transportation services to The Home 
Office Nationality and Immigration Directorate, for $2.3 million, including transaction costs, in 2006. The operating 
loss of this business are reported as discontinued operations and is not presented in the segment information above.

GEO Care 
Operating expenses for residential treatment increased approximately $4.6 million in 2008 as compared to 2007 
primarily attributable to increased population at the Treasure Coast Forensic Center and Florida Civil Commitment 
Center as mentioned above. This positive variance was offset by a decrease due to the closure of our 100-bed South 
Florida Evaluation and Treatment Center Annex which was effective July 31, 2008. Overall, expenses as a percentage 
of revenue partly decreased as a result of a decrease in startup costs which were $0.6 million in 2008 compared to $1.9 
million in 2007.
 

Facility Construction and Design 
Operating expenses for facility construction and design decreased $23.5 million during fiscal year 2008 compared 
to fiscal year 2007 primarily due to a decrease in costs associated with our facilities under construction as a result of 
reduced activity as discussed above.
 

Depreciation and amortization
                              

Depreciation and Amortization
US Corrections 
The increase in depreciation and amortization for U.S. corrections in 2008 compared to 2007 is primarily attributable 
to the following items: (i) depreciation increased $0.9 million due to the reactivation and expansion of the LaSalle 
Detention Facility discussed above, (ii) depreciation increased $0.7 million related to the opening of the Rio Grande 
Detention Center discussed above and, (iii) depreciation increased $0.8 million due to the expansion of the Val Verde 
Correctional Facility discussed above.
 
International Services 
Depreciation and amortization as a percentage of segment revenue in 2008 was consistent with 2007.
 
GEO Care 
The increase in depreciation and amortization for GEO Care in 2008 compared to 2007 is primarily due to the Treasure 
Coast Forensic Treatment Center expansion in September 2007.
 
Other Unallocated Operating Expenses
 General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses comprise substantially all of our other unallocated expenses. General and 
administrative expenses consist primarily of corporate management salaries and benefits, professional fees and other 
administrative expenses. General and administrative expenses increased by $4.7 million in the fiscal year ended 
December 28, 2008 as compared to the fiscal year ended December 30, 2007, and remained consistent as a percentage 
of revenues. The increase in general and administrative costs is mainly due to increases in corporate travel and increases 
in direct labor costs as a result of increased wages and related increases in employee benefits.
 

U.S. corrections

International services

GEO Care

Facility construction and design

Total

2008

516,963

116,379

103,140

85,571 

822,053

% of Segment 

Revenue

72.7%

90.4%

87.9%

99.6%

78.8%

2007

464,617

115,618

98,557

 109,070

787,862

% of Segment 

Revenue

73.8%

90.3%

89.5%

  100.2%

80.7%

$ Change

52,346

761

4,583 

(23,499)

34,191

% Change

11.3%

0.7%

4.7%

(21.5)% 

4.3%

$

$

$

$

$

$

(Dollars in thousands)

U.S. corrections

International services

GEO Care

Facility construction and design

Total

2008

34,010

1,556

1,840

 

37,406

% of Segment 

Revenue

4.8%

1.2%

1.6%

 

3.6%

2007

30,401

1,351

1,466

 

33,218

% of Segment 

Revenue

4.8%

1.1%

1.3%

  

3.4%

$ Change

3,609

205

374

 

4,188

% Change

11.9%

15.2%

25.5%

 

12.6%

$

$

$

$

$

$

(Dollars in thousands)

General & Administrative 
Expenses

2008

69,151

% of Revenue

6.6%

2007

64,492

% of Revenue

6.6%

$ Change

4,659

% Change

7.2%$ $ $
(Dollars in thousands)
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Non Operating Expenses
Interest Income and Interest Expense

The decrease in interest income in 2008 compared to 2007 is primarily attributable to the decrease in interest rates for 
the period as well as the decrease in cash in 2008 as compared to 2007. In First Quarter 2009, one of the lenders elected 
to prepay its interest rate swap obligation to us at the call option price which approximated the fair value of the interest 
rate swap on the call dates. We expect our interest expense to increase in fiscal 2009 of approximately one million 
dollars as a result of the termination of this swap agreement.
 
The decrease in interest expense is primarily attributable to a significant decrease in LIBOR rates. We also experienced 
an increase in the amount of interest capitalized in connection with the construction of our correctional and detention 
facilities. Capitalized interest is recorded as part of the asset to which it relates and is amortized over the asset’s 
estimated useful life. During fiscal years ended 2008 and 2007, we capitalized $4.3 million and $2.9 million of interest 
expense, respectively. This was partially offset by an increase in debt in 2008 as compared to 2007.
 

Provision for Income Taxes

 
The effective tax rate during 2008 was 37.3% as a result of one-time state tax benefits of $1.6 million. We expect our 
tax rate in the future to increase to 38.7% as these benefits are non-recurring in nature.
 

Minority Interest

Our minority interest expense is related to the non-controlling interest in our consolidated joint venture in South Africa. 
On October 29, 2008, we, along with one other joint venture partner, executed a Sale of Shares Agreement for the 
purchase of a portion of the remaining non-controlling shares of our consolidated South African Custodial Management 
Services Pty. Limited (“SACM”) which changed our profit sharing percentage from 76.25% to 88.75%. All of the non-
controlling shares of the third joint venture partner were allocated between us and the second joint venture partner on 
a pro rata basis based on our respective ownership percentages. As a result of the purchase we recognized $1.9 million 
in amortizable intangible assets. See Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. This decrease in the minority 
interest share was partially offset by an increase in overall earnings of the joint venture.
 

Equity in Earnings of Affiliate 

Equity in earnings of affiliates represent the earnings of SACS in 2008 and 2007 and reflect contractual increases 
partially offset by unfavorable foreign currency translation. These results also include the impact of a one-time tax 
benefit of $1.9 million.
 

2007 versus 2006
Revenues
 

 
U.S. corrections 
The increase in revenues for U.S. corrections in 2007 compared to 2006 is primarily attributable to six items: (i) 
revenues increased $21.3 million in 2007 due to the completion of the Central Arizona Correctional Facility at the end of 
2006 in Florence, Arizona; (ii) revenues increased $16.9 million in 2007 as a result of the capacity increase in September 
2006 in our Lawton Correctional Facility located at Lawton, Oklahoma; (iii) revenues increased $5.3 million and $5.0 
million in 2007, respectively, as a result of the capacity increases in August 2006 in our South Texas Detention Complex 
and in December 2006 in our Northwest Detention Center, located at Tacoma, Washington; (iv) revenues increased $6.6 
million due to the commencement of our contract with the Arizona Department of Corrections (“ADC”) located in New 
Castle, Indiana in March 2007; (v) revenues increased by $5.4 million due to the opening of our Graceville Correctional 
Facility in September 2007; and (vi) revenues increased due to contractual adjustments for inflation, and improved terms 
negotiated into a number of contracts.
 
The number of compensated mandays in U.S. corrections facilities increased to 13.8 million in 2007 from 12.7 million 
in 2006 due to the addition of new facilities and capacity increases. We look at the average occupancy in our facilities 
to determine how we are managing our available beds. The average occupancy is calculated by taking compensated 
mandays as a percentage of capacity. The average occupancy in our U.S. correction and detention facilities was 96.3% 
of capacity in 2007 compared to 97.0% in 2006, excluding our vacant North Lake Correctional Facility in Baldwin, 
Michigan, referred to as the “Michigan” facility in 2007 and 2006 and our vacant LaSalle Detention Facility in 2006 
(reactivated June 2007).
 
International services 
The increase in revenues for International services facilities in 2007 compared to 2006 was primarily due to the 
following items: (i) South African revenues increased by approximately $1.3 million due to a contractual adjustment 
for inflation; (ii) Australian revenues increased approximately $15.0 million due to favorable fluctuations in foreign 
currency exchange rates during the period, contractual adjustments for inflation and improved terms and an increase 
of 50 beds at the Junee Correctional Centre; and (iii) United Kingdom revenues increased approximately $10.4 million 
primarily due to the operations at the Campsfield House which began in Second Quarter 2006, a construction project 
which began in Fourth Quarter 2006, and favorable fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates.

Interest Income

Interest Expense

2008

7,045

30,202

% of Revenue

0.7%

2.9%

2007

8,746

36,051

% of Revenue

0.9%

3.7%

$ Change

(1,701)

(5,849)

% Change

(19.4)%

(16.2)%

$

$

$

$

$

$

(Dollars in thousands)

Income Tax Provision

2008

34,033

Effective Rate

37.3%

2007

22,293

Effective Rate

38.0%$ $
(Dollars in thousands)

Minority Interest

2008

(376)

% of Revenue

(0.0)%

2007

(397)

% of Revenue

(0.0)%

$ Change

21

% Change

5.3%$ $ $
(Dollars in thousands)

Equity in Earnings of Affiliate

2008

4,623

% of Revenue

0.4%

2007

2,151

% of Revenue

0.2%

$ Change

2,502

% Change

116.3%$ $ $
(Dollars in thousands)

U.S. corrections

International services

GEO Care

Facility construction and design

Total

2007

629,339

127,991

110,165

108,804

976,299

% of Revenue

64.5%

13.1%

11.3%

11.1%

100.0%

2006

574,126

103,139

67,034

74,140

818,439

% of Revenue

70.1%

12.6%

8.2%

9.1%

100.0%

$ Change

55,213

24,852

43,131

34,664

157,860

% Change

9.6%

24.1%

64.3%

46.8%

19.3%

$

$

$

$

$

$

(Dollars in thousands)
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GEO Care 
The increase in revenues for GEO Care in 2007 compared to 2006 is primarily attributable to three items: (i) the Florida 
Civil Commitment Center in Arcadia, Florida, which commenced in July 2006 and increased revenues by $14.2 million; 
(ii) the Treasure Coast Forensic Treatment Center in Stuart, Florida, which commenced operations in First Quarter 
2007 and increased revenues by $14.7 million and (iii) the South Florida Evaluation and Treatment Center — Annex in 
Miami, Florida which commenced operation in January 2007 and increased revenues by $9.9 million.
 
Facility Construction and Design 
The increase in revenues from construction activities is primarily attributable to four items: (i) the renovation of the 
Treasure Coast Forensic Treatment Center located in Martin County, Florida, in March, 2007 increased revenues by $2.3 
million; (ii) the construction of the Northeast New Mexico Detention Facility located in Clayton County, New Mexico, 
which commenced construction in September 2006 and increased revenues by $36.9 million; (iii) the construction of the 
Florida Civil Commitment Center in Arcadia, Florida increased revenues by $15.7 million and (iv) the construction of 
the new South Florida Evaluation and Treatment Center in Miami, Florida, which commenced construction in November 
2005 and increased revenues by $20.2 million, offset by decreases in construction revenue for the Graceville Correctional 
Facility in Graceville, Florida which commenced construction in February 2006 and for which construction was complete 
in September 2007 and also decreases related to the Moore Haven Correctional Facility in Moore Haven, Florida which 
commenced construction in February 2006 and was completed in May 2007. These two facilities represented $32.0 
million and $10.0 million, respectively, of the decrease.
 

Operating Expenses                      

Operating expenses consist of those expenses incurred in the operation and management of our correctional, detention 
and GEO Care facilities. Expenses also include construction costs which are included in Facility construction and 
design.
 
U.S. corrections 
The increase in U.S. corrections operating expenses reflects the new openings and expansions discussed above as well 
as general increases in labor costs and utilities. Operating expenses as a percentage of revenues decreased in 2007 
compared to 2006 which is partially a reflection of higher margins at certain new facilities. Fiscal year 2007 operating 
expense was reduced $29.3 million as a result of the CPT acquisition and subsequent elimination of our leases and the 
related expense. Also reflected in 2007 operating expenses are the proceeds from the insurance settlement of $2.1 million 
related to the damages in New Castle, Indiana and recognized as an offset to those related expenditures. Operating 
expenses in 2007 were favorably impacted by a $0.9 million overall reduction in our reserves for general liability, 
auto liability, and workers compensation insurance compared to a $4.0 million reduction in 2006. These reductions in 
insurance reserves primarily resulted from our continued improved claims experience. Our savings in the fiscal years 
ended 2007 and 2006 were the result of revised actuarial projections related to loss estimates for the initial five and four 
years, respectively, of our insurance program which was established on October 2, 2002. Prior to October 2, 2002, our 
insurance coverage was provided through an insurance program established by TWC, our former parent company. We 
experienced significant adverse claims development in general liability and workers’ compensation in the late 1990’s. 
Beginning in approximately 1999, we made significant operational changes and began to aggressively manage our risk 
in a proactive manner. These changes have resulted in improved claims experience and loss development, which we are 

realizing in our actuarial projections. As a result of improving loss trends, our independent actuary reduced its expected 
losses for claims arising since October 2, 2002. We adjusted our reserve at October 1, 2007 and October 1, 2006 to 
reflect the actuary’s expected loss. We expect future actuarial projections will result in smaller annual adjustments as 
our improved claims experience represents a more significant component of the historical losses used by our actuary in 
calculating annual loss projections and related reserve requirements.
 
International services 
Operating expenses for International services facilities increased in 2007 compared to 2006 largely as a result of the 
June 2006 commencement of the Campsfield House Immigration and Removal Centre contract in the United Kingdom. 
The operating expenses in the United Kingdom increased by $10.7 million in the fiscal year ended December 28, 2008 
as a result of increases in operations at the Campsfield House Immigration and Removal Centre which began in Second 
Quarter 2006. Australian operating expenses also increased by $13.1 million due to fluctuations in foreign currency 
exchange rates during the period as well as additional staffing and expenses related to contract variations. Margins in 
Australia were consistent with margins for the same period in 2006 while margins in South Africa improved due to 
certain non-recurring costs incurred in the comparable period of the prior year.
 
GEO Care 
Operating expenses for residential treatment increased approximately $37.3 million during 2007 from 2006 primarily 
due to the new contracts discussed above. Operating expenses as a percentage of segment revenues in 2007 increased in 
2007 due to certain expenditures required for newly opened facilities such as employee training costs and professional 
fees.
 
Facility Construction and Design 
Expenses for construction and design increased $34.3 million during 2007 compared to 2006 primarily due to the four 
construction contracts discussed above.
 

Depreciation and amortization

Depreciation and Amortization
 
The increase in depreciation and amortization is attributable to the U.S. corrections segment and is primarily a result of 
the purchase of CPT in January 2007. Also included in depreciation and amortization for the U.S. corrections segment 
is our write-off of $0.4 million for the intangible asset related to our cancellation of the management contract to operate 
the 489-bed Dickens County Correctional Center in July 2007.

Other Unallocated Operating Expenses
General and Administrative Expenses
 

U.S. corrections

International services

GEO Care

Facility construction and design

Total

2007

464,617

115,618

98,557

 109,070

787,862

% of Segment 

Revenue

73.8%

90.3%

89.5%

  100.2%

80.7%

2006

450,187

93,706

61,264

 74,729

679,886

% of Segment 

Revenue

78.4%

90.9%

91.4%

  100.8%

83.1%

$ Change

14,430

21,912

37,293 

34,341

107,976

% Change

3.2%

23.4%

60.9%

46.0% 

15.9%

$

$

$

$

$

$

(Dollars in thousands)

U.S. corrections

International services

GEO Care

Facility construction and design

Total

2007

30,401

1,351

1,466

  

33,218

% of Segment 

Revenue

4.8%

1.1%

1.3%

   

3.4%

2006

20,298

803

581

  

21,682

% of Segment 

Revenue

3.5%

0.8%

0.9%

   

2.6%

$ Change

10,102

548

885 

 

11,535

% Change

49.8%

68.2%

152.3%

  

53.2%

$

$

$

$

$

$

(Dollars in thousands)

General & Administrative 
Expenses

2007

64,492

% of Revenue

6.6%

2006

56,268

% of Revenue

6.9%

$ Change

8,224

%Change

14.6%$ $ $
(Dollars in thousands)
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General and administrative expenses consist primarily of corporate management salaries and benefits, professional fees 
and other administrative expenses. The increase in general and administrative costs is mainly due to increases in direct 
labor costs and increases in rent expense as a result of increased administrative staff and additional leased space.
 

Non Operating Expenses
Interest Income and Interest Expense

 The decrease in interest income is primarily due to lower average invested cash balances.

The increase in interest expense is primarily attributable to the increase in our debt during the period as a result of the 
CPT acquisition.
 
Interest is capitalized in connection with the construction of correctional and detention facilities. Capitalized interest is 
recorded as part of the asset to which it relates and is amortized over the asset’s estimated useful life. During fiscal years 
ended 2007 and 2006, the Company capitalized $2.9 million and $0.2 million of interest expense, respectively.
 
Provision for Income Taxes

 
Income taxes for 2007 and 2006 include certain one time items of $0.4 million and $0.7 million, respectively. Without 
such items, our effective tax rate would have been 38.6% and 38.0%, respectively.
 
Minority Interest

Increase in minority interest reflects increased performance in 2007 due to contractual increases. During 2006, our 
joint venture experienced lower revenues during First Quarter and Second Quarter 2006 related to facility modifications 
which resulted in reduced capacity and related billings.
 

Equity in Earnings of Affiliate
 

Equity in earnings of affiliates in 2007 and 2006 reflects the normal operations of South African Custodial Services Pty. 
Limited (“SACS”). In 2007, the facility was operating at full capacity compared to the prior year average capacity of 
97%. We also experienced contractual increases as well as favorable foreign currency translation.
 

In February 2007, the South African legislature passed legislation that has the effect of removing the exemption from 
taxation on government revenues. As a result of the new legislation, SACS will be subject to South African taxation 
going forward at the applicable tax rate of 29%. The increase in the applicable income tax rate results in an increase 
in net deferred tax liabilities which were calculated at a rate of 0% during the period the government revenues were 
exempt. The effect of the increase in the deferred tax liability of the equity affiliate is a charge to equity in earnings of 
affiliate in the amount of $2.4 million. The law change also has the effect of reducing a previously recorded liability 
for unrecognized tax benefits as provided under FIN 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes, resulting in an 
increase to equity in earnings of affiliate. The respective decrease and increase to equity in earnings of affiliate are 
substantially offsetting in nature.
 
Financial Condition
Capital Requirements
Our current cash requirements consist of amounts needed for working capital, debt service, supply purchases, investments 
in joint ventures, and capital expenditures related to the development of new correctional, detention and/or mental 
health facilities. In addition, some of our management contracts require us to make substantial initial expenditures of 
cash in connection with opening or renovating a facility. Generally, these initial expenditures are subsequently fully or 
partially recoverable as pass-through costs or are billable as a component of the per diem rates or monthly fixed fees to 
the contracting agency over the original term of the contract. Additional capital needs may also arise in the future with 
respect to possible acquisitions, other corporate transactions or other corporate purposes.
 
We are currently developing a number of projects using company financing. We estimate that these existing capital 
projects will cost approximately $202.0 million, of which $36.8 million was spent during fiscal year 2008. We have 
future committed capital projects for which we estimate our remaining capital requirements to be approximately $165.2 
million, which will be spent through Fiscal First Quarter 2010. Capital expenditures related to facility maintenance 
costs are expected to range between $10.0 million and $15.0 million. In addition to these current estimated capital 
requirements for 2009 and 2010, we are currently in the process of bidding on, or evaluating potential bids for the 
design, construction and management of a number of new projects. In the event that we win bids for these projects and 
decide to self-finance their construction, our capital requirements in 2009 and/or 2010 could materially increase.
 
Liquidity and Capital Resources 
We plan to fund all of our capital needs, including our capital expenditures, from cash on hand, cash from operations, 
borrowings under our Senior Credit Facility and any other financings which our management and Board of Directors, 
in their discretion, may consummate. Our primary source of liquidity to meet these requirements is cash flow from 
operations and borrowings from the $240.0 million Revolver under our Third Amended and Restated Credit Agreement 
referred to as our Senior Credit Facility (see discussion below). As of December 28, 2008, we had $121.3 million 
available for borrowing under the revolving portion of the Senior Credit Facility.
 
As of December 28, 2008, we had a total of $382.1 million of consolidated debt outstanding, excluding $114.2 million 
of non-recourse debt and capital lease liability balances of $15.8 million. As of December 28, 2008, we also had 
outstanding seven letters of guarantee totaling approximately $5.3 million under separate international credit facilities. 
Based on our debt covenants and the amount of indebtedness we have outstanding, as of January 30, 2009, we had the 
ability to borrow an additional approximately $109.7 million under our Senior Credit Facility. We also have the ability 
to borrow $150.0 million under the accordion feature of our Senior Credit Facility subject to lender demand and market 
conditions. Our significant debt service obligations could have material consequences. See “Risk Factors — Risks 
Related to Our High Level of Indebtedness.”
 
Our management believes that cash on hand, cash flows from operations and borrowings under our Senior Credit Facility 
will be adequate to support our capital requirements for 2009 and 2010 disclosed above. However, we are currently in 
the process of bidding on, or evaluating potential bids for, the design, construction and management of a number of 
new projects. In the event that we win bids for these projects and decide to self-finance their construction, our capital 
requirements in 2009 and/or 2010 could materially increase. In that event, our cash on hand, cash flows from operations 
and borrowings under the Senior Credit Facility may not provide sufficient liquidity to meet our capital needs through 

Interest Income

Interest Expense

2007

8,746

36,051

% of Revenue

0.9%

3.7%

2006

10,687

28,231

% of Revenue

1.3%

3.4%

$ Change

(1,941)

7,820

% Change

(18.2)%

27.7%

$

$

$

$

$

$

(Dollars in thousands)

Income Tax Provision

2007

22,293

Effective Rate

38.0%

2006

15,215

Effective Rate

36.4%$ $
(Dollars in thousands)

Minority Interest

2007

(397)

% of Revenue

(0.0)%

2006

(125)

% of Revenue

(0.0)%

$ Change

(272)

% Change

(217.6)%$ $ $
(Dollars in thousands)

Equity in Earnings of Affiliate

2007

2,151

% of Revenue

0.2%

2006

1,576

% of Revenue

0.2%

$ Change

575

% Change

36.5%$ $ $
(Dollars in thousands)
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On August 26, 2008, we completed a fourth amendment to our Senior Credit Facility through the execution of Amendment 
No. 4 to the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement (“Amendment No. 4”) between the us, as Borrower, certain of the 
our subsidiaries, as Grantors, and BNP Paribas, as Lender and as Administrative Agent (collectively, the “Senior Credit 
Facility” or the “Credit Agreement”). As further described below, Amendment No. 4 revises certain leverage ratios, 
eliminates the fixed charge coverage ratio, adds a new interest coverage ratio and sets forth new capital expenditure 
limits under the Credit Agreement. Additionally, Amendment No. 4 permits us to add incremental borrowings under 
the accordion feature of our Senior Credit Facility of up to $150.0 million on or prior to December 31, 2008 and up 
to an additional $150.0 million after December 31, 2008. Amendment No. 4 does not require any lenders to make any 
new borrowings under the accordion feature but simply provides a mechanism under the Senior Credit Facility after 
December 31, 2008 for us to incur such borrowings without requiring further lender consent. Any additional borrowings 
by us under the accordion feature of the Senior Credit Facility, whether as revolving borrowings or incremental term 
loans as permitted in the Amendment No. 4, would be subject to lender demand and market conditions and may not be 
available to us on satisfactory terms, or at all. We believe that this amendment may provide additional flexibility if and 
when we should decide to activate the accordion feature of the Senior Credit Facility beginning on January 1, 2009.
 
In 2008, we paid $1.0 million and $2.6 million of debt issuance costs related to the Amendment No. 4 and the exercise 
of the accordion feature, respectively, which will be amortized over the remaining term of the Revolver portion of the 
Senior Credit Facility.
 
Amendment No. 4 to the Credit Agreement requires us to maintain the following Total Leverage Ratios, as computed at 
the end of each fiscal quarter for the immediately preceding four quarter-period:

 
     

 
Amendment No. 4 to the Credit Agreement also requires us to maintain the following Senior Secured Leverage Ratios, 
as computed at the end of each fiscal quarter for the immediately preceding four quarter-period:
 

In addition, Amendment No. 4 to the Credit Agreement adds a new Interest Coverage Ratio which requires us to maintain 
a ratio of EBITDA (as such term is defined in the Credit Agreement) to Interest Expense (as such term is defined in the 
Credit Agreement) payable in cash of no less than 3.00 to 1.00, as computed at the end of each fiscal quarter for the 
immediately preceding four quarter-period. The foregoing covenants replace the corresponding covenants previously 
included in the Credit Agreement, and eliminate the fixed charge coverage ratio formerly incorporated in the Credit 
Agreement.
 

2009 and 2010 and we could be forced to seek additional financing or refinance our existing indebtedness. There can be 
no assurance that any such financing or refinancing would be available to us on terms equal to or more favorable than 
our current financing terms, or at all.
 
In the future, our access to capital and ability to compete for future capital-intensive projects will also be dependent 
upon, among other things, our ability to meet certain financial covenants in the indenture governing the 8 1 / 4 % Senior 
Unsecured Notes (the “Notes”) and in our Senior Credit Facility. A substantial decline in our financial performance 
could limit our access to capital pursuant to these covenants and have a material adverse affect on our liquidity and 
capital resources and, as a result, on our financial condition and results of operations. In addition to these foregoing 
potential constraints on our capital, a number of state government agencies have been suffering from budget deficits 
and liquidity issues. While the company expects to be in compliance with its debt covenants, if these constraints were to 
intensify, our liquidity could be materially adversely impacted as could our compliance with these debt covenants.
 
We have entered into individual executive retirement agreements with our CEO and Chairman, President and Vice 
Chairman, and Chief Financial Officer. These agreements provide each executive with a lump sum payment upon 
retirement. Under the agreements, each executive may retire at any time after reaching the age of 55. Each of the 
executives reached the eligible retirement age of 55 in 2005. However, under the retirement agreements, retirement may 
be taken at any time at the individual executive’s discretion. In the event that all three executives were to retire in the 
same year, we believe we will have funds available to pay the retirement obligations from various sources, including 
cash on hand, operating cash flows or borrowings under our revolving credit facility. Based on our current capitalization, 
we do not believe that making these payments in any one period, whether in separate installments or in the aggregate, 
would materially adversely impact our liquidity. On February 12, 2009, we announced that Mr. John G. O’Rourke, Chief 
Financial Officer, will retire effective August 2, 2009. As a result of his retirement, we have an obligation to make a one-
time payment of $3.2 million to Mr. O’Rourke in August 2009 under the terms of his retirement agreement. This amount 
is recorded in accrued expenses in the accompanying balance sheet as of December 28, 2008.
 
We are also exposed to various commitments and contingencies which may have a material adverse effect on our 
liquidity. See Item 3. Legal Proceedings.
 
The Senior Credit Facility 
On October 29, 2008 and again on November 20, 2008, we exercised the accordion feature of our Senior Secured Credit 
Facility, which was amended on August 26, 2008 (see discussion below), to add $85.0 million and an additional $5.0 
million, respectively, for a total of $90.0 million in additional borrowing capacity under the revolving portion of our 
Senior Credit Facility. As of December 28, 2008, the Senior Credit Facility consisted of a $365.0 million, seven-year 
term loan (“Term Loan B”), and a $240.0 million five-year revolver which expires September 14, 2010 (the “Revolver”). 
The interest rate for the Term Loan B is LIBOR plus 1.5% (the weighted average rate on outstanding borrowings under 
the Senior Credit Facility as of December 28, 2008 was 3.24%). The Revolver currently bears interest at LIBOR plus 
2.0% or at the base rate (prime rate) plus 1.0%.
 
As of December 28, 2008, we had $158.6 million outstanding under the Term Loan B, and our $240.0 million Revolver 
had $74.0 million outstanding in loans, $44.7 million outstanding in letters of credit and $121.3 million available for 
borrowings. We intend to use future borrowings from the Revolver for the purposes permitted under the Senior Credit 
Facility, including for general corporate purposes.

Indebtedness under the Revolver bears interest in each of the instances below at the stated rate:

LIBOR borrowings

Base rate borrowings

Letters of credit

Available borrowings

Interest Rate under the Revolver

LIBOR plus 1.50% to 2.50%

Prime rate plus 0.50% to 1.50%

1.50% to 2.50%

0.38% to 0.50%

Period 

Through the penultimate day of fiscal year 2009

From the last day of the fiscal year 2009 through the penul-

timate day of fiscal year 2010

From the last day of the fiscal year 2010 through the penul-

timate day of fiscal year 2011

Thereafter

Total Leverage Ratio

< 4.50 to 1.00

<4.25 to 1.00

< 3.25 to 1.00

<3.00 to 1.00

Period 

Through the penultimate day of fiscal year 2010

From the last day of the fiscal year 2010 through the penul-

timate day of fiscal year 2011

Thereafter

Senior Secured Leverage Ratio

< 3.25 to 1.00

< 2.25 to 1.00

< 2.00 to 1.00
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Amendment No. 4 also amends the capital expenditure limits applicable to us under the Credit Agreement as follows:
 

The foregoing limits are subject to the provision that to the extent that our capital expenditures during any fiscal year are 
less than the limit permitted for such fiscal year, the following maximum amounts will be added to the maximum capital 
expenditures that we can make in the following fiscal year: (i) up to $30.0 million may be added to the fiscal year 2009 
limit from unused amounts in fiscal year 2008; (ii) up to $50.0 million may be added to the fiscal year 2010 limit from 
unused amounts in fiscal year 2009; or (iii) up to $20.0 million may be added to the fiscal year 2011 limit, and to fiscal 
years thereafter, from unused amounts in the immediately prior fiscal years.
 
All of our obligations under the Senior Credit Facility are unconditionally guaranteed by each of our existing material 
domestic subsidiaries. The Senior Credit Facility and the related guarantees are secured by substantially all of the our 
present and future tangible and intangible assets and all present and future tangible and intangible assets of each guarantor, 
as specified in the Credit Agreement. In addition, the Senior Credit Facility contains certain customary representations 
and warranties, and certain customary covenants that restrict our ability to be party to certain transactions, as further 
specified in the Credit Agreement. Events of default under the Senior Credit Facility include, but are not limited to, (i) 
our failure to pay principal or interest when due, (ii) our material breach of any representation or warranty, (iii) covenant 
defaults, (iv) bankruptcy, (v) cross default to certain other indebtedness, (vi) unsatisfied final judgments over a specified 
threshold, (vii) material environmental state of claims which are asserted against us, and (viii) a change of control. We 
believe we were in compliance with all of the covenants in the Senior Credit Facility as of December 28, 2008.
 
Senior 81/4% Notes 
In July 2003, to facilitate the completion of the purchase of 12.0 million shares from Group 4 Falck, our former majority 
shareholder, we issued $150.0 million aggregate principal amount, ten-year, 8 1 / 4 % senior unsecured notes, which we 
refer to as the Notes. The Notes are general, unsecured, senior obligations of ours. Interest is payable semi-annually on 
January 15 and July 15 at 8 1 / 4 %. The Notes are governed by the terms of an Indenture, dated July 9, 2003, between 
us and the Bank of New York, as trustee, referred to as the Indenture. Additionally, after July 15, 2008, we may redeem 
all or a portion of the Notes plus accrued and unpaid interest at various redemption prices ranging from 100.000% to 
104.125% of the principal amount to be redeemed, depending on when the redemption occurs. The Indenture contains 
certain covenants that limit our ability to incur additional indebtedness, pay dividends or distributions on our common 
stock, repurchase our common stock, and prepay subordinated indebtedness. The Indenture also limits our ability to 
issue preferred stock, make certain types of investments, merge or consolidate with another company, guarantee other 
indebtedness, create liens and transfer and sell assets.
 
The covenants governing the Notes impose significant operating and financial restrictions which may substantially 
restrict and adversely affect our ability to operate our business. See “Risk Factors — Risks Related to Our High Level of 
Indebtedness — The covenants in the indenture governing the Notes and our Senior Credit Facility impose significant 
operating and financial restrictions which may adversely affect our ability to operate our business.” We believe we were 
in compliance with all of the covenants in the Indenture as of December 28, 2008.

Non-Recourse Debt 
South Texas Detention Complex 
We have a debt service requirement related to the development of the South Texas Detention Complex, a 1,904-bed 
detention complex in Frio County, Texas acquired in November 2005 from Correctional Services Corporation, referred to 
as “CSC”. CSC was awarded the contract in February 2004 by the Department of Homeland Security, U.S. Immigration 
and Customs Enforcement, referred to as “ICE”, for development and operation of the detention center. In order to 

finance its construction, South Texas Local Development Corporation, referred to as “STLDC”, was created and issued 
$49.5 million in taxable revenue bonds. Additionally, we have outstanding $5.0 million of subordinated notes which 
represents the principal amount of financing provided to STLDC by CSC for initial development. These bonds mature 
in February 2016 and have fixed coupon rates between 3.84% and 5.07%.
 
We have an operating agreement with STLDC, the owner of the complex, which provides us with the sole and exclusive 
right to operate and manage the detention center. The operating agreement and bond indenture require the revenue from 
our contract with ICE be used to fund the periodic debt service requirements as they become due. The net revenues, if 
any, after various expenses such as trustee fees, property taxes and insurance premiums are distributed to us to cover 
operating expenses and management fees. We are responsible for the entire operations of the facility including all 
operating expenses and are required to pay all operating expenses whether or not there are sufficient revenues. STLDC 
has no liabilities resulting from its ownership. The bonds have a ten year term and are non-recourse to us and STLDC. 
The bonds are fully insured and the sole source of payment for the bonds is the operating revenues of the center. At the 
end of the ten year term of the bonds, title and ownership of the facility transfers from STLDC to us. We have determined 
that we are the primary beneficiary of STLDC and consolidate the entity as a result.
 
On February 1, 2008, we made a payment of $4.3 million for the current portion of our periodic debt service requirement 
in relation to STLDC operating agreement and bond indenture. As of December 28, 2008, the remaining balance of 
the debt service requirement is $41.1 million, of which $4.4 million is due within the next twelve months. Also as of 
December 28, 2008, included in current restricted cash and non-current restricted cash is $6.2 million and $10.9 million, 
respectively, as funds held in trust with respect to the STLDC for debt service and other reserves.
 
Northwest Detention Center 
On June 30, 2003, CSC arranged financing for the construction of the Northwest Detention Center in Tacoma, Washington, 
referred to as the Northwest Detention Center, which was completed and opened for operation in April 2004 and acquired 
by us in November 2005. In connection with the original financing, CSC of Tacoma LLC, a wholly owned subsidiary 
of CSC, issued a $57.0 million note payable to the Washington Economic Development Finance Authority, referred to 
as WEDFA, an instrumentality of the State of Washington, which issued revenue bonds and subsequently loaned the 
proceeds of the bond issuance back to CSC for the purposes of constructing the Northwest Detention Center. The bonds 
are non-recourse to us and the loan from WEDFA to CSC is non-recourse to us. These bonds mature in February 2014 
and have fixed coupon rates between 3.20% and 4.10%.
 
The proceeds of the loan were disbursed into escrow accounts held in trust to be used to pay the issuance costs for 
the revenue bonds, to construct the Northwest Detention Center and to establish debt service and other reserves. On 
October 1, 2008, CSC of Tacoma LLC made a payment from its restricted cash account of $5.4 million for the current 
portion of its periodic debt service requirement in relation to the WEDFA bid indenture. As of December 28, 2008, the 
remaining balance of the debt service requirement is $37.3 million, of which $5.7 million is classified as current in the 
accompanying balance sheet.
 
As of December 28, 2008, included in current restricted cash and non-current restricted cash is $7.1 million and $5.1 
million, respectively, of funds held in trust with respect to the Northwest Detention Center for debt service and other 
reserves.

Australia 
In connection with the financing and management of one Australian facility, our wholly owned Australian subsidiary 
financed the facility’s development and subsequent expansion in 2003 with long-term debt obligations, which are non-
recourse to us and total $38.1 million and $52.9 million at December 28, 2008 and December 30, 2007, respectively. As 
a condition of the loan, we are required to maintain a restricted cash balance of AUD 5.0 million, which, at December 
28, 2008, was approximately $3.4 million. The term of the non-recourse debt is through 2017 and it bears interest at a 
variable rate quoted by certain Australian banks plus 140 basis points. Any obligations or liabilities of the subsidiary are 
matched by a similar or corresponding commitment from the government of the State of Victoria.
 

Period 

Fiscal year 2008

Fiscal year 2009

Each fiscal year thereafter

Capital Expenditure Limit

$200.0 million

$275.0 million

$50.0 million
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Guarantees
In connection with the creation of SACS, we entered into certain guarantees related to the financing, construction and 
operation of the prison. We guaranteed certain obligations of SACS under its debt agreements up to a maximum amount 
of 60.0 million South African Rand, or approximately $6.2 million, to SACS’ senior lenders through the issuance of 
letters of credit. Additionally, SACS is required to fund a restricted account for the payment of certain costs in the event 
of contract termination. We have guaranteed the payment of 50% of amounts which may be payable by SACS into the 
restricted account and provided a standby letter of credit of 8.4 million South African Rand, or $0.9 million, as security 
for our guarantee. Our obligations under this guarantee are indexed to the CPI and expire upon the release from SACS 
of its obligations in respect of the restricted account under its debt agreements. No amounts have been drawn against 
these letters of credit, which are included in our outstanding letters of credit under the revolving loan portion of our 
Senior Credit Facility.
 
We have agreed to provide a loan, if necessary, of up to 20.0 million South African Rand, or approximately $2.1 million, 
referred to as the Standby Facility, to SACS for the purpose of financing the obligations under the contract between 
SACS and the South African government. No amounts have been funded under the Standby Facility, and we do not 
currently anticipate that such funding will be required by SACS in the future. Our obligations under the Standby Facility 
expire upon the earlier of full funding or release from SACS of its obligations under its debt agreements. The lenders’ 
ability to draw on the Standby Facility is limited to certain circumstances, including termination of the contract.
 
We have also guaranteed certain obligations of SACS to the security trustee for SACS lenders. We have secured our 
guarantee to the security trustee by ceding our rights to claims against SACS in respect of any loans or other finance 
agreements, and by pledging our shares in SACS. Our liability under the guarantee is limited to the cession and pledge 
of shares. The guarantee expires upon expiration of the cession and pledge agreements.
 
In connection with a design, build, finance and maintenance contract for a facility in Canada, we guaranteed certain 
potential tax obligations of a not-for-profit entity. The potential estimated exposure of these obligations is CAD 2.5 
million, or approximately $2.0 million commencing in 2017. We have a liability of $1.3 million and $1.5 million related 
to this exposure as of December 28, 2008 and December 30, 2007, respectively. To secure this guarantee, we purchased 
Canadian dollar denominated securities with maturities matched to the estimated tax obligations in 2017 to 2021. We 
have recorded an asset and a liability equal to the current fair market value of those securities on our balance sheet. We 
do not currently operate or manage this facility.
 
At December 28, 2008, we also had outstanding seven letters of guarantee totaling approximately $5.3 million under 
separate international facilities. We do not have any off balance sheet arrangements.
 
Derivatives 
Effective September 18, 2003, we entered into two interest rate swap agreements in the aggregate notional amount of 
$50.0 million (referred to as “Swaps”). We have designated the Swaps as hedges against changes in the fair value of 
a designated portion of the Notes due to changes in underlying interest rates. The agreements, which have payment, 
expiration dates and call provisions that mirror the terms of the Notes, effectively convert $50.0 million of the Notes 
into variable rate obligations. Each of the Swaps has a termination clause that gives the lender the right to terminate 
the interest rate Swap at fair market value if they are no longer a lender under the Credit Agreement. In addition to the 
termination clause, the Swaps also have call provisions which specify that the lender can elect to settle the Swap for the 
call option price, as specified in the Swap agreement. Under the agreements, we receive a fixed interest rate payment 
from the financial counterparties to the agreements equal to 8.25% per year calculated on the notional $50.0 million 
amount, while we make a variable interest rate payment to the same counterparties equal to the six-month LIBOR plus 
a fixed margin of 3.55%, also calculated on the notional $50.0 million amount. Changes in the fair value of the interest 
rate Swaps are recorded in earnings along with related designated changes in the value of the Notes. As of December 28, 
2008 and December 30, 2007, the fair value of the Swap assets totaled $2.0 million and $0.0 million, respectively, and is 
included in other non-current assets in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. The increase in our Swap assets 
is due to favorable changes in the interest rates during 2008. There was no ineffectiveness of our interest rate Swaps for 
the years ended December 28, 2008 or December 30, 2007.
 

In First Quarter 2009, one of the lenders elected to prepay its Swap obligation to us at the call option price which 
approximated the fair value of the Swap on the call dates. Since we did not elect to call any portion of the Notes, we will 
amortize the value of the call option over the remaining life of the Notes. We expect that the termination of this Swap 
agreement will result in approximately one million dollars in additional interest expense for fiscal 2009.

Our Australian subsidiary is a party to an interest rate Swap agreement to fix the interest rate on the variable rate non-
recourse debt to 9.7%. We have determined the Swap to be an effective cash flow hedge. Accordingly, we record the 
value of the interest rate Swap in accumulated other comprehensive income, net of applicable income taxes. The total 
value of the Swap as of December 28, 2008 and December 30, 2007 was approximately $0.2 million and $5.8 million, 
respectively, and is recorded as a component of other non-current assets in the accompanying consolidated financial 
statements. There was no ineffectiveness of this interest rate Swap for the fiscal years presented. The Company does 
not expect to enter into any transactions during the next twelve months which would result in the reclassification into 
earnings or losses associated with this Swap currently reported in accumulated other comprehensive loss.
 
Cash Flow 
Cash and cash equivalents as of December 28, 2008 was $31.7 million, compared to $44.4 million as of December 30, 
2007. During Fiscal 2008 we used cash flows from operations to fund all of our operating expenses and used cash on 
hand, $74.0 million in borrowings under our Revolver and cash flow from operations to fund $131.0 million in capital 
expenditures
 
Cash provided by operating activities of continuing operations in 2008, 2007 and 2006 was $76.9 million, $71.2 million, 
and $48.5 million, respectively. Cash provided by operating activities of continuing operations in 2008 was positively 
impacted by an increase in income from continuing operations of $23.4 million in addition to $37.4 million of depreciation 
and amortization expense. These increases reflect the opening of new facilities as previously discussed and improved 
financial performance at existing facilities. Cash provided by operating activities of continuing operations in 2007 
was positively impacted by an increase in net income of $10.1 million in addition to $33.2 million of depreciation and 
amortization expense. Cash provided by operating activities of continuing operations in 2006 was positively impacted 
by $21.7 million of depreciation and amortization expense as well as an increase in accounts payable and accrued 
expenses.
 
Cash provided by operating activities of continuing operations was negatively impacted in 2008 by an increase in 
accounts receivable of $29.6 million and more earnings in the current year attributable to our investment in our South 
Africa joint venture, SACS. Cash provided by operating activities of continuing operations was negatively impacted 
in 2007 by an increase in accounts receivable of $10.6 million, increases in our deferred income tax benefits of $5.1 
million, and more earnings in the current year attributable to our investment in our South Africa joint venture, SACS. 
Cash provided by operating activities of continuing operations in 2006 was negatively impacted by an increase in 
accounts receivable. The increase in accounts receivable was attributable to the increase in value of our Australian 
subsidiary’s accounts receivable due to an increase in foreign exchange rates, the addition of CSC for the entire year, 
new contracts at the New Castle Correctional Facility, the South Florida Evaluation and Treatment Center, the Fort 
Bayard Medical Center and the Campsfield House Immigration and Removal Centre as well as slightly higher billings 
reflecting a general increase in facility occupancy levels.
 
Cash used in investing activities of continuing operations in 2008 of $131.6 million includes capital expenditures of 
$131.0 million, of which $119.3 million related to development capital expenditures and approximately $11.7 million 
related maintenance capital expenditures. We are currently developing a number of projects using company financing. 
We estimate that these existing capital projects will cost approximately $202.0 million, of which $36.8 million was 
spent in fiscal year 2008. We estimate our remaining capital requirements for these projects to be approximately $165.2 
million, which will be spent through Fiscal First Quarter 2010.
 
Cash used in investing activities of continuing operations in 2007 was $518.9 million due to our cash investment in CPT 
of $410.5 million and capital expenditures of $115.2 million. Cash used in investing activities of continuing operations 
in 2006 was $16.9 million. 
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Cash provided by financing activities in 2008 was $53.7 million and reflects proceeds received from net borrowings of 
$74.0 million under our Revolver. Borrowings under our $240.0 million Revolver were primarily used to fund $119.3 
million of development capital expenditures in fiscal 2008. We intend to use cash flows from operations and future 
borrowings under our Revolver to fund the projects discussed above. Upon completion of these projects we expect to 
have drawn approximately $137.1 million under our Revolver, have outstanding letters of credit of $45.1 million and 
approximately $57.9 of remaining available unused capacity. We believe the institutions and banks included in our 
lender group will be able to fund their commitment to our Revolver. However, we can provide no assurance regarding 
their solvency or ability to honor their commitments. Failure to honor a commitment could materially impact our ability 
to meet our future capital needs and complete the projects discussed above.
 
Cash provided by financing activities in 2007 was $372.3 million and reflects proceeds received from the equity offering 
of $227.5 million as well as cash proceeds of $387.0 million from our Term Loan B and the Revolver. These cash flows 
from financing activities are offset by payments on the Term Loan B of $202.7 million, payments on the Revolver of 
$22.0 million and payments on other long term debt of $12.6 million. Cash provided by financing activities in 2006 was 
$21.7 million and reflects proceeds received from the equity offering of $99.9 million and proceeds received from the 
exercise of stock options of $5.4 million offset by payments of debt of $82.6 million.

Contractual Obligations and Off Balance Sheet Arrangements 
The following is a table of certain of our contractual obligations, as of December 28, 2008, which requires us to make 
payments over the periods presented.

 
                              
           
    

(a) Due to the uncertainties of future LIBOR rates, the variable interest payments on our credit facility and swap 
agreements were calculated using a LIBOR rate of 4.08% based on our bank rates as of January 15, 2009.
 
We do not have any additional off balance sheet arrangements which would subject us to additional liabilities.

Inflation 
We believe that inflation, in general, did not have a material effect on our results of operations during 2008, 2007 
and 2006. While some of our contracts include provisions for inflationary indexing, inflation could have a substantial 
adverse effect on our results of operations in the future to the extent that wages and salaries, which represent our largest 
expense, increase at a faster rate than the per diem or fixed rates received by us for our management services.
 

Outlook 
The following discussion of our future performance contains statements that are not historical statements and, therefore, 
constitute forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Our 
forward-looking statements are subject to risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from 
those stated or implied in the forward-looking statement. Please refer to “Item 1A. Risk Factors” in this Annual Report 
on Form 10-K, the “Forward-Looking Statements — Safe Harbor,” as well as the other disclosures contained in this 
Annual Report on Form 10-K, for further discussion on forward-looking statements and the risks and other factors that 
could prevent us from achieving our goals and cause the assumptions underlying the forward-looking statements and the 
actual results to differ materially from those expressed in or implied by those forward-looking statements.
 
With prison populations growing at 3% to 5% a year, the private corrections industry has played an increasingly 
important role in addressing U.S. detention and correctional needs. The number of State and Federal prisoners housed 
in private facilities increased 10.1% since mid-year 2005 with states such as Texas, Indiana, Colorado and Florida 
accounting for more than half of the increase. At June 2006, approximately 7.2% of the estimated 1.6 million State and 
Federal prisoners incarcerated in the United States were held in private facilities, up from 6.5% in 2000. In addition to 
our strong positions in Texas and Florida and in the U.S. market in general, we believe we are the only publicly traded 
U.S. correctional company with international operations. With the existing operations in South Africa and Australia 
and the management of the 198-bed Campsfield House Immigration Removal Centre in the United Kingdom beginning 
in Second Quarter 2006, we believe that our international presence positions us to capitalize on growth opportunities 
within the private corrections and detention industry in new and established international markets.
 
We intend to pursue a diversified growth strategy by winning new customers and contracts, expanding our government 
services portfolio and pursuing selective acquisition opportunities. We achieve organic growth through competitive 
bidding that begins with the issuance by a government agency of a request for proposal, or RFP. We primarily rely on the 
RFP process for organic growth in our U.S. and international corrections operations as well as in our mental health and 
residential treatment services. We believe that our long operating history and reputation have earned us credibility with 
both existing and prospective clients when bidding on new facility management contracts or when renewing existing 
contracts. Our success in the RFP process has resulted in a pipeline of new projects with significant revenue potential. 
In 2008, we announced six new management contracts. The new contracts represent 5,042 new beds. This compares 
to the seven new management projects announced in 2007 representing 4,499 new beds. As of December 28, 2008, 
we have ten facilities under various stages of development or pending commencement of operations which represent 
approximately 8,200 beds. In addition to pursuing organic growth through the RFP process, we will from time to time 
selectively consider the financing and construction of new facilities or expansions to existing facilities on a speculative 
basis without having a signed contract with a known customer. We also plan to leverage our experience to expand the 
range of government-outsourced services that we provide. We will continue to pursue selected acquisition opportunities 
in our core services and other government services areas that meet our criteria for growth and profitability.
 
Revenue 
Domestically, we continue to be encouraged by the number of opportunities that have recently developed in the privatized 
corrections and detention industry. Overcrowding at corrections facilities in various states, most recently California 
and Arizona and increased demand for bed space at federal prisons and detention facilities primarily resulting from 
government initiatives to improve immigration security are two of the factors that have contributed to the greater 
number of opportunities for privatization. However, these positive trends may in the future be impacted by government 
budgetary constraints. According to the Center on Budget and Policy Priorities, at least 46 states are facing budget 
shortfalls, including our ten state customers. If state budgetary constraints persist or intensify, our state customers’ 
ability to pay us may be impaired and/or we may be forced to renegotiate our management contracts on less favorable 

Contractual Obligations

Long-term debt obligations

Term Loan B

Revolver

Capital Lease obligations

(includes imputed interst)

Operating lease obligations

Non-recourse debt

Estimated interest payments 

on debt(a)

Estimated funding of pension & 

other post retirement benefits

Estimated construction 

commitments

Estimated tax payments 

for uncertain tax positions

Total

Total

150,056

158,613

74,000 

26,395

116,204

116,505

112,335

19,320

165,200

3,738

942,366

Less Than 

1 Year

28

3,650

 

  1,957

16,510

13,573

25,433

12,953

155,100

229,204

1-3 Years

28

7,300

74,000

 3,865

29,511

28,855

43,242

333

10,100

3,738

200,972

3-5 Years

150,000

147,663

 

  3,866

20,777

31,638

39,204

426

393,574

More Than 5 

Years

 

 

  

16,707

49,406

42,439

4,456

5,608

118,616

$ $

$

$
(In thousands)

Payments Due by Period

$

$

$ $

$

$ $
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terms and our financial condition results of operations or cash flows could be materially adversely impacted. We plan to 
actively bid on any new projects that fit our target profile for profitability and operational risk. Although we are pleased 
with the overall industry outlook, positive trends in the industry may be offset by several factors, including budgetary 
constraints, unanticipated contract terminations contract non-renewals and contract re-bids. Additionally, several of 
our management contracts are up for renewal and/or re-bid in 2009. Although we have historically had a relative high 
contract renewal rate, there can be no assurance that we will be able to renew our management contracts scheduled to 
expire in 2009 on favorable terms, or at all. Also, while we are pleased with our track record in re-bid situations, we 
cannot assure that we will prevail in any such future situations.
 
Internationally, in the United Kingdom, we recently won our second contract since re-establishing operations to operate 
the Harmondsworth Immigration Removal Centre. This project will commence operations in Third Quarter 2009. We 
believe that additional opportunities will become available in that market and plan to actively bid on any opportunities 
that fit our target profile for profitability and operational risk. In South Africa, the government has issued a procurement 
for the design, build, finance and manage of four 3,000-bed prisons. Bids are to be submitted in April 2009 with awards 
expected to be announced in late 2009.
 
With respect to our mental health/residential treatment services business conducted through our wholly-owned subsidiary, 
GEO Care, Inc., we are currently pursuing a number of business development opportunities.

In addition, we continue to expend resources on informing state and local governments about the benefits of privatization 
and we anticipate that there will be new opportunities in the future as those efforts begin to yield results. We believe we 
are well positioned to capitalize on any suitable opportunities that become available in this area.
 
In addition to our seven facilities under construction at December 28, 2008, we also have three additional facilities in 
the planning and design phase which brings our total projects to ten with approximately 8,200 beds that will become 
available upon completion. Subject to achieving our occupancy targets, five of these projects have associated management 
contracts and are expected to generate a total of approximately $77.0 million in combined annual operating revenues 
when opened between First Quarter 2009 and Fourth Quarter 2010. We do not have customers for the five remaining 
projects. Three of these projects relate to expansions of existing facilities for which we have associated management 
contracts, while one of these facilities is being marketed to state and federal government agencies. We believe that these 
projects comprise the largest and most diversified organic growth pipeline in our industry.
 
Operating Expenses 
Operating expenses consist of those expenses incurred in the operation and management of our correctional, detention 
and mental health facilities. Labor and related cost represented approximately 56.3% of our operating expenses in the 
fiscal year 2008. Additional significant operating expenses include food, utilities and inmate medical costs. In 2008, 
operating expenses totaled approximately 78.8% of our consolidated revenues. Our operating expenses as a percentage 
of revenue in 2009 will be impacted by the opening of new facilities including the expansion at the Robert A. Deyton 
Detention Facility in Georgia and the expansion at the Graceville Correctional Facility in Florida. Overall, excluding 
start-up expenses, we anticipate that operating expenses as a percentage of our revenue will remain relatively flat, 
consistent with our fiscal year ended December 28, 2008.
 
General and Administrative Expenses 
General and administrative expenses consist primarily of corporate management salaries and benefits, professional 
fees and other administrative expenses. In 2008, general and administrative expenses totaled approximately 6.6% of 
our consolidated revenues. We expect operating expenses as a percentage of revenue in 2009 to be generally consistent 
with our operating expenses for 2008. We have recently incurred increasing general and administrative costs including 
increased costs associated with increases in business development costs, professional fees and travel costs, primarily 
relating to our mental health residential treatment services business. We expect this trend to continue as we pursue 
additional business development opportunities in all of our business lines and build the corporate infrastructure necessary 
to support our mental health residential treatment services business. We also plan to continue expending resources from 
time to time on the evaluation of potential acquisition targets.

Forward-Looking Statements — Safe Harbor 
This report and the documents incorporated by reference herein contain “forward-looking” statements within the meaning 
of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, 
as amended. “Forward-looking” statements are any statements that are not based on historical information. Statements 
other than statements of historical facts included in this report, including, without limitation, statements regarding 
our future financial position, business strategy, budgets, projected costs and plans and objectives of management for 
future operations, are “forward-looking” statements. Forward-looking statements generally can be identified by the 
use of forward-looking terminology such as “may,” “will,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “intend,” “plan,” “believe,” “seek,” 
“estimate” or “continue” or the negative of such words or variations of such words and similar expressions. These 
statements are not guarantees of future performance and involve certain risks, uncertainties and assumptions, which are 
difficult to predict. Therefore, actual outcomes and results may differ materially from what is expressed or forecasted 
in such forward-looking statements and we can give no assurance that such forward-looking statements will prove to 
be correct. Important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those expressed or implied by the 
forward-looking statements, or “cautionary statements,” include, but are not limited to:
 
     
  •  our ability to timely build and/or open facilities as planned, profitably manage such facilities and
  successfully integrate such facilities into our operations without substantial additional costs;
  •  the instability of foreign exchange rates, exposing us to currency risks in Australia, the United
  Kingdom, and South Africa, or other countries in which we may choose to conduct our business;
  •  our ability to reactivate the North Lake Correctional Facility;
  •  an increase in unreimbursed labor rates;
  •  our ability to expand, diversify and grow our correctional and mental health and residential 
  treatment services;
  •  our ability to win management contracts for which we have submitted proposals and to retain existing
  management contracts;
  •  our ability to raise new project development capital given the often short-term nature of the 
  customers’ commitment to use newly developed facilities;
  •  our ability to estimate the government’s level of dependency on privatized correctional services;
  •  our ability to accurately project the size and growth of the U.S. and international privatized 
  corrections industry;
  •  our ability to develop long-term earnings visibility;
  •  our ability to obtain future financing at competitive rates;
  •  our exposure to rising general insurance costs;
  •  our exposure to state and federal income tax law changes internationally and domestically;
  •  our exposure to claims for which we are uninsured;
  •  our exposure to rising employee and inmate medical costs;
  •  our ability to maintain occupancy rates at our facilities;
  •  our ability to manage costs and expenses relating to ongoing litigation arising from our operations;
  •  our ability to accurately estimate on an annual basis, loss reserves related to general liability, workers
  compensation and automobile liability claims;
  •  our ability to identify suitable acquisitions, and to successfully complete and integrate such 
  acquisitions on satisfactory terms;
  •  the ability of our government customers to secure budgetary appropriations to fund their 
  payment obligations to us; and
  •  other factors contained in our filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission, or the SEC,
  including, but not limited to, those detailed in this annual report on Form 10-K, our Form 10-Qs and
  our Form 8-Ks filed with the SEC.
 
We undertake no obligation to update publicly any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, 
future events or otherwise. All subsequent written and oral forward-looking statements attributable to us, or persons 
acting on our behalf, are expressly qualified in their entirety by the cautionary statements included in this report.
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Item 7A.  Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
 

Interest Rate Risk 
We are exposed to market risks related to changes in interest rates with respect to our Senior Credit Facility. Payments 
under the Senior Credit Facility are indexed to a variable interest rate. Based on borrowings outstanding under the 
Senior Credit Facility portion of $232.6 million as of December 28, 2008 for every one percent increase in the interest 
rate applicable to the Senior Credit Facility, our total annual interest expense would increase by $2.3 million.
 
Effective September 18, 2003, we entered into interest rate swap agreements in the aggregate notional amount of $50.0 
million. We have designated the swaps as hedges against changes in the fair value of a designated portion of the Notes 
due to changes in underlying interest rates. Changes in the fair value of the interest rate swaps are recorded in earnings 
along with related designated changes in the value of the Notes. The agreements, which have payment and expiration 
dates and call provisions that coincide with the terms of the Notes, effectively convert $50.0 million of the Notes into 
variable rate obligations. Each of the Swaps has a termination clause that gives the lender the right to terminate the 
interest rate swap at fair market value if they are no longer a lender under the Credit Agreement. In addition to the 
termination clause, the interest rate swaps also have call provisions which specify that the lender can elect to settle the 
swap for the call option price, as specified in the swap agreement. Under the agreements, we receive a fixed interest 
rate payment from the financial counterparties to the agreements equal to 8.25% per year calculated on the notional 
$50.0 million amount, while we make a variable interest rate payment to the same counterparties equal to the six-month 
LIBOR plus a fixed margin of 3.55%, as of January 15, 2009, also calculated on the notional $50.0 million amount. For 
every one percent increase in the interest rate applicable to the $50.0 million swap agreements on the Notes described 
above, our total annual interest expense would increase by $0.5 million. In First Quarter 2009, one of our lenders elected 
to prepay its interest rate swap obligations to us at the call option price which approximated or was greater than the fair 
value of the interest rate swaps on the respective call dates. We expect that the termination of this swap will result in 
approximately one million dollars in additional interest expense for fiscal 2009.
 
We have entered into certain interest rate swap arrangements for hedging purposes, fixing the interest rate on our 
Australian non-recourse debt to 9.7%. The difference between the floating rate and the swap rate on these instruments is 
recognized in interest expense within the respective entity. Because the interest rates with respect to these instruments 
are fixed, a hypothetical 100 basis point change in the current interest rate would not have a material impact on our 
financial condition or results of operations.
Additionally, we invest our cash in a variety of short-term financial instruments to provide a return. These instruments 
generally consist of highly liquid investments with original maturities at the date of purchase of three months or less. 
While these instruments are subject to interest rate risk, a hypothetical 100 basis point increase or decrease in market 
interest rates would not have a material impact on our financial condition or results of operations.
 

Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk 
We are exposed to market risks related to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates between the U.S. Dollar, the 
Australian Dollar, the Canadian Dollar, the South African Rand and the British Pound currency exchange rates. Based 
upon our foreign currency exchange rate exposure as of December 28, 2008 with respect to our international operations, 
every 10 percent change in historical currency rates would have approximately a $3.4 million effect on our financial 
position and approximately a $1.2 million impact on our results of operations over the next fiscal year.

   

Item 8.  Financial Statements and Supplementary Data
 

MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
To the Shareholders of
The GEO Group, Inc.:
 
The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in conformity with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States. They include amounts based on judgments and estimates.
 
Representation in the consolidated financial statements and the fairness and integrity of such statements are the 
responsibility of management. In order to meet management’s responsibility, the Company maintains a system of internal 
controls and procedures and a program of internal audits designed to provide reasonable assurance that our assets are 
controlled and safeguarded, that transactions are executed in accordance with management’s authorization and properly 
recorded, and that accounting records may be relied upon in the preparation of financial statements.
 
The consolidated financial statements have been audited by Grant Thornton LLP, independent registered public 
accountants, whose appointment by our Audit Committee was ratified by our shareholders. Their report expresses a 
professional opinion as to whether management’s consolidated financial statements considered in their entirety present 
fairly, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States, the Company’s financial 
position and results of operations. Their audit was conducted in accordance with the standards of the Public Company 
Accounting Oversight Board (United States). The effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of 
December 28, 2008 has been audited by Grant Thornton LLP, independent registered public accountants, as stated in 
their report which is included in this Form 10-K.
 
The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors meets periodically with representatives of management, the independent 
registered public accountants and our internal auditors to review matters relating to financial reporting, internal 
accounting controls and auditing. Both the internal auditors and the independent registered certified public accountants 
have unrestricted access to the Audit Committee to discuss the results of their reviews.
 

George C. Zoley
 Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
 
Wayne H. Calabrese
 Vice Chairman, President
 and Chief Operating Officer
 
John G. O’Rourke
 Senior Vice President and Chief Financial
 Officer
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MANAGEMENT’S ANNUAL REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL
OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING
 
Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as 
defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. The Company’s internal control 
over financial reporting is a process designed under the supervision of the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and 
Chief Financial Officer that: (i) pertains to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly 
reflect the transactions and dispositions of the Company’s assets; (ii) provides reasonable assurance that transactions are 
recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements for external reporting in accordance with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States, and that receipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance 
with authorization of the Company’s management and directors; and (iii) provides reasonable assurance regarding 
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of the Company’s assets that could have a 
material effect on the financial statements.
 
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. 
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become 
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may 
deteriorate. Management has assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of 
December 28, 2008. In making its assessment of internal control over financial reporting, management used the criteria 
set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations (“COSO”) of the Treadway Commission in Internal Control 
— Integrated Framework.
 
The Company evaluated, with the participation of its Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, its internal 
control over financial reporting as of December 28, 2008, based on the COSO Internal Control — Integrated Framework.  
Based on this evaluation, the Company’s management concluded that as of December 28, 2008, its internal control over 
financial reporting is effective in providing reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the 
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.
 
Grant Thornton LLP, the registered public accounting firm that audited the financial statements included in this Annual 
Report on Form 10-K, has issued an attestation report on our internal control over financial reporting.

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
Board of Directors and
Shareholders of The GEO Group, Inc.
 
We have audited The GEO Group, Inc. and subsidiaries’ (the “Company”) internal control over financial reporting as of 
December 28, 2008, based on criteria established in  Internal Control — Integrated Framework  issued by the Committee 
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). The Company’s management is responsible for 
maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal 
control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control 
Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial 
reporting based on our audit.
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United 
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining 
an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing 
and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such 
other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis 
for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding 
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies 
and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect 
the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are 
recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations 
of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely 
detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on 
the financial statements.
 
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. 
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become 
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may 
deteriorate.
 
In our opinion, The GEO Group, Inc. and subsidiaries maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over 
financial reporting as of December 28, 2008, based on criteria established in  Internal Control-Integrated Framework  
issued by COSO.
 
We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United 
States), the consolidated balance sheets of The GEO Group, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 28, 2008 and December 
30, 2007, and the related consolidated statements of income, cash flow, and shareholders’ equity and comprehensive 
income for each of the three years in the period ended December 28, 2008, and our report dated February 17, 2009 
expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial statements.
 
/s/  Grant Thornton LLP
 
Miami, Florida
February 17, 2009
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
Board of Directors and
Shareholders of The GEO Group, Inc.
 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of The GEO Group, Inc. and subsidiaries (the 
“Company”) as of December 28, 2008 and December 30, 2007, and the related consolidated statements of income, cash 
flows, and shareholders’ equity and comprehensive income for each of three years in the period ended December 28, 
2008. Our audits of the basic financial statements included the financial statement schedule listed in the index appearing 
under Item 15. These financial statements and financial statement schedule are the responsibility of the Company’s 
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and financial statement schedule 
based on our audits.
 
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United 
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting 
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used 
and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We 
believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
 
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated 
financial position of The GEO Group, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 28, 2008 and December 30, 2007, and the 
consolidated results of their operations and their consolidated cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended 
December 28, 2008 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Also 
in our opinion, the related financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic financial statements 
taken as a whole, presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein.
 
As described in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, effective January 1, 2007, the Company adopted the 
provisions of Financial Accounting Standards Board Interpretation No. 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income 
Taxes”. As described in Note 14 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company recognized the funded status of 
its benefit plans in accordance with the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 158, Employers’ 
Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Plans — an amendment of FASB Statements No. 87, 
88, 106, and 132R, as of December 31, 2006.
 
We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United 
States), The GEO Group, Inc. and subsidiaries’ internal control over financial reporting as of December 28, 2008, 
based on criteria established in  Internal Control — Integrated Framework  issued by the Committee of Sponsoring 
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) and our report dated February 17, 2009 expressed an unqualified 
opinion thereon.
 
/s/  Grant Thornton LLP
 
Miami, Florida
February 17, 2009

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

Fiscal Years Ended December 28, 2008, December 30, 2007, and December 31, 2006

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

$
(In thousands, except per share data)

$

$Revenues

Operating Expenses

Depreciation & Amortization

General & Administrative Expenses

Operating income

Interest Income

Interest Expense

Write-off of Deferred Financing Fees from Extinguishment of 

Debt

Income Before Income Taxes, Minority Interest, Equity in 

Earnings of affliates, and Discontinued Operations

Provision for Income Taxes

Minority Interest

Equity in Earnings of Affiliates, net of income tax (benefits) 

provision of ($805), $1,030, and $56

Income from Continuing Operations

Income (loss) from Discontinued Operations, net of tax 

provision of $236, $2,310, and $1,139

Net Income

Weighted Average Common Shares Outstanding:

Basic

Diluted

Earnings (loss) per Common Share:

Basic:

Income from continuing operations

Income (loss) from discontinued operations

Net income per share - basic

Diluted:

Income from continuing operations

Income (loss) from discontinued operations

Net income per share - diluted

2008

1,043,006

822,053

37,406

69,151

114,396

7,045

(30,202)

91,239

34,033

(376)

4,623

61,453

(2,551)

58,902

50,539

51,830

1.22

(0.05)

1.17

1.19

(0.05)

1.14

2007

976,299

787,862

33,218

64,492

90,727

8,746

(36,051)

(4,794)

58,628

22,293

(397)

2,151

38,089

3,756

41,845

47,727

49,192

0.80

0.08

0.88

0.77

0.08

0.85

2006

818,439

679,886

21,682

56,268

60,603

10,687

(28,231)

(1,295)

41,764

15,215

(125)

1,576

28,000

2,031

30,031

34,442

35,744

0.81

0.06

0.87

0.78

0.06

0.84

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Fiscal Years Ended December 28, 2008, December 30, 2007, and December 31, 2006

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 28, 2008 and December 30, 2007 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Current Assets
Cash & cash equivalents
Restricted cash
Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtful accounts of $625 & $445
Deferred income tax asset, net
Other current assets
Current assets of discontinued operations
   Total current assets
Restricted Cash
Property & Equipment, Net
Assets Held for Sale
Direct Finance Lease Receivable
Deferred Income Tax Assts, Net
Goodwill
Intangible Assets, net
Other Non-Current Assets
Non-Current Assets of Discontinued Operations

Current Liabilities
Accounts payable
Accrued payroll & related taxes
Accrued expenses
Current portion of capital lease obligations, long-term debt & non-recourse debt
Current liabilities of discontinued operations
  Total current liabilites
Deferred Income Tax Liability
Minority Interest
Other Non-Current Liabilities
Capital Lease Obligations
Long-Term Debt
Non-Recourse Debt
Commintments & Contingencies (Note 12)
Shareholders’ Equity
Preferred stock, $0.01 par value, 30,000,000 shares authorized, 
none issued or outstanding
Common stock, $0.01 par value, 90,000,000 shares authorized, 67,197,775 
and 67,050,596 issued and 51,122,775 and 50,975,596 outstanding
Additional paid-in captial
Retained earnings
Accumlated other comprehensive (loss) income
Treasury stock 16,075,000 shares
   Total shareholders’ equity

(In thousands, except per share data)

$

$

$

$

ASSETS

31,655
13,318

199,665
17,340
12,911

7,031
281,920

19,379
878,616

4,348
31,195

4,417
22,202
12,393
33,942

209
1,288,621

56,143
27,957
82,442
17,925

1,459
185,926

14
1,101

28,876
15,126

378,448
100,634

511
344,175
299,973
(7,275)

(58,888)
578,496

1,288,621

44,403
13,227

164,773
19,705
14,638

7,772
264,518

20,880
783,363

1,265
43,213

4,918
22,361
12,315
36,998

2,803
1,192,634

47,068
34,718
85,498
17,477

1,671
186,432

223
1,642

30,179
15,800

305,678
124,975

510
338,092
241,071

6,920
(58,888)
527,705

1,192,634

$ $

$ $

2007

LIABILITITES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

2008 $ 38,089

2,474
935

33,218
2,524

(5,077)
(176)

(2,151)
397

(389)
(3,061)

4,794

(10,604)
(57)

3,211
(2,457)

1,517
(152)
8,186

71,221
7,707

78,928

(410,473)

2,291
4,476

(20)

(115,204)
(518,930)

227,485
387,000

3,061
(9,210)

(237,299)

1,239
372,276

609
(67,117)
111,520

$ 44,403

$ 26,413
$ 28,470

$ 2,118
 

$             406,368
$ 6,663
$ 2,558

$             410,473
$ 5,000

Cash Flow from Operating Activities:
Income from continuing operations
Adjustments to reconcile income from continuing operations to net cash provided by operating 
activities:
Amortization of restricted stock-based compensation
Stock-based compensation expense
Depreciation and amortization expenses
Amortization of debt issuance costs and discount
Deferred tax benefit (provision)
Provision (Recovery) for doubtful accounts
Equity in earnings of affiliates, net of tax
Minority interests in earnings of consolidated entity
Dividend to minority interest
Income tax (benefit) provision of equity compensation
Loss on sale of fixed assets
Write-off of deferred finacning fees from extinguishment of debt
Changes in assets and liabilities, net of acquisition
Accounts receivable
Other current assets
Other assets
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Accrued payroll and related taxes
Deferred revenue
Other liabilities
Net cash provided by operating activities of continuing operations
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities of discontinued operations
Net cash provided by operating activities
Cash Flow from Investing Activities:
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired
YSI purchase price adjustment
CSC purchase price adjustment
Proceeds from sale of assets
Purchase of shares in consolidated affiliate
Change in restricted cash
Insurance proceeds related to hurricane damages
Capital expenditures
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash Flow from Financing Activities:
Proceeds from equity offering, net
Proceeds from long-term debt
Income tax benefit of equity compensation
Debt issuance costs
Payments on long-term debt
Repurchase of stock options from employees and directors
Proceeds from the exercise of stock options
Net cash provided by financing activities
Effect of Exchange Rate Changes on Cash and Cash Equivalents
Net (Decrease) Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and Cash Equivalents, beginning of period
Cash and Cash Equivalents, end of period
Supplemental Disclosures:
Cash paid during the year for:
Income taxes
Interest
Non-cash operating activities:
Proceeds receivable from insurance claim
Non-cash investing and financing activities:
Fair value of assets acquired, net of cash acquired
Extinguishment of pre-acquisition liabilities, net
Total liabilities assumed

Short term borrowings for deposit on asset

28,000

966
374

21,682
1,089

(5,080)
762

(1,576)
125

(757)
(2,793)

1,295

(32,165)
36

1,868
30,694

3,797
(1,576)

1,799
48,540
(2,588)
45,952

(2,578)
15,080

20,246

(7,285)
781

(43,165)
(16,921)

99,936
111

2,793

(82,627)
(3,955)

5,405
21,663

3,732
54,426
57,094

$             111,520

$ (853)
$ 25,740

$ 
 
$ 2,578

$ 

2008 2007 2006
(In thousands)

$ 61,453

3,015
1,530

37,406
3,042
2,656

602
(4,623)

376
(125)
(786)

157

(29,599)
2,120

(2,418)
7,775

(4,483)

(1,190)
76,908
(5,564)
71,344

1,136
(2,189)

452

(130,990)
(131,591)

156,000
786

(3,685)
(100,156)

753
53,698
(6,199)

(12,748)
44,403

$ 31,655

$ 29,895
$ 34,486

$ 
 
$ 
$ 
$ 
$ 
$ 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

 Fiscal Years Ended December 28, 2008, December 30, 2007, and December 31, 2006

 
                              
 

    
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the Fiscal Years Ended December 28, 2008, December 30, 2007, and December 31, 2006
 
   
1.  Summary of Business Operations and Significant Accounting Policies
The GEO Group, Inc., a Florida corporation, and subsidiaries (the “Company”) is a leading developer and manager 
of privatized correctional, detention and mental health residential treatment services facilities located in the United 
States, Australia, South Africa, the United Kingdom and Canada. The Company operates a broad range of correctional 
and detention facilities including maximum, medium and minimum security prisons, immigration detention centers, 
minimum security detention centers and mental health and residential treatment facilities. As of the fiscal year ended 
December 28, 2008, GEO managed 59 facilities totaling approximately 53,400 beds worldwide and had an additional 
3,586 beds under development at seven facilities, including an expansion and renovation of one vacant facility which is 
Company owned and the expansions of six facilities which it currently operates.
 
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted 
in the United States. The significant accounting policies of the Company are described below.
 
Fiscal Year
The Company’s fiscal year ends on the Sunday closest to the calendar year end. Fiscal years 2008, 2007 and 2006 
each included 52 weeks. The Company reports the results of its South African equity affiliate, South African Custodial 
Services Pty. Limited, (“SACS”), and its consolidated South African entity, South African Custodial Management Pty. 
Limited (“SACM”) on a calendar year end, due to the availability of information.
 
Basis of Presentation
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and all controlled subsidiaries. Investments 
in 50% owned affiliates, which the Company does not control, are accounted for under the equity method of accounting. 
Intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated in consolidation.
 
Reclassifications
Certain prior year amounts related to discontinued operations have been reclassified to conform to current year 
presentation. See Note 3.
 
Use of Estimates
The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in 
the United States requires management to make certain estimates, judgments and assumptions that affect the reported 
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements 
and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. The Company’s significant estimates 
include reserves for self-insured retention related to general liability insurance, workers’ compensation insurance, auto 
liability insurance, employer group health insurance, percentage of completion and estimated cost to complete for 
construction projects, stock based compensation, and allowance for doubtful accounts. These estimates and assumptions 
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of 
revenues and expenses during the reporting period. While the Company believes that such estimates are reasonable 
when considered in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements taken as a whole, the actual amounts of 
such estimates, when known, will vary from these estimates. If actual results significantly differ from the Company’s 
estimates, the Company’s financial condition and results of operations could be materially impacted.
 
Fair Value of Financial Instruments
For the Company’s 81/4% Senior Unsecured Notes, the stated value and fair value based on observable market data for 
similar securities was $150.0 million and $131.3 million, respectively, at December 28, 2008. For the Company’s non-
recourse debt related to the South Texas Detention Complex and Northwest Detention Center, the combined stated value 
and fair value based on observable market data for similar securities was $78.4 million and $68.4 million, respectively, 
at December 28, 2008.
 
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include all interest-bearing deposits or investments with original maturities of three months or 
less. The Company maintains cash and cash equivalents with various financial institutions. These financial institutions 

Balance, January 1, 2006
Proceeds from stock options exercised
Tax benefit related to employee stock 
options
Stock based compensation expense
Restricted stock granted
Amortization of restricted stock
Issuance of treasury stock in 
conjunction with offering
Buyout of stock options
Comprehensive income:
  Net income
  Change in foreign currency translation,
  net of income tax expense of $2,356
  Unrealized gain on derivative
  instruments, net of income tax expense
  of $1,121
Total comprehensive income
Adoption of FAS 158 (Note 16)
Balance, December 31, 2006
Adoption of FIN 48 January 1, 2007 
(Note 16)
Proceeds from stock options exercised
Tax benefit related to employee stock 
options 
Stock based compensation expense
Restricted stock granted
Restricted stock cancelled
Amortization of restricted stock
Issuance of treasury stock in 
conjunction with offering
Comprehensive income:
  Net income
  Change in foreign currency translation,
  net of income tax expense of $180
  Pension liability adjustment, net of
  income tax benefit of $203
  Unrealized gain on derivative
  instruments, net of income tax expense
  of $807
Total comprehensive income
Balance, December 30, 2007
Preoceeds from stock options exercised
Tax benefit related to employee stock 
options
Stock based compensation expense
Restricted stock granted
Restricted stock cancelled
Amortization of restricted stock
Comprehensive income:
  Net income
  Change in foreign currency translation,
  net of income tax benefit of $413
  Pension liability adjustment, net of
  income tax benefit of $17
  Unrealized loss of derivative
  instruments, net of income tax benefit
  of $2,113
Total comprehensive income
Balance, December 28, 2008

Number of 
Shares Amount

Additional Paid-
In Capital

Retained 
Earnings

Accumulated 
Other 

Comperhensive 
Income (Loss)

Number of 
Shares Amount

Total 
Shareholders’ 

Equity

Treasury StockCommon Stock

29,074
973

450

9,000

39,497

267

300
(13)

10,925

50,976
171

24
(48)

 

51,123

291
10

4

90

395

3

3

109

$          510
1

$          511

70,590
5,395

2,793
374
(4)

966

66,876
(3,955)

143,035

1,236

3,061
935
(3)

2,474

187,354

$   338,092
752

786
1,530

3,015

$    344,175

171,666

30,031

201,697

(2,471)

41,845

$   241,071

58,902

$   299,973

(36,000)

9,000

(27,000)

10,925

(16,075)

      (16,075)

(131,880)

32,970

(98,910)

40,022

$  (58,888)

$   (58,888)

108,594
5,405

2,793
374

966

99,936
(3,955)

36,430
(1,933)

248,610

(2,471)
1,239

3,061
935

2,474

227,485

46,372
$      527,705

753

786
1,530

3,015

44,707
$   578,496

(2,073)

3,846

2,553

(1,933)
2,393

2,898

312

1,317

$      6,920

(10,742)

27

(3,480)

$    (7,275)
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are located throughout the United States, Australia, South Africa, Canada and the United Kingdom. A significant portion 
of the Company’s unrestricted cash held at the Company and its subsidiaries is maintained with a small number of banks 
and, accordingly, the Company is subject to credit risk.
 
Accounts Receivable
The Company extends credit to the governmental agencies it contracts with and other parties in the normal course of 
business as a result of billing and receiving payment for services thirty to sixty days in arrears. Further, the Company 
regularly reviews outstanding receivables, and provides estimated losses through an allowance for doubtful accounts. 
In evaluating the level of established loss reserves, the Company makes judgments regarding its customers’ ability 
to make required payments, economic events and other factors. As the financial condition of these parties change, 
circumstances develop or additional information becomes available, adjustments to the allowance for doubtful accounts 
may be required. The Company also performs ongoing credit evaluations of customers’ financial condition and generally 
does not require collateral. The Company maintains reserves for potential credit losses, and such losses traditionally 
have been within its expectations.
 
Notes Receivable
Immediately following the purchase of Correctional Services Corporation (“CSC”) in November 2005, the Company 
sold Youth Services International, Inc., (“YSI”) the former juvenile services division of CSC, for $3.8 million, $1.8 
million of which was paid in cash and the remaining $2.0 million of which was paid in the form of a promissory note 
accruing interest at a rate of 6% per annum. Subsequently, during 2006, the Company received approximately $2.0 
million in additional sales proceeds, consisting of approximately $1.5 million in cash and a $0.5 million increase in the 
promissory note related to the final purchase price of YSI. The balance of the note was paid in November 2008. The 
balance of $1.0 million as of December 30, 2007 is included in accounts receivable in the consolidated balance sheet 
for 2007.
 
The Company has notes receivable from its former joint venture partner in the United Kingdom related to a subordinated 
loan extended to the joint venture partner while an active member of the partnership. The balance outstanding as of 
December 28, 2008 and December 30, 2007 was $3.4 million and $5.1 million, respectively. The notes bear interest at a 
rate of 13%, have semi-annual payments due June 15 and December 15 through June 2018.
 
Inventories
Food and supplies inventories are carried at the lower of cost or market, on a first-in first-out basis and are included in 
other current assets in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. Uniform inventories are carried at amortized cost 
and are amortized over a period of eighteen months. The current portion of unamortized uniforms is included in other 
current assets and the long-term portion is included in “other non-current assets” in the accompanying consolidated 
balance sheets.
 
Restricted Cash
The Company has current and long-term restricted cash as of December 28, 2008 and December 30, 2007, presented as 
such in the accompanying balance sheets. These balances are primarily attributable to amounts held in escrow or in trust 
in connection with the 1,904-bed South Texas Detention Complex in Frio County, Texas and the 1,030-bed Northwest 
Detention Center in Tacoma, Washington. Additionally, the Company’s wholly owned Australian subsidiary financed 
a facility’s development and subsequent expansion in 2003 with long-term debt obligations, which are non-recourse to 
the Company. See Note l1.
 
Property and Equipment
Property and equipment are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is computed using the straight-
line method over the estimated useful lives of the related assets. Buildings and improvements are depreciated over 2 
to 40 years. Equipment, furniture and fixtures are depreciated over 3 to 10 years. Accelerated methods of depreciation 
are generally used for income tax purposes. Leasehold improvements are amortized on a straight-line basis over the 
shorter of the useful life of the improvement or the term of the lease. The Company performs ongoing evaluations 
of the estimated useful lives of the property and equipment for depreciation purposes. The estimated useful lives are 

determined and continually evaluated based on the period over which services are expected to be rendered by the 
asset. Maintenance and repairs are expensed as incurred. Interest is capitalized in connection with the construction 
of correctional and detention facilities. Capitalized interest is recorded as part of the asset to which it relates and is 
amortized over the asset’s estimated useful life. During fiscal years ended 2008 and 2007, the Company capitalized $4.3 
million and $2.9 million of interest expense, respectively.
 
Assets Held Under Capital Leases
Assets held under capital leases are recorded at the lower of the net present value of the minimum lease payments or 
the fair value of the leased asset at the inception of the lease. Amortization expense is recognized using the straight-
line method over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset or the term of the related lease and is included in 
depreciation expense.
 
Long-Lived Assets
The Company reviews long-lived assets to be held and used for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying amount of such assets may not be fully recoverable in accordance with Financial Accounting 
Standard (“FAS”) No. 144 “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets.” Determination of 
recoverability is based on an estimate of undiscounted future cash flows resulting from the use of the asset and its 
eventual disposition. Measurement of an impairment loss for long-lived assets that management expects to hold and use 
is based on the fair value of the asset. Long-lived assets to be disposed of are reported at the lower of carrying amount 
or fair value less costs to sell. Events that would trigger an impairment assessment include deterioration of profits for a 
business segment that has long-lived assets, or when other changes occur, such as a contract termination, which might 
impair recovery of long-lived assets. In 2008, the Company announced the termination of certain of its management 
contracts and the closure of its transportation division in the United Kingdom. There were no significant impairments 
of long-lived assets accounted for under FAS 144 relative to this closure these contract terminations. Management has 
reviewed the Company’s long-lived assets and determined that there are no events requiring impairment loss recognition 
for the year ended December 28, 2008. See Notes 3 and 8.

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets
Acquired intangible assets are separately recognized if the benefit of the intangible asset is obtained through contractual 
or other legal rights, or if the intangible asset can be sold, transferred, licensed, rented or exchanged, regardless of the 
Company’s intent to do so. The Company has intangible assets which it recorded in connection with its acquisition of 
CSC and also has recorded an intangible asset of $1.9 million in connection with the purchase of additional shares in its 
consolidated joint venture (See Note 8). The Company’s intangible assets recorded in connection with the acquisition 
of CSC, have finite lives ranging from 4-17 years and are amortized using a straight-line method. The Company’s 
intangible asset related to the share purchase is amortized using the straight line method over the remaining life of the 
management contract. The Company reviews finite-lived intangible assets for impairment whenever an event occurs or 
circumstances change which indicate that the carrying amount of such assets may not be fully recoverable.
 
With the adoption of FAS No. 142, the Company’s goodwill is no longer amortized, but is subject to an annual impairment 
test. There was no impairment of goodwill associated with CSC or the Company’s Australian subsidiary as a result of 
the annual impairment tests completed as of the beginning of Fourth Quarters 2008 and 2007. In the fiscal year ended 
December 28, 2008, the Company wrote off goodwill of $2.3 million associated with the termination of its transportation 
services business in the United Kingdom. See Notes 3 and 8.
 
Variable Interest Entities
The Company applies guidance of FAS Interpretation No. 46, revised (and amended in December 2008 by FSP 140-4 
and FIN 46R-8) “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities,” (FIN 46R) for all ventures deemed to be variable interest 
entities (“VIEs”). All other joint venture investments are accounted for under the equity method of accounting when the 
Company has a 20% to 50% ownership interest or exercises significant influence over the venture. If the Company’s 
interest exceeds 50% or in certain cases, if the Company exercises control over the venture, the results of the joint 
venture are consolidated herein.
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The Company has determined its 50% owned South African joint venture in South African Custodial Services Pty. 
Limited, which the Company refers to as SACS, is a variable interest entity (“VIE”) in accordance with (FIN 46R) 
which addressed consolidation by a business of variable interest entities in which it is the primary beneficiary. SACS 
has a number of variable interest holders as defined in FIN 46R however, since the company does not have control of 
the SACS, the Company determined that it is not the primary beneficiary of SACS and as a result it is not required to 
consolidate SACS under FIN 46R. The Company accounts for SACS as an equity affiliate. SACS was established in 
2001, to design, finance and build the Kutama Sinthumule Correctional Center. Subsequently, SACS was awarded a 25 
year contract to design, construct, manage and finance a facility in Louis Trichardt, South Africa. SACS, based on the 
terms of the contract with the government, was able to obtain long-term financing to build the prison. The financing 
is fully guaranteed by the government, except in the event of default, for which it provides an 80% guarantee. The 
company’s maximum exposure for loss under this contract is limited to its investment in joint venture of $6.2 million 
at December 28, 2008 and its guarantees related to SACS as disclosed in Note 11. Separately, SACS entered into a 
long-term operating contract with South African Custodial Management (Pty) Limited (“SACM”) to provide security 
and other management services and with SACS’ joint venture partner to provide purchasing, programs and maintenance 
services upon completion of the construction phase, which concluded in February 2002. The Company’s maximum 
exposure for loss under this contract is $12.8 million, which represents the Company’s initial investment and related to 
the guarantees discussed in Note 11.
 
Also, in accordance with FIN 46R, as amended by FSP 140-4 and FIN 46R-8, the Company consolidates South Texas 
Local Development Corporation (“STLDC”) which was created in order to finance construction for the development of a 
1,904-bed facility in Frio County, Texas. This entity issued $49.5 million in taxable revenue bonds and has an operating 
agreement with STLDC, the owner of the complex, which provides it with the sole and exclusive right to operate and 
manage the detention center. The operating agreement and bond indenture require the revenue from the contract be used 
to fund the periodic debt service requirements as they become due. The net revenues, if any, after various expenses such 
as trustee fees, property taxes and insurance premiums are distributed to the Company to cover operating expenses and 
management fees. The Company is responsible for the entire operations of the facility including all operating expenses 
and is required to pay all operating expenses whether or not there are sufficient revenues. STLDC has no liabilities 
resulting from its ownership. The bonds have a ten-year term and are non-recourse to the Company and STLDC. The 
bonds are fully insured and the sole source of payment for the bonds is the operating revenues of the center. At the end of 
the ten-year term of the bonds, title and ownership of the facility transfers from STLDC to the Company. The Company 
has determined that it is the primary beneficiary of STLDC and consolidates the entity as a result.
 
Minority Interest in Income of Consolidated Subsidiary
The Company includes the results of operations and financial position of South African Custodial Management Pty. 
Limited (“SACM” or the “joint venture”), its majority-owned subsidiary, in its consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with FAS 94, “Consolidation of All Majority-Owned Subsidiaries”. SACM was established in 2001 to operate 
correctional centers in South Africa. The joint venture currently provides security and other management services for the 
Kutama Sinthumule Correctional Center in the Republic of South Africa under a 25-year management contract which 
commenced in February 2002. On October 29, 2008, the Company, along with one other joint venture partner, executed a 
Sale of Shares Agreement for the purchase of a portion of the remaining non-controlling shares of SACM which changed 
the Company’s share in the profits of the joint venture from 76.25% to 88.75%. All of the non-controlling shares of the 
third joint venture partner were allocated between the Company and the second joint venture partner on a pro rata basis 
based on their respective ownership percentages. As a result of the share purchase the Company recognized $1.9 million 
in amortizable intangible assets. The minority interest in income of consolidated subsidiary represents the portion of the 
consolidated net income of the joint venture that is attributable to the joint venture partner.
 
Revenue Recognition
In accordance with Staff Accounting Bulletin (“SAB”) No. 101, “Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements”, as 
amended by SAB No. 104, “Revenue Recognition”, and related interpretations, facility management revenues are 
recognized as services are provided under facility management contracts with approved government appropriations 
based on a net rate per day per inmate or on a fixed monthly rate. Certain of the Company’s contracts have provisions 
upon which a portion of the revenue is based on its performance of certain targets, as defined in the specific contract. 

In these cases, the Company recognizes revenue when the amounts are fixed and determinable and the time period over 
which the conditions have been satisfied has lapsed. In many instances, the Company is party to more than one contract 
with a single entity. In these instances, each contract is accounted for separately.
 
Project development and design revenues are recognized as earned on a percentage of completion basis measured by the 
percentage of costs incurred to date as compared to estimated total cost for each contract. This method is used because the 
Company considers costs incurred to date to be the best available measure of progress on these contracts. Provisions for 
estimated losses on uncompleted contracts and changes to cost estimates are made in the period in which the Company 
determines that such losses and changes are probable. Typically, the Company enters into fixed price contracts and does 
not perform additional work unless approved change orders are in place. Costs attributable to unapproved change orders 
are expensed in the period in which the costs are incurred if the Company believes that it is not probable that the costs 
will be recovered through a change in the contract price. If the Company believes that it is probable that the costs will 
be recovered through a change in contract price, costs related to unapproved change orders are expensed in the period 
in which they are incurred, and contract revenue is recognized to the extent of the costs incurred. Revenue in excess 
of the costs attributable to unapproved change orders is not recognized until the change order is approved. Contract 
costs include all direct material and labor costs and those indirect costs related to contract performance. Changes in job 
performance, job conditions, and estimated profitability, including those arising from contract penalty provisions, and 
final contract settlements, may result in revisions to estimated costs and income, and are recognized in the period in 
which the revisions are determined.
 
When evaluating multiple element arrangements, the Company follows the provisions of Emerging Issues Task Force 
(EITF) Issue 00-21, Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables (EITF 00-21). EITF 00-21 provides guidance on 
determining if separate contracts should be evaluated as a single arrangement and if an arrangement involves a single 
unit of accounting or separate units of accounting and if the arrangement is determined to have separate units, how 
to allocate amounts received in the arrangement for revenue recognition purposes. In instances where the Company 
provides project development services and subsequent management services, the amount of the consideration from 
an arrangement is allocated to the delivered element based on the residual method and the elements are recognized as 
revenue when revenue recognition criteria for each element is met. The fair value of the undelivered elements of an 
arrangement is based on specific objective evidence.
 
Lease Revenue
In connection with the CPT acquisition in January 2007, the Company took ownership of two facilities that had existing 
leases with unrelated third parties. As a result of the ownership in these two leased facilities, the Company acts as the 
lessor relative to these two properties. The first lease has an initial term which expires in July 2013 with an option to 
terminate in July 2010. The second lease has a term of ten years and expires in January 2018. Both of these leases have 
options to extend for up to three additional five-year terms. The carrying value of these assets included in property and 
equipment at December 28, 2008 was $53.0 million, net of accumulated depreciation of $2.2 million. The Company also 
receives a small amount of rental income related to the sublease of an office space for which both the sublease and the 
Company’s obligation under the original lease expire November 2010. Rental income received on these leases for the 
fiscal year ended December 28, 2008 was $5.7 million.
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    Fiscal Year                                                                      Annual Rental  
              (In thousands)  
         
  2009         $ 5,924  
  2010           5,324  
  2011           4,358  
  2012           4,489  
  2013           4,623  
  Thereafter                    20,357  
               $         45,075  
         
 
Income Taxes
The Company accounts for income taxes in accordance with FAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes” (“FAS 109”) 
as clarified by Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Interpretation No. 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty 
in Income Taxes (“FIN 48”). Under this method, deferred income taxes are determined based on the estimated future 
tax effects of differences between the financial statement and tax basis of assets and liabilities given the provisions of 
enacted tax laws. Deferred income tax provisions and benefits are based on changes to the assets or liabilities from 
year to year. In providing for deferred taxes, the Company considers tax regulations of the jurisdictions in which it 
operates, estimates of future taxable income and available tax planning strategies. If tax regulations, operating results or 
the ability to implement tax-planning strategies varies, adjustments to the carrying value of the deferred tax assets and 
liabilities may be required. Valuation allowances are based on the “more likely than not” criteria of FAS 109.
 
FIN 48 requires that the Company recognize the financial statement benefit of a tax position only after determining that 
the relevant tax authority would more likely than not sustain the position following an audit. For tax positions meeting 
the more-likely- than-not threshold, the amount recognized in the financial statements is the largest benefit that has a 
greater than 50 percent likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settlement with the relevant tax authority.
 
Earnings Per Share
Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing net income by the weighted-average number of common shares 
outstanding. The calculation of diluted earnings per share is similar to that of basic earnings per share, except that the 
denominator includes dilutive common share equivalents such as share options and restricted shares.
 
Direct Finance Leases
The Company accounts for the portion of its contracts with certain governmental agencies that represent capitalized 
lease payments on buildings and equipment as investments in direct finance leases. Accordingly, the minimum lease 
payments to be received over the term of the leases less unearned income are capitalized as the Company’s investments 
in the leases. Unearned income is recognized as income over the term of the leases using the effective interest method.

Reserves for Insurance Losses
The nature of the Company’s business exposes it to various types of third-party legal claims, including, but not limited 
to, civil rights claims relating to conditions of confinement and/or mistreatment, sexual misconduct claims brought by 
prisoners or detainees, medical malpractice claims, claims relating to employment matters (including, but not limited to, 
employment discrimination claims, union grievances and wage and hour claims), property loss claims, environmental 
claims, automobile liability claims, contractual claims and claims for personal injury or other damages resulting from 
contact with the Company’s facilities, programs, personnel or prisoners, including damages arising from a prisoner’s 
escape or from a disturbance or riot at a facility. In addition, the Company’s management contracts generally require 
it to indemnify the governmental agency against any damages to which the governmental agency may be subject in 
connection with such claims or litigation. The Company maintains insurance coverage for these general types of claims, 
except for claims relating to employment matters, for which it carries no insurance.
 

The Company currently maintains a general liability policy and excess liability coverage policy for all U.S. corrections 
operations with limits of $62.0 million per occurrence and in the aggregate, including a specific loss limit for medical 
professional liability of $35.0 million. The Company’s wholly owned subsidiary, GEO Care, Inc., is separately insured 
for general liability and medical professional liability with a specific loss limit of $35.0 million per occurrence and in 
the aggregate. The Company also maintains insurance to cover property and other casualty risks including, workers’ 
compensation, medical malpractice, environmental liability and automobile liability. For most casualty insurance 
policies, the Company carries substantial deductibles or self-insured retentions — $3.0 million per occurrence for 
general liability and hospital professional liability, $2.0 million per occurrence for workers’ compensation and $1.0 
million per occurrence for automobile liability. The Company’s Australian subsidiary is required to carry tail insurance 
on a general liability policy providing an extended reporting period through 2011 related to a discontinued contract. 
The Company also carries various types of insurance with respect to its operations in South Africa, United Kingdom 
and Australia. There can be no assurance that the Company’s insurance coverage will be adequate to cover all claims to 
which it may be exposed.
 
In addition, certain of the Company’s facilities located in Florida and determined by insurers to be in high-risk hurricane 
areas carry substantial windstorm deductibles. Since hurricanes are considered unpredictable future events, no reserves 
have been established to pre-fund for potential windstorm damage. Limited commercial availability of certain types of 
insurance relating to windstorm exposure in coastal areas and earthquake exposure mainly in California may prevent the 
Company from insuring some of its facilities to full replacement value.
 
Since the Company’s insurance policies generally have high deductible amounts or retentions, losses are recorded when 
reported and a further provision is made to cover losses incurred but not reported. Loss reserves are undiscounted and 
are computed based on independent actuarial studies. Because the Company is significantly self-insured, the amount of 
its insurance expense is dependent on its claims experience and its ability to control claims experience. If actual losses 
related to insurance claims significantly differ from management’s estimates, the Company’s financial condition and 
results of operations could be materially adversely impacted.
 
Debt Issuance Costs
Debt issuance costs totaling $9.6 million and $7.8 million at December 28, 2008, and December 30, 2007, respectively, 
are included in other non-current assets in the consolidated balance sheets and are amortized to interest expense using 
the effective interest method, over the term of the related debt.
 
Comprehensive Income
The Company’s comprehensive income is comprised of net income, foreign currency translation adjustments, net 
unrealized loss on derivative instruments, and pension liability adjustments in the Consolidated Statements of 
Shareholders’ Equity and Comprehensive Income.
 
Concentration of Credit Risk
Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist principally of cash 
and cash equivalents, trade accounts receivable, direct finance lease receivable, long-term debt and financial instruments 
used in hedging activities. The Company’s cash management and investment policies restrict investments to low-risk, 
highly liquid securities, and the Company performs periodic evaluations of the credit standing of the financial institutions 
with which it deals. As of December 28, 2008, and December 30, 2007, the Company had no significant concentrations 
of credit risk except as disclosed in Note 15.
 
Foreign Currency Translation
The Company’s foreign operations use their local currencies as their functional currencies. Assets and liabilities of the 
operations are translated at the exchange rates in effect on the balance sheet date and shareholders’ equity is translated at 
historical rates. Income statement items are translated at the average exchange rates for the year. The impact of foreign 
currency fluctuation is included in shareholders’ equity as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income, 
net of income tax, and totaled $10.7 million, $2.9 million and $3.8 million for the fiscal years ended December 28, 2008, 
December 30, 2007 and December 31, 2006, respectively. The cumulative income (loss) on foreign currency translation 
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recorded as a component of shareholders’ equity as of December 28, 2008 and December 30, 2007 was ($5.8) million 
and $4.9 million, respectively.
 
Vacation Policy
The Company accounts for its vacation expense in accordance with FAS 43, “Accounting for Compensated Absences”. 
Certain of the Company’s employees are permitted to carry forward vacation from year to year provided that the 
Company’s obligation to compensate employees for absences relates to rights attributable to services already rendered, 
the compensated absences relate to time that vests and accumulates and payment is probable and reasonably estimable. 
Accrued expense for employee rights to receive payment for compensated absences is included in the accompanying 
balance sheets in accrued payroll and related taxes. During the fiscal year ended December 28, 2008, the Company 
changed its vacation policy for certain employees which conformed to a fiscal year-end based policy. Under the new 
policy, these employees are permitted to use vacation regardless of their service rendered but within the fiscal year. Since 
this vacation is not carried over from year to year, it is not longer accrued by the Company. The Company’s vacation 
expense for the fiscal year ended December 28, 2008 was $3.7 million less than the Company’s vacation expense for the 
fiscal year ended December 30, 2007. This decrease in expense is primarily attributable to this change.
 
Fair Value Measurements
The Company partially adopted FAS No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements” on December 31, 2007 (see discussion on 
FASB FSP 157-2 following). This Statement establishes a framework for measuring fair value in accordance with 
GAAP and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. The Company determines fair value based on quoted 
market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. If quoted market prices are not available, the Company 
uses valuation techniques that place greater reliance on observable inputs and less reliance on unobservable inputs. In 
measuring fair value, the Company may make adjustments for risks and uncertainties, if a market participant would 
include such an adjustment in pricing. Relative to FAS 157, in February 2008, the FASB issued FSP FAS 157-2, 
“Effective Date of FASB Statement No. 157” (“FSP 157-2”) to provide a one-year deferral of the effective date of FAS 
157 for non-financial assets and non-financial liabilities. This FSP defers the effective date of FAS 157 to fiscal years 
beginning after November 15, 2008, and interim periods within those fiscal years for items within the scope of this FSP. 
As a result of the issuance of FSP 157-2, the Company elected to defer the adoption of FAS 157 for non-financial assets 
and non-financial liabilities. The Company does not expect that the adoption of this standard for non-financial assets and 
liabilities will have a significant impact on its financial condition, results of operations or cash flows. See Note 9.

Financial Instruments
In accordance with FAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities,” and its related 
interpretations and amendments, the Company records derivatives as either assets or liabilities on the balance sheet and 
measures those instruments at fair value. For derivatives that are designed as and qualify as effective cash flow hedges, 
the portion of gain or loss on the derivative instrument effective at offsetting changes in the hedged item is reported as 
a component of accumulated other comprehensive income and reclassified into earnings when the hedged transaction 
affects earnings. Total accumulated other comprehensive income, net of tax, related to these cash flow hedges was $0.1 
million and $5.0 million as of December 28, 2008 and December 30, 2007, respectively. For derivative instruments that 
are designated as and qualify as effective fair value hedges, the gain or loss on the derivative instrument as well as the 
offsetting gain or loss on the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk is recognized in current earnings as interest 
income (expense) during the period of the change in fair values.
 
The Company formally documents all relationships between hedging instruments and hedge items, as well as its risk-
management objective and strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions. This process includes attributing all 
derivatives that are designated as cash flow hedges to floating rate liabilities and attributing all derivatives that are 
designated as fair value hedges to fixed rate liabilities. The Company also assesses whether each derivative is highly 
effective in offsetting changes in the cash flows of the hedged item. Fluctuations in the value of the derivative instruments 
are generally offset by changes in the hedged item; however, if it is determined that a derivative is not highly effective 
as a hedge or if a derivative ceases to be a highly effective hedge, the Company will discontinue hedge accounting 
prospectively for the affected derivative.
 

Stock-Based Compensation Expense 
The Company recognizes stock based compensation expense in accordance with FAS No. 123R, “Share-Based 
Payment”. Accordingly, the Company recognizes the cost of employee services received in exchange for awards of 
equity instruments based upon the grant date fair value of those awards. The Company uses a Black-Scholes option 
valuation model to estimate the fair value of each option awarded. The impact of forfeitures that may occur prior to 
vesting is also estimated and considered in the amount recognized.
 
The fair value of stock-based awards was estimated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the following 
weighted average assumptions for fiscal years ending 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively:
 
                         
            2008         2007             2006  
                         
Risk free interest rates       2.87 %                             4.8 %                    4.65 %
Expected term         4-5  years    4-5  years                 3-4  years  
Expected volatility          41 %                   40 %                       41 %
Expected dividend            —           —     —  
 
Expected volatilities are based on the historical and implied volatility of the Company’s common stock. The Company 
uses historical data to estimate award exercises and employee terminations within the valuation model. The expected 
term of the awards represents the period of time that awards granted are expected to be outstanding and is based on 
historical data and expected holding periods. The risk-free rate is based on the rate for five year U.S. Treasury Bonds, 
which is consistent with the expected term of the awards. See Note 2.
 
Recent Accounting Pronouncements 
In December 2008, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position (FSP) FAS 140-4 and FIN 46(R)-8, Disclosures by Public 
Entities (Enterprises) about Transfers of Financial Assets and Interests in Variable Interest Entities. The document 
increases disclosure requirements for public companies and is effective for reporting periods (interim and annual) that 
end after December 15, 2008. This FSP amends FASB Statement No. 140, Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of 
Financial Assets and Extinguishments of Liabilities, to require public entities to provide additional disclosures about 
transfers of financial assets. It also amends FASB Interpretation No. 46 (revised December 2003), Consolidation of 
Variable Interest Entities, to require public enterprises, including sponsors that have a variable interest in a variable 
interest entity, to provide additional disclosures about their involvement with variable interest entities. The Company 
adopted this standard in the reporting period ended December 28, 2008 and its impact was not material on the Company’s 
financial position, results of operations or its financial statement disclosures.
 
In May 2008, the FASB issued FAS No. 162, The Hierarchy of Generally Accepted Accounting Principles” which 
identifies the sources of accounting principles and the framework for selecting the principles to be used in the preparation 
of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) in the United States (the 
GAAP hierarchy). This statement is effective 60 days following the SEC’s approval of the Public Company Accounting 
Oversight Board amendments to AU Section 411, “ The Meaning of  Present Fairly in Conformity With Generally 
Accepted Accounting Principles”. The Company does not expect that the adoption of this pronouncement will have a 
significant impact on its financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.
 
In April 2008, the FASB issued Financial Staff Position 142-3, “Determination of the Useful Life of Intangible Assets” 
(“FSP 142-3”) which amends the factors that must be considered when developing renewal or extension assumptions 
used to determine the useful life over which to amortize the cost of a recognized intangible asset under FAS 142, 
“Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets”. This statement amends paragraph 11(d) of FAS 142 to require an entity to 
consider its own assumptions about renewal or extension of the term of the arrangement, consistent with its expected 
use of the asset. This statement is effective for financial statements in fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008. 
The Company does not expect that the adoption of this pronouncement will have a significant impact on its financial 
condition, results of operations or cash flows.
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In March 2008, the FASB issued FAS No. 161, “Disclosures about Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities, an 
amendment of FASB Statement No. 133” (“FAS 161”). FAS 161 applies to all derivative instruments accounted for 
under FAS 133 and requires entities to provide greater transparency about (i) how and why an entity uses derivative 
instruments, (ii) how derivative instruments are accounted for under FAS 133 and related interpretations, and (iii) how 
derivative instruments and related hedged items affect an entity’s financial position, results of operations and cash flows. 
This guidance is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years and interim periods beginning after November 
15, 2008 with early adoption encouraged. The Company does not expect that the adoption of this pronouncement will 
have a significant impact on its financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.
 
In December 2007, the FASB issued FAS No. 141(R) “Applying the Acquisition Method” (“FAS 141R”), which is 
effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008. This statement retains the fundamental requirements in 
FAS 141 that the acquisition method be used for all business combinations and for an acquirer to be identified for each 
business combination. FAS 141R broadens the scope of FAS 141 by requiring application of the purchase method of 
accounting to transactions in which one entity establishes control over another entity without necessarily transferring 
consideration, even if the acquirer has not acquired 100% of its target. Among other changes, FAS 141R applies the 
concept of fair value and “more likely than not” criteria to accounting for contingent consideration, and preacquisition 
contingencies. As a result of implementing the new standard, since transaction costs would not be an element of fair 
value of the target, they will not be considered part of the fair value of the acquirer’s interest and will be expensed as 
incurred. The Company does not expect that the impact of this standard will have a significant effect on its financial 
condition, results of operations and cash flows.
 
In December 2007, the FASB issued FAS No. 160, “Accounting for Noncontrolling Interests” (FAS 160), which is 
effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008. In December 2008, the FASB also issued EITF 08-
10 “Selected Statement 160 Implementation Questions”. FAS 160 amends ARB No. clarifies the classification of 
noncontrolling interests in the consolidated statements of financial position and the accounting for and reporting of 
transactions between the reporting entity and the holders of non-controlling interests. The Company does not expect 
that the adoption of this standard will have a significant impact on its financial condition, results of operations and cash 
flows.
 

2.  Equity Incentive Plans 
In accordance with the modified prospective method of adoption under FAS No. 123R, “Share-based Payment” (“FAS 
123R”), the Company recognizes compensation cost for all stock options granted after January 1, 2006, plus any prior 
awards granted to employees that remained unvested at that time, using a Black-Scholes option valuation model to 
estimate the fair value of each option awarded. The Company regularly reviews its actual forfeitures to determine future 
estimates. The impact of forfeitures that may occur prior to vesting is also estimated and considered in the amount 
recognized.
 
The Company had awards outstanding under four equity compensation plans at December 28, 2008: The Wackenhut 
Corrections Corporation 1994 Stock Option Plan (the “1994 Plan”); the 1995 Non-Employee Director Stock Option 
Plan (the “1995 Plan”); the Wackenhut Corrections Corporation 1999 Stock Option Plan (the “1999 Plan”); and The 
GEO Group, Inc. 2006 Stock Incentive Plan (the “2006 Plan” and, together with the 1994 Plan, the 1995 Plan and the 
1999 Plan, the “Company Plans”).
 
On May 1, 2007, the Company’s Board of Directors adopted and its shareholders approved several amendments to 
the 2006 Plan, including an amendment providing for the issuance of an additional 500,000 shares of the Company’s 
common stock which increased the total amount available for grant to 1,400,000 shares pursuant to awards granted under 
the plan and specifying that up to 300,000 of such additional shares may constitute awards other than stock options and 
stock appreciation rights, including shares of restricted stock. See “Restricted Stock” below for further discussion.

Except for 750,000 shares of restricted stock issued under the 2006 Plan as of December 28, 2008, all of the foregoing 
awards previously issued under the Company Plans consist of stock options. Although awards are currently outstanding 
under all of the Company Plans, the Company may only grant new awards under the 2006 Plan. As of December 28, 
2008, the Company had the ability to issue awards with respect to 58,157 shares of common stock pursuant to the 2006 
Plan.
 
Under the terms of the Company Plans, the vesting period and, in the case of stock options, the exercise price per 
share, are determined by the terms of each plan. All stock options that have been granted under the Company Plans 
are exercisable at the fair market value of the common stock at the date of the grant. Generally, the stock options vest 
and become exercisable ratably over a four-year period, beginning immediately on the date of the grant. However, 
the Board of Directors has exercised its discretion to grant stock options that vest 100% immediately for the Chief 
Executive Officer. In addition, stock options granted to non-employee directors under the 1995 Plan became exercisable 
immediately. All stock options awarded under the Company Plans expire no later than ten years after the date of the 
grant.
 

A summary of the activity of the Company’s stock options plans is presented below:
 
                              
 

The aggregate intrinsic value in the table above represents the total pretax intrinsic value (i.e., the difference between 
the company’s closing stock price on the last trading day of fiscal year 2008 and the exercise price, times the number of 
shares that are “in the money”) that would have been received by the option holders had all option holders exercised their 
options on December 28, 2008. This amount changes based on the fair value of the company’s stock. The total intrinsic 
value of options exercised during the fiscal years ended December 28, 2008, December 30, 2007, and December 31, 
2006 was $2.9 million, $6.2 million, and $9.5 million respectively.
 
For the years ended December 28, 2008 and December 30, 2007 and December 31, 2006, the amount of stock-based 
compensation expense related to stock options was $1.5 million, $0.9 million and $0.4 million, respectively. The 
weighted average grant date fair value of options granted during the fiscal years ended December 28, 2008, December 
30, 2007 and December 31, 2006 was $6.58, $8.73 and $3.22 per share, respectively.
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The following table summarizes the status of the Company’s non-vested shares as of December 28, 2008 and changes 
during the fiscal year ending December 28, 2008:
   
                                                        Wtd. Avg. Grant  
        Number of Shares  Date Fair Value  
                 
Options non-vested at December 30, 2007              397,662     $     7.94  
Granted                  254,000           6.60  
Vested                (189,146)                      6.28  
Forfeited                 (35,800)                    11.49  
Options non-vested at December 28, 2008               426,716     $     7.58  
                 
 
As of December 28, 2008, the Company had $2.6 million of unrecognized compensation costs related to non-vested 
stock option awards that are expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 2.8 years. The total fair value 
of shares vested during the fiscal years ended December 28, 2008, December 30, 2007 and December 31, 2006, was $1.2 
million, $1.2 million, and $0.6 million respectively. Proceeds received from stock options exercises for 2008, 2007 and 
2006 was $0.8 million, $1.2 million and $5.4 million, respectively. Tax benefits realized from tax deductions associated 
with option exercises and restricted stock activity for 2008, 2007 and 2006 totaled $0.8 million, $3.1 million and $2.8 
million, respectively.
 
The following table summarizes information about the exercise prices and related information of stock options 
outstanding under the Company Plans at December 28, 2008:

 

Restricted Stock 
Shares of restricted stock become unrestricted shares of common stock upon vesting on a one-for-one basis. The cost 
of these awards is determined using the fair value of the Company’s common stock on the date of the grant and 
compensation expense is recognized over the vesting period. The shares of restricted stock granted under the 2006 Plan 
vest in equal 25% increments on each of the four anniversary dates immediately following the date of grant. A summary 
of the activity of restricted stock is as follows:
 
                 
               Shares         
                 
Restricted stock outstanding at December 30, 2007     626,512     $ 19.14  
Granted             24,228       26.66  
Vested                     (176,600)                  18.27  
Forfeited/Canceled         (48,456)     22.48   
Restricted stock outstanding at December 28, 2008     425,684     $ 19.54  
                 
 
During the fiscal year ended December 28, 2008, December 30, 2007 and December 31, 2006, the Company recognized 
$3.0 million, $2.5 million and $1.0 million, respectively, of compensation expense related to its outstanding shares of 
restricted stock. As of December 28, 2008, the Company had $6.5 million of unrecognized compensation expense that 
is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 1.9 years.
 
   
3.  Discontinued Operations
Under the provisions of FAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets”, the 
termination of any of the Company’s management contracts by expiration or otherwise, may result in the classification 
of the operating results of such facility, net of taxes, as a discontinued operation, so long as the financial results can be 
clearly identified, and so long as the Company does not have any significant continuing involvement in the operations 
of the component after the disposal or termination transaction. As of and during the fiscal years ended December 28, 
2008, December 30, 2007 and December 31, 2006, the Company discontinued operations at certain of its domestic and 
international subsidiaries. The results of operations, net of taxes, and the assets and liabilities of these operations, each 
as further described below, have been reflected in the accompanying consolidated financial statements as discontinued 
operations in accordance with FAS 144 for the fiscal years ended 2008, 2007, and 2006. Assets, primarily consisting of 
accounts receivable, and liabilities have been presented separately in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets for 
all periods presented.
 
U.S. corrections.  On November 7, 2008, the Company announced its receipt of notice for the discontinuation of its 
contract with the State of Idaho, Department of Correction (“Idaho DOC”) for the housing of approximately 305 out-of-
state inmates at the managed-only Bill Clayton Detention Center (the “Detention Center”) effective January 5, 2009. On 
August 29, 2008, the Company announced its discontinuation of its contract with Delaware County, Pennsylvania for the 
management of the county-owned 1,883-bed George W. Hill Correctional Facility effective December 31, 2008.
 
International services.  On December 22, 2008, the Company announced the closure of its U.K.-based transportation 
division, Recruitment Solutions International (“RSI”). The Company purchased RSI, which provided transportation 
services to The Home Office Nationality and Immigration Directorate, for approximately $2.0 million in 2006. As a 
result of the termination of its transportation business in the United Kingdom, the company wrote off assets of $2.6 
million including goodwill of $2.3 million.
 
GEO Care.  On June 16, 2008, the Company announced the discontinuation by mutual agreement of its contract with 
the State of New Mexico Department of Health for the management of Fort Bayard Medical Center effective June 30, 
2008. On January 1, 2006, the Company completed the sale of Atlantic Shores Hospital, a 72 bed private mental health 
hospital which the Company owned and operated since 1997, for approximately $11.5 million.
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The following are the revenues related to discontinued operations for the periods presented:
 
                         
         2008     2007     2006  
                 (In thousands)  
Revenues — International services                              $      1,806         $      2,326           $      414  
Revenues — U.S. corrections                43,784               42,617                 38,684  
Revenues — GEO Care                   1,806      4,546     3,345  
 
   

4.  Property and Equipment
 
Property and equipment consist of the following at fiscal year end:
 
                         
              2008     2007  
         (Years)                             (In thousands)  
Land             —         $      49,686           $    43,340  
Buildings and improvements      2 to 40                  765,103                635,809  
Leasehold improvements       1 to 15      68,845       57,737  
Equipment        3 to 10      55,007      44,895  
Furniture and fixtures         3 to 7          9,033        6,819  
Facility construction in progress              56,574       87,987  
                     $  1,004,248           $   876,587  
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization                 (125,632)               (93,224)
                        $ 878,616           $ 783,363  
                         
 
The Company’s construction in progress primarily consists of development costs associated with the Facility construction 
and design segment for contracts with various federal, state and local agencies for which we have management contracts. 
Interest capitalized in property and equipment was $4.3 million and $2.9 million for the fiscal years ended December 
28, 2008 and December 30, 2007, respectively.
 
Depreciation expense was $31.9 million, $29.8 million and $19.2 million for the fiscal years ended December 28, 2008, 
December 30, 2007 and December 31, 2006, respectively.
 
At both December 28, 2008 and December 30, 2007, the Company had $18.2 million of assets recorded under capital 
leases including $17.5 million related to buildings and improvements, $0.6 million related to equipment $0.1 million 
related to leasehold improvements. Accumulated amortization of $3.1 million and $2.2 million, at December 28, 2008 
and December 30, 2007, respectively, is included in Depreciation and Amortization in the accompanying consolidated 
statements of income. Depreciation expense of capital leases for the fiscal years ended December 28, 2008, December 
30, 2007 and December 31, 2006 was $0.9 million, $1.0 million and $1.2 million, respectively.
 

   

5.  Assets Held for Sale 
The Company’s assets held for sale consist of two assets. On March 17, 2008, the Company purchased its former Coke 
County Juvenile Justice Center and the related land at a cost of $3.1 million. The Company’s intention was to retain the 
facility and the related land for future business purposes and as such, no formal plan was entered into for the sale of 
the asset. In October 2008, the company established a formal plan to sell the asset. Secondly, in conjunction with the 

acquisition of CSC, the Company acquired land and a building associated with a program that had been discontinued by 
CSC in October 2003. These assets which are included within the segment assets of U.S. Corrections, meet the criteria 
to be classified as held for sale per the guidance of FAS 144, and have been recorded at their net realizable value of $4.3 
million at December 28, 2008. No depreciation has been recorded related to these assets in accordance with FAS 144.

6.  Investment in Direct Finance Leases 
The Company’s investment in direct finance leases relates to the financing and management of one Australian facility. 
The Company’s wholly-owned Australian subsidiary financed the facility’s development with long-term debt obligations, 
which are non-recourse to the Company.
 
The future minimum rentals to be received are as follows:

 
 

7.  Derivative Financial Instruments 
The Company’s primary objective in holding derivatives is to reduce the volatility of earnings and cash flows associated 
with changes in interest rates. The Company measures its derivative financial instruments at fair value in accordance 
with FAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities,” and its related interpretations and 
amendments.
 
Effective September 18, 2003, the Company entered into two interest rate swap agreements in the aggregate notional 
amount of $50.0 million. The agreements, which have payment and expiration dates and call provisions that coincide 
with the terms of the $150.0 million aggregate principal amount, ten-year, 8 1 / 4 % Senior Unsecured Notes (“Notes”), 
effectively convert $50.0 million of the Notes into variable rate obligations. Under the agreements, the Company receives 
a fixed interest rate payment from the financial counterparties to the agreements equal to 8.25% per year calculated on 
the notional $50.0 million amount, while the Company makes a variable interest rate payment to the same counterparties 
equal to the six-month London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) plus a fixed margin of 3.55%, which was the rate 
at December 28, 2008, also calculated on the notional $50.0 million amount. The Company has designated the swaps 
as hedges against changes in the fair value of a designated portion of the Notes due to changes in underlying interest 
rates. Accordingly, the changes in the fair value of the interest rate swaps are recorded in earnings along with related 
designated changes in the value of the Notes. Total net (losses) gains recognized and recorded in earnings related to 
these fair value hedges were $2.0 million, $1.7 million and ($0.7) million for the fiscal years ended December 28, 2008, 
December 30, 2007 and December 31, 2006, respectively. As of December 28, 2008 and December 30, 2007, the fair 
value of the swaps totaled approximately $2.0 million and $0, respectively, and is included in other non-current assets 
and as an adjustment to the carrying value of the Notes in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. There was no 
material ineffectiveness in this interest rate swap during the period ended December 28, 2008. (See Note 18).
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The Company’s Australian subsidiary is a party to an interest rate swap agreement to fix the interest rate on the variable 
rate non-recourse debt to 9.7%. The Company has determined the swap, which has a notional amount of $50.9 million, 
payment and expiration dates, and call provisions that coincide with the terms of the non-recourse debt to be an effective 
cash flow hedge. Accordingly, the Company records the change in the value of the interest rate swap in accumulated 
other comprehensive income, net of applicable income taxes. Total net (loss) gain recognized in the periods and recorded 
in accumulated other comprehensive income, net of tax, related to these cash flow hedges was ($3.5) million, $1.3 
million and $2.6 million for the fiscal years ended December 28, 2008, December 30, 2007 and December 31, 2006, 
respectively. The total value of the swap asset as of December 28, 2008 and December 30, 2007 was approximately $0.2 
million and $5.8 million, respectively, and is recorded as a component of other assets in the accompanying consolidated 
balance sheets.
 
There was no material ineffectiveness of the Company’s interest rate swaps for the fiscal years presented. The Company 
does not expect to enter into any transactions during the next twelve months which would result in the reclassification into 
earnings or losses associated with this swap currently reported in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss).
 

8.  Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, Net
 
Changes in the Company’s goodwill balances for 2008 were as follows (in thousands):
 
 

 
Recruitment Solutions International (“RSI”).  On December 22, 2008, the Company announced the closure of its 
U.K.-based transportation division, Recruitment Solutions International (“RSI”). The Company purchased RSI, which 
provided transportation services to The Home Office Nationality and Immigration Directorate, for approximately $2.0 
million in 2006. As a result of the termination of the transportation business in the United Kingdom, the Company wrote 
off assets of $2.6 million including the carrying amount of goodwill of $2.3 million. The balance of goodwill is included 
in assets of discontinued operations as of the prior fiscal year ended December 30, 2007.
 
International services goodwill decreased $0.1 million as a result of unfavorable fluctuations in foreign currency 
translation.
 
Intangible assets consisted of the following (in thousands):
 
 

 

During the fiscal year ended December 28, 2008, the Company purchased an additional ownership percentage in its 
consolidated joint venture and accounted for the excess of the purchase price over the value of the minority interest 
in accordance with FAS 141, Business Combinations (“FAS 141”). As a result of the share purchase, the Company 
recorded an amortizable intangible asset of $1.9 million which will be amortized using the straight-line method over the 
life of the contract.
 
Amortization expense was $1.4 million, $1.8 million and $1.4 million for U.S. corrections facility management contracts 
for the fiscal years ended 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively. Amortization expense was $0.4 million, $0.4 million, and 
$0.4 million for U.S. corrections covenants not to compete for the fiscal years ended 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively. 
The Company’s weighted average useful life related to its intangible assets is 12.55 years. Amortization expense is 
recognized on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the intangible assets.
 
In April 2008, we terminated our contract with Tri-County Justice and Detention Center. This management contract 
had an associated intangible asset of $0.1 million which was written off in fiscal 2008. In July 2007, the Company 
cancelled the Operating and Management contract with Dickens County for the management of the 489-bed facility 
located in Spur, Texas. As a result, the Company wrote off its intangible asset related to the facility of $0.4 million (net 
of accumulated amortization of $0.1 million). These impairment charges are included in depreciation and amortization 
expense in the accompanying consolidated statements of income for the fiscal years ended December 28, 2008 and 
December 30, 2007, respectively.
 
Estimated amortization expense for fiscal year 2009 through fiscal year 2013 and thereafter are as follows (in 
thousands):
 

      
Fiscal Year      Amortization      Amortization       Amortization  
                         
2009     $   1,641     $    103     $   1,744  
2010         1,335          103         1,438  
2011         1,335          103         1,438  
2012         1,214          103         1,317  
2013            606          103            709  
Thereafter       4,403       1,344         5,747  
       $ 10,534     $ 1,859     $ 12,393  
                         
 
   

9.  Fair Value of Assets and Liabilities
In February 2007, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued FAS No. 159, “Fair Value Option” which 
provides companies an irrevocable option to report selected financial assets and liabilities at fair value. This Statement 
was effective for entities as of the beginning of the first fiscal year beginning after November 15, 2007. The Company 
did not exercise the irrevocable option to change the reporting for any of its assets or liabilities not already accounted 
for using fair value. There was no impact on the Company’s financial condition, results of operations, cash flows or 
disclosures as a result of the adoption of this standard.
 
In September 2006, the FASB issued FAS No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements,” (“FAS 157”), which is effective for 
fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007 and for interim periods within those years. The Company adopted 
FAS 157 on December 31, 2007 with the exception of the application of the statement to non-recurring non-financial 
assets and non-financial liabilities (see discussion related to FSP 157-2). This statement defines fair value, establishes a 
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framework for measuring fair value and expands the related disclosure requirements. This statement applies under other 
accounting pronouncements that require or permit fair value measurements. FAS 157 establishes a fair value hierarchy 
that prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value into three broad levels which distinguish 
between assumptions based on market data (observable inputs) and the Company’s assumptions (unobservable inputs). 
The level in the fair value hierarchy within which the respective fair value measurement falls is determined based on the 
lowest level input that is significant to the measurement in its entirety. Level 1 inputs are quoted market prices in active 
markets for identical assets or liabilities, Level 2 inputs are other than quotable market prices included in Level 1 that 
are observable for the asset or liability either directly or indirectly through corroboration with observable market data. 
Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the assets or liabilities that reflect management’s own assumptions about the 
assumptions market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability.
 
Relative to FAS 157, in February 2008, the FASB issued FSP FAS 157-2, “Effective Date of FASB Statement No. 157” 
(“FSP 157-2”) to provide a one-year deferral of the effective date of FAS 157 for non-financial assets and non-financial 
liabilities. This FSP defers the effective date of FAS 157 to fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2008, and interim 
periods within those fiscal years for items within the scope of this FSP. As a result of the issuance of FSP 157-2, the 
Company has elected to defer the adoption of this standard for non-financial assets and non-financial liabilities. The 
Company does not expect that the adoption of this standard for non-financial assets and liabilities will have a significant 
impact on its financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.
 
The following table provides the Company’s significant assets carried at fair value measured on a recurring basis as of 
December 28, 2008 (in thousands):
 
 

Valuation technique 
The Company’s assets carried at fair value on a recurring basis consist of interest rate swap derivative assets, U.S. dollar 
denominated money market accounts and long-term investments. Where applicable, the Company uses quoted prices in 
active markets for identical assets to determine fair value. This pricing methodology applies to the Company’s Level 1 
U.S. dollar denominated money market accounts. If quoted prices in active markets for identical assets are not available 
to determine fair value, then the Company uses quoted prices for similar assets or inputs other than the quoted prices that 
are observable either directly or indirectly. These investments are included in Level 2 and consist of interest rate swap 
derivative assets and a long-term investments. The changes in value of the money market accounts, long term investment 
and the fair value interest rate swaps are recorded in interest income or expense. Changes in the value of the Company’s 
cash flow hedge are recorded in other comprehensive income. The net unrealized gain (loss) in the cash flow hedges for 
the years ended December 28, 2008, December 30, 2007 and December 31, 2006 were ($3.5) million, $1.3 million and 
$2.6 million respectively. The Company does not have any Level 3 assets or liabilities upon which the value is based on 
unobservable inputs reflecting the Company’s assumptions.
 
The Company does not have any assets and liabilities it measures at fair value on a non-recurring basis other than those 
assets that are assessed for impairment under the provisions of FAS No. 144. There are no assets or liabilities that the 
Company recognizes or discloses at fair value for which the entity has not applied the provisions of FAS No. 157. The 
Company did not record any significant impairment charges to long-lived assets during the fiscal years 2008, 2007 and 
2006. See Notes 3 and 8.
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10.  Accrued Expenses
Accrued expenses consisted of the following (dollars in thousands):
 
          2008          2007  
                 
Accrued interest         $ 8,539        $     8,586  
Accrued bonus           7,838         8,687  
Accrued insurance                    30,261      29,099  
Accrued taxes           8,783         8,368  
Construction retainage          7,866       11,897  
Other                      19,155      18,861  
Total                      $         82,442        $   85,498  
                 
 
   

11.  Debt 
Debt consisted of the following (dollars in thousands):
 
                   2008          2007  
                 
Capital Lease Obligations       $         15,800        $   16,621  
Senior Credit Facility:                
Term loan                   158,613      162,263  
Revolver                     74,000            
  Total Senior Credit Facility                   $       232,613        $ 162,263  
Senior 81/4% Notes:                      
Notes Due in 2013                150,000    150,000
Discount on Notes                  (2,553)     (2,984)
Swap on Notes         2,010           (6)
  Total Senior 81/4% Notes      $       149,457       $       147,010
Non-Recourse Debt:
Non-recourse debt       $       116,505       $       140,926
Discount on bonds                  (2,298)     (2,973)
Total non-recourse debt                114,207   137,953
Other debt             56            83
Total debt        $       512,133       $       463,930
Current portion of capital lease obligations, 
long-term debt and non-recourse debt              (17,925)   (17,477)
Capital lease obligations, long-term portion             (15,126)   (15,800)
Non-recourse debt              (100,634)             (124,975)
Long-term debt        $       378,448       $ 305,678

The Senior Credit Facility 
On October 29, 2008 and again on November 20, 2008, the Company exercised the accordion feature of its Senior 
Secured Credit Facility, which was amended on August 26, 2008 (see discussion below), to add $85.0 million and an 
additional $5.0 million, respectively, for a total of $90.0 million in additional borrowing capacity under the revolving 
portion of the Senior Credit Facility. As of December 28, 2008, the Senior Credit Facility consisted of a $365.0 million, 
seven-year term loan (“Term Loan B”), and a $240.0 million five-year revolver which expires September 14, 2010 (the 
“Revolver”). The interest rate for the Term Loan B is LIBOR plus 1.5% (the weighted average rate on outstanding 
borrowings under the Term Loan portion of the facility as of December 28, 2008 was 3.16%). The Revolver currently 
bears interest at LIBOR plus 2.0% or at the base rate (prime rate) plus 1.0%. The weighted average interest rate on 
outstanding borrowings under the Senior Credit Facility was 3.24% as of December 28, 2008.
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As of December 28, 2008, the Company had $158.6 million outstanding under the Term Loan B, and the Company’s 
$240.0 million Revolver had $74.0 million outstanding in loans, $44.7 million outstanding in letters of credit and $121.3 
million available for borrowings. The Company intends to use future borrowings from the Revolver for the purposes 
permitted under the Senior Credit Facility, including for general corporate purposes.
 
Indebtedness under the Revolver bears interest in each of the instances below at the stated rate:

          Interest Rate under the Revolver
     
LIBOR borrowings       LIBOR plus 1.50% to 2.50%.
Base rate borrowings       Prime rate plus 0.50% to 1.50%.
Letters of credit        1.50% to 2.50%.
Available borrowings       0.38% to 0.50%.
 
On August 26, 2008, the Company completed a fourth amendment to its senior secured credit facility through the execution 
of Amendment No. 4 to the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement (“Amendment No. 4”) between the Company, as 
Borrower, certain of the Company’s subsidiaries, as Grantors, and BNP Paribas, as Lender and as Administrative Agent 
(collectively, the “Senior Credit Facility” or the “Credit Agreement”). As further described below, Amendment No. 4 
revises certain leverage ratios, eliminates the fixed charge ratio, adds a new interest coverage ratio and sets forth new 
capital expenditure limits under the Credit Agreement. Additionally, Amendment No. 4 permits the Company to add 
incremental borrowings under the accordion feature of the Senior Credit Facility of up to $150.0 million on or prior to 
December 31, 2008 and up to an additional $150.0 million after December 31, 2008. Amendment No. 4 does not require 
any lenders to make any new borrowings under the accordion feature but simply provides a mechanism under the Senior 
Credit Facility after December 31, 2008 for the Company to incur such borrowings without requiring further lender 
consent. Any additional borrowings by the Company under the accordion feature of the Senior Credit Facility, whether 
as revolving borrowings or incremental term loans as permitted in the Amendment No. 4, would be subject to lender 
demand and market conditions and may not be available to the Company on satisfactory terms, or at all. The Company 
believes that this amendment may provide additional flexibility if and when it should decide to activate the accordion 
feature of the Senior Credit Facility beginning on January 1, 2009.
 
In 2008, the Company paid $1.0 million and $2.6 million of debt issuance costs related to the Amendment No. 4 and 
to the exercise of the accordion feature, respectively, which will be amortized over the remaining term of the Revolver 
portion of the Senior Credit Facility.
 
Amendment No. 4 to the Credit Agreement requires the Company to maintain the following Total Leverage Ratios, as 
computed at the end of each fiscal quarter for the immediately preceding four quarter-period:
 
Period          Total Leverage Ratio  
         
Through the penultimate day of fiscal year 2009       < 4.50 to 1.00  
From the last day of the fiscal year 2009 through         
the penultimate day of fiscal year 2010       < 4.25 to 1.00
From the last day of the fiscal year 2010 through         
the penultimate day of fiscal year 2011       < 3.25 to 1.00
Thereafter           < 3.00 to 1.00  

Amendment No. 4 to the Credit Agreement also requires the Company to maintain the following Senior Secured Leverage 
Ratios, as computed at the end of each fiscal quarter for the immediately preceding four quarter-period:
 
Period         Senior Secured Leverage Ratio  
         
Through the penultimate day of fiscal year 2010     < 3.25 to 1.00  
From the last day of the fiscal year 2010 through       
the penultimate day of fiscal year 2011     < 2.25 to 1.00
Thereafter         < 2.00 to 1.00  
 
In addition, Amendment No. 4 to the Credit Agreement adds a new interest coverage ratio which requires the Company 
to maintain a ratio of EBITDA (as such term is defined in the Credit Agreement) to Interest Expense (as such term is 
defined in the Credit Agreement) payable in cash of no less than 3.00 to 1.00, as computed at the end of each fiscal 
quarter for the immediately preceding four quarter-period. The foregoing covenants replace the corresponding covenants 
previously included in the Credit Agreement, and eliminate the fixed charge coverage ratio formerly incorporated in the 
Credit Agreement.
 
Amendment No. 4 also amends the capital expenditure limits applicable to the Company under the Credit Agreement 
as follows:
 
         
Period         Capital Expenditure Limit  
         
Fiscal year 2008        $ 200.0 million  
Fiscal year 2009        $ 275.0 million  
Each fiscal year thereafter      $ 50.0 million  
 
The foregoing limits are subject to the provision that to the extent that the Company’s capital expenditures during any 
fiscal year are less than the limit permitted for such fiscal year, the following maximum amounts will be added to the 
maximum capital expenditures that the Company can make in the following fiscal year: (i) up to $30.0 million may be 
added to the fiscal year 2009 limit from unused amounts in fiscal year 2008; (ii) up to $50.0 million may be added to the 
fiscal year 2010 limit from unused amounts in fiscal year 2009; or (iii) up to $20.0 million may be added to the fiscal 
year 2011 limit, and to fiscal years thereafter, from unused amounts in the immediately prior fiscal years.
 
All of the obligations under the Senior Credit Facility are unconditionally guaranteed by each of the Company’s existing 
material domestic subsidiaries. The Senior Credit Facility and the related guarantees are secured by substantially all 
of the Company’s present and future tangible and intangible assets and all present and future tangible and intangible 
assets of each guarantor, as specified in the Credit Agreement. In addition, the Senior Credit Facility contains certain 
customary representations and warranties, and certain customary covenants that restrict the Company’s ability to be 
party to certain transactions, as further specified in the Credit Agreement. Events of default under the Senior Credit 
Facility include, but are not limited to, (i) the Company’s failure to pay principal or interest when due, (ii) the Company’s 
material breach of any representation or warranty, (iii) covenant defaults, (iv) bankruptcy, (v) cross default to certain 
other indebtedness, (vi) unsatisfied final judgments over a specified threshold, (vii) material environmental state of 
claims which are asserted against it, and (viii) a change of control. The Company believes it was in compliance with all 
of the covenants in the Senior Credit Facility as of December 28, 2008.
 
Senior 81/4% Notes 
In July 2003, to facilitate the completion of the purchase of 12.0 million shares from Group 4 Falck, the Company’s 
former majority shareholder, we issued $150.0 million in aggregate principal amount, ten-year, 8 1 / 4 % senior unsecured 
notes (the “Notes”). The Notes are general, unsecured, senior obligations. Interest is payable semi-annually on January 
15 and July 15 at 8 1 / 4 %. The Notes are governed by the terms of an Indenture, dated July 9, 2003, between the 
Company and the Bank of New York, as trustee, referred to as the Indenture. Additionally, after July 15, 2008, the 
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Company may redeem all or a portion of the Notes plus accrued and unpaid interest at various redemption prices ranging 
from 100.000% to 104.125% of the principal amount to be redeemed, depending on when the redemption occurs. The 
Indenture contains covenants that, among other things, limit the Company’s ability to incur additional indebtedness, pay 
dividends or distributions on its common stock, repurchase its common stock, and prepay subordinated indebtedness. 
The Indenture also limits the Company’s ability to issue preferred stock, make certain types of investments, merge or 
consolidate with another company, guarantee other indebtedness, create liens and transfer and sell assets. The Company 
believes it was in compliance with all of the covenants of the Indenture governing the Notes as of December 28, 2008.
 
The Notes are reflected net of the original issue discount of $2.6 million as of December 28, 2008 which is being 
amortized over the ten-year term of the Notes using the effective interest method.
 
Non-Recourse Debt
South Texas Detention Complex: 
The Company has a debt service requirement related to the development of the South Texas Detention Complex, a 
1,904-bed detention complex in Frio County, Texas acquired in November 2005 from Correctional Services Corporation 
(“CSC”). CSC was awarded the contract in February 2004 by the Department of Homeland Security, U.S. Immigration and 
Customs Enforcement (“ICE”) for development and operation of the detention center. In order to finance its construction, 
South Texas Local Development Corporation (“STLDC”) was created and issued $49.5 million in taxable revenue 
bonds. These bonds mature in February 2016 and have fixed coupon rates between 3.84% and 5.07%. Additionally, the 
Company is owed $5.0 million of subordinated notes by STLDC which represents the principal amount of financing 
provided to STLDC by CSC for initial development.
 
The Company has an operating agreement with STLDC, the owner of the complex, which provides it with the sole and 
exclusive right to operate and manage the detention center. The operating agreement and bond indenture require the 
revenue from the contract with ICE be used to fund the periodic debt service requirements as they become due. The net 
revenues, if any, after various expenses such as trustee fees, property taxes and insurance premiums are distributed to the 
Company to cover operating expenses and management fees. The Company is responsible for the entire operations of the 
facility including all operating expenses and is required to pay all operating expenses whether or not there are sufficient 
revenues. STLDC has no liabilities resulting from its ownership. The bonds have a ten-year term and are non-recourse 
to the Company and STLDC. The bonds are fully insured and the sole source of payment for the bonds is the operating 
revenues of the center. At the end of the ten-year term of the bonds, title and ownership of the facility transfers from 
STLDC to the Company. The Company has determined that it is the primary beneficiary of STLDC and consolidates the 
entity as a result. The carrying value of the facility as of December 28, 2008 and December 30, 2007 was $27.9 million 
and $28.7 million, respectively and is included in property and equipment in the accompanying balance sheets.
 
On February 1, 2008, STLDC made a payment from its restricted cash account of $4.3 million for the current portion 
of its periodic debt service requirement in relation to the STLDC operating agreement and bond indenture. As of 
December 28, 2008, the remaining balance of the debt service requirement under the STDLC financing agreement is 
$41.1 million, of which $4.4 million is due within the next twelve months. Also, as of December 28, 2008, included in 
current restricted cash and non-current restricted cash is $6.2 million and $10.9 million, respectively, of funds held in 
trust with respect to the STLDC for debt service and other reserves.
 
Northwest Detention Center 
On June 30, 2003, CSC arranged financing for the construction of the Northwest Detention Center in Tacoma, 
Washington, referred to as the Northwest Detention Center, which was completed and opened for operation in April 
2004. The Company began to operate this facility following its acquisition in November 2005. In connection with the 
original financing, CSC of Tacoma LLC, a wholly owned subsidiary of CSC, issued a $57.0 million note payable to 
the Washington Economic Development Finance Authority, referred to as WEDFA, an instrumentality of the State of 
Washington, which issued revenue bonds and subsequently loaned the proceeds of the bond issuance back to CSC for 
the purposes of constructing the Northwest Detention Center. The bonds are non-recourse to the Company and the loan 
from WEDFA to CSC is non-recourse to the Company. These bonds mature in February 2014 and have fixed coupon 
rates between 3.20% and 4.10%.

The proceeds of the loan were disbursed into escrow accounts held in trust to be used to pay the issuance costs for 
the revenue bonds, to construct the Northwest Detention Center and to establish debt service and other reserves. On 
October 1, 2008, CSC of Tacoma LLC made a payment from its restricted cash account of $5.4 million for the current 
portion of its periodic debt service requirement in relation to the WEDFA bid indenture. As of December 28, 2008, the 
remaining balance of the debt service requirement is $37.3 million, of which $5.7 million is classified as current in the 
accompanying balance sheet.
 
As of December 28, 2008, included in current restricted cash and non-current restricted cash is $7.1 million and $5.1 
million, respectively, of funds held in trust with respect to the Northwest Detention Center for debt service and other 
reserves.
 
Australia
The Company’s wholly-owned Australian subsidiary financed the development of a facility and subsequent expansion 
in 2003 with long-term debt obligations. These obligations are non-recourse to the Company and total $38.1 million and 
$52.9 million at December 28, 2008 and December 30, 2007, respectively. The term of the non-recourse debt is through 
2017 and it bears interest at a variable rate quoted by certain Australian banks plus 140 basis points. Any obligations or 
liabilities of the subsidiary are matched by a similar or corresponding commitment from the government of the State of 
Victoria. As a condition of the loan, the Company is required to maintain a restricted cash balance of AUD 5.0 million, 
which, at December 28, 2008, was approximately $3.4 million. This amount is included in restricted cash and the annual 
maturities of the future debt obligation is included in non-recourse debt.
 
Debt repayment schedules under capital lease obligations, long-term debt and non-recourse debt are as follows:
 

Guarantees 
In connection with the creation of South African Custodial Services Ltd., referred to as SACS, the Company entered 
into certain guarantees related to the financing, construction and operation of the prison. The Company guaranteed 
certain obligations of SACS under its debt agreements up to a maximum amount of 60.0 million South African Rand, 
or approximately $6.2 million, to SACS’ senior lenders through the issuance of letters of credit. Additionally, SACS is 
required to fund a restricted account for the payment of certain costs in the event of contract termination. The Company 
has guaranteed the payment of 50% of amounts which may be payable by SACS into the restricted account and provided 
a standby letter of credit of 8.4 million South African Rand, or $0.9 million, as security for its guarantee. The Company’s 
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obligations under this guarantee expire upon SACS’ release from its obligations in respect of the restricted account under 
its debt agreements. No amounts have been drawn against these letters of credit, which are included in the Company’s 
outstanding letters of credit under its Revolving Credit Facility.
 
The Company has agreed to provide a loan, of up to 20.0 million South African Rand, or approximately $2.1 million, 
referred to as the Standby Facility, to SACS for the purpose of financing SACS’ obligations under its contract with 
the South African government. No amounts have been funded under the Standby Facility, and the Company does not 
currently anticipate that such funding will be required by SACS in the future. The Company’s obligations under the 
Standby Facility expire upon the earlier of full funding or SACS’s release from its obligations under its debt agreements. 
The lenders’ ability to draw on the Standby Facility is limited to certain circumstances, including termination of the 
contract.
 
The Company has also guaranteed certain obligations of SACS to the security trustee for SACS’ lenders. The Company 
secured its guarantee to the security trustee by ceding its rights to claims against SACS in respect of any loans or other 
finance agreements, and by pledging the Company’s shares in SACS. The Company’s liability under the guarantee 
is limited to the cession and pledge of shares. The guarantee expires upon expiration of the cession and pledge 
agreements.
 
In connection with a design, build, finance and maintenance contract for a facility in Canada, the Company guaranteed 
certain potential tax obligations of a not-for-profit entity. The potential estimated exposure of these obligations is 
Canadian Dollar (“CAD”) 2.5 million, or approximately $2.0 million, commencing in 2017. The Company has a liability 
of $1.3 million and $1.5 million related to this exposure as of December 28, 2008 and December 30, 2007, respectively. 
To secure this guarantee, the Company has purchased Canadian dollar denominated securities with maturities matched 
to the estimated tax obligations in 2017 to 2021. The Company has recorded an asset and a liability equal to the current 
fair market value of those securities on its consolidated balance sheet. The Company does not currently operate or 
manage this facility.
 
At December 28, 2008, the Company also had seven letters of guarantee outstanding under separate international facilities 
relating to performance guarantees of its Australian subsidiary totaling approximately $5.3 million. The Company does 
not have any off balance sheet arrangements other than those previously disclosed.
    

12.  Commitments and Contingencies 
Operating Leases 
The Company leases correctional facilities, office space, computers and transportation equipment under non-cancelable 
operating leases expiring between 2009 and 2028. The future minimum commitments under these leases are as 
follows:
      
Fiscal Year             Annual Rental  
               (In thousands)   
2009             $ 16,510  
2010               16,306  
2011               13,205  
2012               10,699  
2013               10,078  
Thereafter              49,406  
                             $         116,204  
         
The Company’s corporate offices are located in Boca Raton, Florida, under a 10 1/2 -year lease which was renewed in 
October 2007. The current lease has two 5-year renewal options and expires in March 2018. In addition, The Company 
leases office space for its regional offices in Charlotte, North Carolina; New Braunfels, Texas; and Carlsbad, California. 
The Company also leases office space in Sydney, Australia, Sandton, South Africa, and Berkshire, England through its 
overseas affiliates to support its Australian, South African, and UK operations, respectively. These rental commitments 

are included in the table above. Certain of these leases contain escalation clauses and as such, the Company has 
recognized the rental expense on a straight-line basis related to those leases.
 
Rent expense was $27.7 million, $22.5 million and $25.7 million for fiscal years 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively. On 
January 24, 2007, the Company completed its acquisition of CPT. As a result of the acquisition of CPT and the related 
facilities, the Company has no on going rent commitment for these facilities. Prior to the acquisition, the Company 
recorded net rental expense related to the CPT leases of $23.0 million in 2006.
 
Litigation, Claims and Assessments 
On September 15, 2006, a jury in an inmate wrongful death lawsuit in a Texas state court awarded a $47.5 million 
verdict against the Company. In October 2006, the verdict was entered as a judgment against the Company in the 
amount of $51.7 million. The lawsuit is being administered under the insurance program established by The Wackenhut 
Corporation, the Company’s former parent company, in which the Company participated until October 2002. Policies 
secured by the Company under that program provide $55.0 million in aggregate annual coverage. As a result, the 
Company believes it is fully insured for all damages, costs and expenses associated with the lawsuit and as such has 
not recorded any reserves in connection with the matter. The lawsuit stems from an inmate death which occurred at the 
Company’s former Willacy County State Jail in Raymondville, Texas, in April 2001, when two inmates at the facility 
attacked another inmate. Separate investigations conducted internally by the Company, The Texas Rangers and the 
Texas Office of the Inspector General exonerated the Company and its employees of any culpability with respect to the 
incident. The Company believes that the verdict is contrary to law and unsubstantiated by the evidence. The Company’s 
insurance carrier has posted a supersedeas bond in the amount of approximately $60.0 million to cover the judgment. 
On December 9, 2006, the trial court denied the Company’s post trial motions and the Company filed a notice of appeal 
on December 18, 2006. The appeal is proceeding. On March 26, 2008, oral arguments were made before the Thirteenth 
Court of Appeals, Corpus Christi, Texas (No. 13-06-00692-CV) which took the matter under advisement pending the 
issuance of its ruling. Currently, the appeal is still under review by the Thirteenth Court of Appeals and no ruling has 
been made.
 
In June 2004, the Company received notice of a third-party claim for property damage incurred during 2001 and 2002 
at several detention facilities that its Australian subsidiary formerly operated. The claim relates to property damage 
caused by detainees at the detention facilities. The notice was given by the Australian government’s insurance provider 
and did not specify the amount of damages being sought. In August 2007, legal proceedings in this matter were formally 
commenced when the Company was served with notice of a complaint filed against it by the Commonwealth of Australia 
seeking damages of up to approximately AUD 18.0 million or $12.3 million, plus interest. The Company believes that 
it has several defenses to the allegations underlying the litigation and the amounts sought and intends to vigorously 
defend its rights with respect to this matter. Although the outcome of this matter cannot be predicted with certainty, 
based on information known to date and the Company’s preliminary review of the claim, the Company believes that, if 
settled unfavorably, this matter could have a material adverse effect on its financial condition, results of operations and 
cash flows. The Company is uninsured for any damages or costs that it may incur as a result of this claim, including the 
expenses of defending the claim. The Company has established a reserve based on its estimate of the most probable loss 
based on the facts and circumstances known to date and the advice of legal counsel in connection with this matter.
 
On January 30, 2008, a lawsuit seeking class action certification was filed against the Company by an inmate at one of 
its facilities. The case is now entitled Allison and Hocevar v. The GEO Group, Inc. (Civil Action No. 08-467) and is 
pending in the U.S. District Court for the Eastern District of Pennsylvania. The lawsuit alleges that the Company has a 
companywide blanket policy at its immigration/detention facilities and jails that requires all new inmates and detainees 
to undergo a strip search upon intake into each facility. The plaintiff alleges that this practice, to the extent implemented, 
violates the civil rights of the affected inmates and detainees. The lawsuit seeks monetary damages for all purported 
class members, a declaratory judgment and an injunction barring the alleged policy from being implemented in the 
future. The Company believes it has several defenses to the allegations underlying this litigation, and the Company 
intends to vigorously defend its rights in this matter. In September 2008, the Company filed a motion for judgment on 
pleadings which may be dispositive of this matter as a result of a recent but significant development in the law regarding 
similar strip search practices. The District Court has, in the interim, stayed further discovery. Nevertheless, the Company 
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believes that, if resolved unfavorably, this matter may have a material adverse effect on its financial condition and results 
of operations. Discovery has recently commenced in connection with this matter.
 
On October 23, 2008, a wage and hour claim seeking potential class action certification was served against the Company. 
The case is styled Mayes v. The GEO Group Inc. (Civil Action No. 08-0248) and it is pending in the U.S. District Court 
for the Northern District of Florida, Panama City Division. The plaintiffs in this case have alleged that the Company 
violated the Fair Labor Standards Act by failing to pay certain employees for work performed before and after their 
scheduled shifts. The Company is in the preliminary stages of evaluating this claim but has preliminarily denied the 
plaintiffs’ assertions. Nevertheless, the Company cannot assure that, if resolved unfavorably, this matter would not have 
a material adverse effect on its financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.
 
The nature of the Company’s business exposes it to various types of claims or litigation against the Company, including, 
but not limited to, civil rights claims relating to conditions of confinement and/or mistreatment, sexual misconduct 
claims brought by prisoners or detainees, medical malpractice claims, claims relating to employment matters (including, 
but not limited to, employment discrimination claims, union grievances and wage and hour claims), property loss 
claims, environmental claims, automobile liability claims, indemnification claims by its customers and other third 
parties, contractual claims and claims for personal injury or other damages resulting from contact with the Company’s 
facilities, programs, personnel or prisoners, including damages arising from a prisoner’s escape or from a disturbance or 
riot at a facility. Except as otherwise disclosed above, the Company does not expect the outcome of any pending claims 
or legal proceedings to have a material adverse effect on its financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.
 
Collective Bargaining Agreements 
The Company had approximately 16% of its workforce covered by collective bargaining agreements at December 28, 
2008. Collective bargaining agreements with four percent of employees are set to expire in less than one year.
 
Contract Terminations
On December 22, 2008, the Company announced the closure of its U.K.-based transportation division, Recruitment 
Solutions International (“RSI”), which will have no material impact on the Company’s future financial performance. 
The Company purchased RSI, which provided transportation services to The Home Office Nationality and Immigration 
Directorate, for approximately $2.0 million in 2006. The Company recorded a goodwill write-off of $2.3 million 
associated with this closure.
 
On November 7, 2008, the Company announced that it received a notice of discontinuation of its contract with the State 
of Idaho, Department of Correction (“Idaho DOC”) for the housing of approximately 305 out-of-state inmates at the 
managed-only Bill Clayton Detention Center effective January 5, 2009. The State of Idaho intends to consolidate its 
entire out-of-state inmate population into one large-scale private correctional facility. The Company does not expect 
the discontinuation of this contract to have a material adverse impact on its financial condition, results of operations or 
cash flows.
 
On October 1, 2008, the Company announced that its management contract for the continued management and operation 
of the 1,040-bed Sanders Estes Unit in Venus, Texas, was awarded to a competitor. The Sanders Estes Unit generated 
approximately $11.0 million in annual operating revenues under a managed-only contract with TDJC. This contract will 
terminate effective as of the beginning of First Quarter 2009.
 
On August 29, 2008, the Company announced the discontinuation of its contract with Delaware County, Pennsylvania 
for the management of the county-owned 1,883-bed George W. Hill Correctional Facility effective December 31, 2008. 
This facility is the only local county jail managed by the Company and is generating approximately $38.0 million in 
annualized operating revenues. The Company does not expect the discontinuation of the Delaware County, Pennsylvania 
contract to have a material adverse impact on its financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.
 
On June 16, 2008, the Company announced the discontinuation by mutual agreement of its contract with the State of 
New Mexico Department of Health for the management of the Fort Bayard Medical Center effective June 30, 2008. 

The Company does not expect  that the termination of this contract will have a material adverse impact on its financial 
condition, results of operations or cash flows.
 
As we previously disclosed on May 1, 2008, GEO Care Inc., activated the new 238-bed South Florida Evaluation and 
Treatment Center (“SFETC”) in Florida City, Florida which replaced the old SFETC center located in downtown Miami, 
Florida. Following the opening of the new SFETC center, the State of Florida approved budget language providing for 
the closure of the 100-bed South Florida Evaluation and Treatment Center Annex, referred to as the Annex, effective 
July 31, 2008. The Annex generated approximately $7.5 million in revenues for GEO Care in 2008. Simultaneously, the 
Florida legislature also approved budget language providing for an increase in the capacity of two GEO Care facilities, 
the new SFETC center in Florida City, Florida, and the Treasure Coast Forensic Treatment Center located in Indiantown, 
Florida, for a total of 73 beds. The increased capacity at these two facilities resulted in an increase of approximately $2.5 
million in revenues for GEO Care in 2008, largely offsetting the closure of the Annex. The closure of the Annex did not 
have a material adverse impact on the Company’s financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.
 
On April 30 2008, the Company exercised its contractual right to terminate the contract for the operation and management 
of the Tri-County Justice and Detention Center located in Ullin, Illinois. The Company managed the facility through 
August 28, 2008. The termination of this contract did not have a material adverse impact on the Company’s financial 
condition, results of operations or cash flows.
 
Insurance claims 
The Company maintains general liability insurance for property damages incurred, property operating costs during 
downtimes, business interruption and incremental costs incurred during inmate disturbances. In April 2007, the 
Company incurred significant damages at one of its managed-only facilities in New Castle, Indiana. The total amount 
of impairments, insurance losses recognized and expenses to repair damages incurred has been recorded in the 
accompanying consolidated statements of income as operating expenses and is offset by $2.1 million of insurance 
proceeds the Company received from insurance carriers in First Quarter 2008.
 
Commitments 
The Company is currently self-financing the simultaneous construction or expansion of several correctional and 
detention facilities in multiple jurisdictions. As of December 28, 2008, the Company was in the process of constructing 
or expanding seven facilities representing 4,266 total beds. The Company is providing the financing for five of the 
seven facilities, representing 3,162 beds. Total capital expenditures related to these projects and to other miscellaneous 
approved projects is expected to be $202.0 million, of which $36.8 million was spent through the Fourth Quarter 2008. 
The Company expects to incur the remaining $165.2 million by fiscal First Quarter 2010. Additionally, financing for 
the remaining two facilities representing 1,104 beds is being provided for by third party sources for state or county 
ownership. The Company is managing the construction of these projects with total costs of $85.1 million, of which 
$76.8 million has been completed through Fourth Quarter 2008 and $8.3 million remains to be completed through fiscal 
year 2009. The Company capitalized interest related to ongoing construction and expansion projects of $4.3 million and 
$2.9 million for the fiscal years ended December 28, 2008 and December 30, 2007, respectively.
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13.  Shareholders’ Equity
Earnings Per Share 
The table below shows the amounts used in computing earnings per share (“EPS”) in accordance with FAS No. 128 and 
the effects on income and the weighted average number of shares of potential dilutive common stock.

Fiscal Year        2008  2007  2006
           (In thousands, except per share data)
Income from continuing operations          $    61,453       $    38,089       $    28,000
Basic earnings per share:
  Weighted average shares outstanding               50,539             47,727             34,442
  Per share amount            $       1.22       $        0.80       $        0.81
Diluted earnings per share:
  Weighted average shares outstanding               50,539             47,727              34,442
Effect of dilutive securities:
  Employee and director stock options and restricted stock               1,291               1,465                1,302
  Weighted average shares assuming dilution              51,830             49,192              35,744
  Per share amount            $       1.19        $       0.77       $         0.78

 
For fiscal year 2008, 372,725 weighted average shares of stock underlying options and 8,986 weighted average shares of 
restricted stock were excluded from the computation of diluted EPS because the effect would be anti-dilutive.
 
For fiscal year 2007, no shares of stock underlying options or shares of restricted stock were excluded from the 
computation of diluted EPS because their effect would have been anti-dilutive.
 
For fiscal year 2006, 1,269 weighted average shares of stock underlying options and no shares of restricted stock were 
excluded in the computation of diluted EPS because their effect would be anti-dilutive.
 
Preferred Stock 
In April 1994, the Company’s Board of Directors authorized 30 million shares of “blank check” preferred stock. The 
Board of Directors is authorized to determine the rights and privileges of any future issuance of preferred stock such as 
voting and dividend rights, liquidation privileges, redemption rights and conversion privileges.
 
Rights Agreement 
On October 9, 2003, the Company entered into a rights agreement with EquiServe Trust Company, N.A., as rights agent. 
Under the terms of the rights agreement, each share of the Company’s common stock carries with it one preferred share 
purchase right. If the rights become exercisable pursuant to the rights agreement, each right entitles the registered holder 
to purchase from the Company one one-thousandth of a share of Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock at a fixed 
price, subject to adjustment. Until a right is exercised, the holder of the right has no right to vote or receive dividends 
or any other rights as a shareholder as a result of holding the right. The rights trade automatically with shares of our 
common stock, and may only be exercised in connection with certain attempts to acquire the Company. The rights are 
designed to protect the interests of the Company and its shareholders against coercive acquisition tactics and encourage 
potential acquirers to negotiate with our Board of Directors before attempting an acquisition. The rights may, but are not 
intended to, deter acquisition proposals that may be in the interests of the Company’s shareholders.

14.  Retirement and Deferred Compensation Plans 
The Company has two noncontributory defined benefit pension plans covering certain of the Company’s executives. 
Retirement benefits are based on years of service, employees’ average compensation for the last five years prior to 
retirement and social security benefits. Currently, the plans are not funded. The Company purchased and is the beneficiary 
of life insurance policies for certain participants enrolled in the plans.
 

In 2001, the Company established non-qualified deferred compensation agreements with three key executives. These 
agreements were modified in 2002, and again in 2003. The current agreements provide for a lump sum payment when 
the executives retire, no sooner than age 55. All three executives have reached age 55 and are eligible to receive the 
payments upon retirement.
 
The Company adopted FAS No. 158, “Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement 
Plans — an amendment of FASB Statements No. 87, 88, 106, and 132(R), at December 30, 2006, FAS 158 requires 
an employer to recognize the overfunded or underfunded status of a defined benefit postretirement plan (other than a 
multiemployer plan) as an asset or liability on its balance sheet and to recognize changes in that funded status in the year 
in which the changes occur through comprehensive income. FAS 158 requires an employer to measure the funded status 
of a plan as of its year-end date . Upon adoption of this standard the Company recorded a charge of $1.9 million, net of 
tax, to accumulated other comprehensive income and a $3.3 million credit to non-current liabilities. The unamortized 
portion of these costs as of December 28, 2008 included in accumulated other comprehensive income is $1.6 million, 
net of tax.
 
FAS 158 also requires an entity to measure a defined benefit postretirement plan’s assets and obligations that determine 
its funded status as of the end of the employer’s fiscal year, and recognize changes in the funded status of a defined 
benefit postretirement plan in comprehensive income in the year in which the changes occur. Since the Company 
currently has a measurement date of December 31 for all plans, this provision did not have a material impact in the year 
of adoption.
 
The following table summarizes key information related to these pension plans and retirement agreements which 
includes information as required by FAS 158. The table illustrates the reconciliation of the beginning and ending 
balances of the benefit obligation showing the effects during the period attributable to each of the following: service 
cost, interest cost, plan amendments, termination benefits, actuarial gains and losses. The assumptions used in the 
Company’s calculation of accrued pension costs are based on market information and the Company’s historical rates for 
employment compensation and discount rates, respectively.
 
In accordance with FAS 158, the Company has also disclosed contributions and payment of benefits related to the 
plans. There were no assets in the plan at December 28, 2008 or December 30, 2007. All changes as a result of the 
adjustments to the accumulated benefit obligation are included below and shown net of tax in the consolidated statements 
of shareholders’ equity and comprehensive income. There were no significant transactions between the employer or 
related parties and the plan during the period.
          2008            2007
Change in Projected Benefit Obligation
Projected Benefit Obligation, Beginning of Year    $ 17,938  $ 17,098
Service Cost              530        551
Interest Cost              654        619
Plan Amendments
Actuarial (Gain) Loss             246      (287)
Benefits Paid              (48)        (43)
Projected Benefit Obligation, End of Year     $ 19,320  $ 17,938
Change in Plan Assets
Plan Assets at Fair Value, Beginning of Year    $   $
Company Contributions               48          43
Benefits Paid              (48)        (43)
Plan Assets at Fair Value, End of Year     $   $
Unfunded Status of the Plan      $          (19,320)  $          (17,938)
Amounts Recognized in Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income
Prior Service Cost                82         123
Net Loss            2,551      2,554
Total Pension Cost       $    2,633  $    2,677 
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          Fiscal 2008   Fiscal 2007
Components of Net Periodic Benefit Cost
Service Cost        $ 530  $ 551
Interest Cost         654   619
Amortization of:
  Prior Service Cost          41     41
  Net Loss         249   302
Net Periodic Pension Cost      $        1,474  $        1,513
Weighted Average Assumptions for Expense
Discount Rate                     5.75%            5.75%
Expected Return on Plan Assets                  N/A   N/A
Rate of Compenstaion Increase                    5.50%            5.50%
 

On February 12, 2009, the Company announced that its Chief Financial Officer will retire effective August 2, 2009. 
As a result of his retirement, the Company has a current obligation of $3.2 million which represents a one-time lump 
sum payment under the defined benefit pension plan. This amount is recorded in accrued expenses in the accompanying 
balance sheet as of December 28, 2008. The projected benefit liability for the three plans at December 28, 2008 are as 
follows, $5.5 million for the executive retirement plan, $1.3 million for the officer retirement plan and $12.5 million for 
the two key executives’ plans. Although these individuals have reached the eligible age for retirement, the liabilities for 
the plans at December 28, 2008 and December 30, 2007 are included in other non-current liabilities based on actuarial 
assumption and expected retirement payments.
 
The amount included in other accumulated comprehensive income as of December 28, 2008 that is expected to be 
recognized as a component of net periodic benefit cost in fiscal year 2009 is $0.3 million.
 
The Company also has a non-qualified deferred compensation plan for employees who are ineligible to participate 
in its qualified 401(k) plan. Eligible employees may defer a fixed percentage of their salary, which earns interest at 
a rate equal to the prime rate less 0.75%. The Company matches employee contributions up to $400 each year based 
on the employee’s years of service. Payments will be made at retirement age of 65 or at termination of employment. 
The Company recognized expense of $0.1 million, $0.3 million and $0.2 million in fiscal years 2008, 2007 and 2006, 
respectively. The liability for this plan at December 28, 2008 and December 30, 2007 was $4.0 million and $3.2 million, 
respectively, and is included in “Other non-current liabilities” in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.
 
The Company expects to make the following benefit payments based on eligible retirement dates:
  
Fiscal Year            Benefits  
                      (In thousands)  
2009                   12,953  
2010                        168  
2011                        165  
2012                        199  
2013                        227  
Thereafter                     5,608  
                     $       19,320  
         
 

15.  Business Segment and Geographic Information 
Operating and Reporting Segments 
The Company conducts its business through four reportable business segments: U.S. corrections segment; International 
services segment; GEO Care segment; and Facility construction and design segment. The Company has identified 
these four reportable segments to reflect the current view that the Company operates four distinct business lines, each 

of which constitutes a material part of its overall business. The U.S. corrections segment primarily encompasses U.S.-
based privatized corrections and detention business. The International services segment primarily consists of privatized 
corrections and detention operations in South Africa, Australia and the United Kingdom. GEO Care segment, which is 
operated by the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary GEO Care, Inc., comprises privatized mental health and residential 
treatment services business, all of which is currently conducted in the U.S. The Facility construction and design segment 
consists of contracts with various state, local and federal agencies for the design and construction of facilities for which 
the Company has management contracts.
 
The segment information presented in the prior periods has been reclassified to conform to the current presentation:

Fiscal Year        2008  2007  2006
                 (In thousands)
Revenues: 
  U.S. corrections      $    711,038 $    629,339 $    574,126
  International services            128,672       127,991       103,139
  GEO Care             117,399       110,165         67,034
  Facility construction and design             85,897       108,804         74,140
Total revenues       $ 1,043,006 $    976,299 $    818,439
Depreciation and amortization:
  U.S. corrections      $      34,010 $      30,401 $      20,298
  International services                1,556           1,351              803
  GEO Care                 1,840           1,466              581
  Facility construction and design                                           
Total depreciation and amortization    $      37,406 $      33,218 $      21,682
Operating Income (loss):
  U.S. corrections      $    160,065 $    134,321 $    103,641
  International services      $      10,737 $      11,022 $        8,630
  GEO Care               12,419         10,142           5,189
  Facility construction and design                 326           (266)           (589)
  Operating income from segments          183,547       155,219       116,871
  General and Administrative Expenses         (69,151)      (64,492)      (56,268)
Total operating income      $    114,396 $      90,727 $      60,603
Segment assets:
  U.S. corrections      $ 1,093,880 $    954,419 $    447,504
  International services              69,937         88,788         77,154
  GEO Care               21,169         19,334         14,705
  Facility construction and design             10,286         16,385         21,057
Total segment assets      $ 1,195,272 $ 1,078,926 $    560,420

In fiscal year 2008, the Company’s general and administrative expenses include non-cash deferred compensation costs 
of $4.5 million associated with stock-based compensation compared to a charge of $3.5 million in fiscal 2007, and $1.3 
million in fiscal 2006. Fiscal year 2008 U.S. corrections segment operating income includes the $2.7 million increase in 
the Company’s insurance reserve compared to $0.9 million decrease in fiscal year 2007 and a $4.0 million reduction in 
2006. In fiscal year 2008, the Company wrote off $2.3 million of goodwill associated with the termination of operation 
of RSI, which is included in loss from discontinued operations. In 2007 the Company wrote off $4.8 million deferred 
financing fees related to its repayment of borrowings from the Term Loan B.
 
The increase in operating expenses attributable to new facilities and expansions of existing facilities was offset by the 
effects of a change in our vacation policy for certain employees which conformed to a fiscal year-end based policy 
during 2008. The new policy allows employees to use vacation regardless of service period but within the fiscal year. 
Vacation expense decreased by $3.7 million fiscal year 2008 compared to fiscal year 2007 primarily due to the change 
in our policy.

Pension
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Assets in the Company’s Facility construction and design segment include trade accounts receivable, construction 
retainage receivable and other miscellaneous deposits and prepaid insurance. Trade accounts receivable balances were 
$5.8 million and $10.2 million as of December 28, 2008 and December 30, 2007, respectively. Construction retainage 
receivable balances were $3.9 million and $4.7 million as of December 28, 2008 and December 30, 2007, respectively. 
Other assets were $0.0 million and $1.5 million as of December 28, 2008 and December 30, 2007, respectively. During 
fiscal years 2008 and 2007, the Company wrote-off $0.0 million and $0.5 million, respectively, for construction over-
runs net of recoveries. Such items were not significant as of or for the periods ended December 28, 2008 and December 
30, 2007, respectively.
 
Fiscal Year        2008  2007  2006
                 (In thousands)
Operating income from segments         $    183,547       $    155,219         $    116,871
Unallocated amounts:
General and administrative expense             (69,151)            (64,492)  (56,268)
Net interest expense               (23,157)            (27,305)  (17,544)
Costs related to early extinguishment of debt                  (4,794)    (1,295)
Income before income taxes, equity in earnings of 
affiliates, discontinued opersatins and minority interest      $      91,239       $      58,628         $      41,764

Asset Reconciliation

                   2008  2007
Reportable segment assets                    $     1,195,272      $     1,078,926 
Cash                       31,655                44,403  
Deferred income tax         21,757    24,623
Restricted cash          32,697    34,107
Assets of discontinued operations          7,240    10,575
Total assets         $       1,288,621     $    1,192,634

Geographic Information 
The Company’s international operations are conducted through (i) the Company’s wholly owned Australian subsidiary, 
The GEO Group Australia Pty. Ltd., through which the Company manages five correctional facilities, including one 
police custody center; (ii) the Company’s consolidated joint venture in South Africa, SACM, through which the Company 
manages one correctional facility; and (iii) the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary in the United Kingdom, The GEO 
Group UK Ltd., through which the Company manages the Campsfield House Immigration Removal Centre.

 
Fiscal Year               2008           2007  2006
                 (In thousands)
Revenues:     
  U.S. operations       $        914,334   $        848,308    $        715,300
  Australia operations                101,995     97,116        82,156
  South African operations                 15,316                  15,915                14,569
  United Kingdom                  11,361               14,960                  6,414
Total revenues       $     1,043,006   $        976,299     $ 818,439 
Long-lived assets:
  U.S. operations       $        875,703   $        779,905     $ 279,603
  Australia operations                    2,000         2,187           6,445 
  South Africa operations                       492                    590                     642
  United Kingdom                       421           681              602
Total long-lived assets      $        878,616   $        783,363     $ 287,292

Sources of Revenue 
The Company derives most of its revenue from the management of privatized correction and detention facilities. The 
Company also derives revenue from the management of GEO Care facilities and from the construction and expansion 
of new and existing correctional, detention and GEO Care facilities. All of the Company’s revenue is generated from 
external customers.

 
Fiscal Year               2008           2007  2006
                 (In thousands)
Revenues:     
  Correction and detention     $        839,710   $        757,330    $        677,265
  GEO Care                 117,399    110,165        67,034
  Facility construction and design                 85,897  108,804    74,140
Total revenues       $      1,043,006    $        976,299    $         818,439

Equity in Earnings of Affiliates 
Equity in earnings of affiliates for 2008, 2007 and 2006 include one of the joint ventures in South Africa, SACS. This 
entity is accounted for under the equity method and the Company’s investment in SACS is presented as a component of 
other non-current assets in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.
 
A summary of financial data for SACS is as follows:

 
Fiscal Year               2008           2007  2006
                 (In thousands)
Statement of Operations Data     
  Revenues       $         35,558   $           36,720    $           34,152
  Operating income                 13,688      14,976        13,301
  Net income                    9,247      4,240      3,124
Balance Sheet Data                        
  Current assets                  18,421    21,608    15,396
  Non-current assets                 37,722    53,816    60,023
  Current liabilities                   2,245      6,120      5,282
  Non-current liabilities                 41,321    62,401    63,919
  Shareholders’ equity                 12,577      6,903      6,218

 
As of December 28, 2008 and December 30, 2007, the Company’s investment in SACS was $6.2 million and $3.5 
million, respectively. The investment is included in other non-current assets in the accompanying consolidated balance 
sheets.
 
Business Concentration 
Except for the major customers noted in the following table, no other single customer made up greater than 10% of the 
Company’s consolidated revenues for the following fiscal years.
 

                         
Customer         2008    2007    2006  
Various agencies of the U.S. Federal Government      28%   27%   31%
Various agencies of the State of Florida       17%    16%   13%
   
Credit risk related to accounts receivable is reflective of the related revenues.
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16.  Income Taxes 
The United States and foreign components of income (loss) before income taxes, minority interest and equity income 
from affiliates are as follows:

                  2008           2007  2006
                 (In thousands)
Income (loss) before income taxes, minority interest, 
equity earnings in affiliates, and discontinued operations     
  United States       $          78,542   $          45,875    $          29,422
  Foreign                   12,697     12,753        12,342
                       91,239                  58,628                41,764
Discontinued operations:                                                       
  Income (loss) from operation of discontinued business             (2,316)                 6,066                  3,170 
    Total        $          88,923   $          64,694    44,934
  
Taxes on income (loss) consist of the following components:
         2008           2007  2006
                 (In thousands)
Federal income taxes:      
  Current       $          24,164   $          19,211    $          14,662
  Deferred                     2,621     (4,546)        (4,635)
                       26,785                 14,665                10,027
State income taxes:                                                       
  Current                    2,626                 3,579                  2,591 
  Deferred                    (558)                 (399)        (36)
         2,068                 3,180                  2,555 
Foreign:                   
  Current                    4,587                     4,580                  3,042
  Deferred                        593                  (132)       (409)           
                       5,180     4,448      2,633
Total U.S. and foreign                 34,033   22,293    15,215
Discontinued operations                       
  Taxes (benefit) from operations of discontinued business                  236                 2,310      1,139
     Total         $        34,269   $           24,603    $          16,354 

A reconciliation of the statutory U.S. federal tax rate (35.0%) and the effective income tax rate is as follows:

                 2008           2007  2006
                 (In thousands)
Continuing operations:      
  Provisions using statutory federal income tax rate  $          31,934   $          20,520    $          14,641  
State income taxes, net of federal tax benefit                 2,635       1,965          1,311
  Australia consolidation benefit                          (228)  
UK Tax Benefit                             (977)
  Other, net                     (536)                     (192)                     468
      Total continuing operations                34,033     22,293        15,215 
Discontinued operations:                          
   Taxes (benefit) from operations of discontinued business                  236                 2,310     1,139      
Provision (benefit) for income taxes    $         34,269   $          24,603     $         16,354 

 

The components of the net current deferred income tax asset at fiscal year end are as follows:
 
               2008                 2007
                            (In thousands)
Book revenue not yet taxed       $ (167) $ (213) 
Uniforms           (294)   (396)       
Deferred loan costs                         174         227
Other, net                     1,142            682    
Allowance for doubtful accounts         241   172
Accrued compensation                                            4,658                  7,484
Accrued liabilities                             11,847          11,749
Valuation allowance                     (261)    
   Total asset                          $     17,340          $    19,705

The components of the net non-current deferred income tax asset at fiscal year end are as follows:
              
              2008                 2007
                            (In thousands)
Depreciation         $         (4,772) $ (391) 
Deferred loan costs                    2,360            2,546       
Deferred rent                          877         944
Bond Discount                    (1,094)           (1,293)    
Net operating losses                    3,484            3,283
Tax credits                                              2,961                 1,088
Intangible assets                                (3,740)           (4,421)
Accrued liabilities                       850   765  
Deferred compensation                                   7,923                 5,955
Residual U.S. tax liability on unrepatriated foreign earnings               (1,915)           (1,640)    
Prepaid Lease            579   681
Other, net                                              1,481                    554
Valuation allowance                               (4,577)           (3,153)
  Total asset (liability)        $          4,417 $         4,918  
 
The components of the net non-current deferred income tax liability as of fiscal year:

           2008                 2007
                            (In thousands)
Depreciation         $         (14) $ (223) 
Total Asset (Liability)        $         (14) $           (223)       

In accordance with FAS No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes, deferred income taxes should be reduced by a valuation 
allowance if it is not more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will be realized. On a 
periodic basis, management evaluates and determines the amount of the valuation allowance required and adjusts such 
valuation allowance accordingly. At fiscal year end 2008 and 2007, the Company has recorded a valuation allowance 
of approximately $4.8 million and $3.2 million, respectively. The valuation allowance increased by $1.6 million during 
the fiscal year ended December 28, 2008. At the fiscal year end 2008 and 2007, the valuation allowance included $0.1 
million and $0.1 million, respectively reported as part of purchase accounting relating to deferred tax assets for state 
net operating losses from the CSC acquisition. While prior accounting pronouncements provided that a reduction of 
a valuation allowance related to tax assets recorded as part of purchase accounting are to reduce goodwill, for years 
beginning after December 15, 2008 FAS No. 141R provides that such a reduction of a valuation allowance would be 
accounted for as a reduction of income tax expense. At fiscal year end 2008 and 2007 a partial valuation allowance 
was provided against net operating losses from the acquisition. The remaining valuation allowance of $4.7 million and 
$3.1 million, for 2008 and 2007, respectively, relates to deferred tax assets for foreign net operating losses and state tax 
credits unrelated to the CSC acquisition.
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 The Company provides income taxes on the undistributed earnings of non-U.S. subsidiaries except to the extent that 
such earnings are indefinitely invested outside the United States. At December 28, 2008, $4.8 million of accumulated 
undistributed earnings of non-U.S. subsidiaries were indefinitely invested. At the existing U.S. federal income tax rate, 
additional taxes (net of foreign tax credits) of $1.7 million would have to be provided if such earnings were remitted 
currently.
 
At fiscal year end 2008, the Company had $3.6 million of combined net operating loss carryforwards in various states 
from the CSC acquisition, which begin to expire in 2015.
 
Also at fiscal year end 2008 the Company had $11.0 million of foreign operating losses which carry forward indefinitely 
and $4.6 million of state tax credits which begin to expire in 2010. The Company has recorded a full and partial valuation 
allowance against the deferred tax assets related to the foreign operating losses and state tax credits, respectively.
 
In fiscal 2008, the Company’s equity affiliate SACS recognized a one time tax benefit of $1.9 million related to a change 
in the tax treatment applicable to the affiliate with retroactive effect. Under the tax treatment, expenses which were 
previously disallowed are now deductible for South African tax purposes. The one time tax benefit relates to an increase 
in the deferred tax assets of the affiliate as a result of the change in tax treatment.
 
On January 2, 2006, the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123R, “Share-Based 
payment” (FAS 123R). FAS 123R requires companies to recognize the cost of employee services received in exchange 
for awards of equity instruments based upon the grant date fair value of those awards. The exercise of non-qualified 
stock options which have been granted under the Company’s stock option plans give rise to compensation income 
which is includable in the taxable income of the applicable employees and deducted by the Company for federal and 
state income tax purposes. Such compensation income results from increases in the fair market value of the Company’s 
common stock subsequent to the date of grant. The Company has elected to use the transition method described in FASB 
Staff Position 123(R)-3 (“FSP FAS 123(R)-3”). In accordance with FSP FAS 123(R)-3, the tax benefit on awards that 
vested prior to January 2, 2006 but that were exercised on or after January 2, 2006 “Fully Vested Awards” are credited 
directly to additional paid-in-capital. On awards that vested on or after January 2, 2006 and that were exercised on or 
after January 2, 2006, “Partially vested Awards” the total tax benefit first reduces the related deferred tax asset associated 
with the compensation cost recognized under 123(R) and any excess tax benefit, if any, is credited to additional paid-in 
capital. Special considerations apply and which are addressed in the FSP FAS 123(R)-3, if the ultimate tax benefit upon 
exercise is less than the related deferred tax asset underlying the award. At fiscal year end 2008 the deferred tax asset 
net of a valuation allowance related to unexercised stock options and restricted stock grants was $1.5 million.
 
In June 2006, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes” (“FIN 48”). 
The Company adopted the provisions of FIN 48, on January 1, 2007. Previously, the Company had accounted for 
tax contingencies in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards 5, Accounting for Contingencies. 
As required by FIN 48, which clarifies Statement 109, Accounting for Income Taxes, the Company recognizes the 
financial statement benefit of a tax position only after determining that the relevant tax authority would more likely 
than not sustain the position following an audit. For tax positions meeting the more-likely-than-not threshold, the 
amount recognized in the financial statements is the largest benefit that has a greater than 50 percent likelihood of being 
realized upon ultimate settlement with the relevant tax authority. At the adoption date, the Company applied FIN 48 to 
all tax positions for which the statute of limitations remained open. As a result of the implementation of FIN 48, the 
Company recognized an increase of approximately a $2.5 million in the liability for unrecognized tax benefits, which 
was accounted for as a reduction to the January 1, 2007, balance of retained earnings.
 
In May 2007, the FASB published FSP FIN 48-1. FSP FIN 48-1 is an amendment to FIN 48. It clarifies how an enterprise 
should determine whether a tax position is effectively settled for the purpose of recognizing previously unrecognized tax 
benefits. As of our adoption date of FIN 48, our accounting is consistent with the guidance in FSP FIN 48-1.

 

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits is as follows in (dollars in 
thousands):
 
         
                (In thousands)  
         
Balance at December 30, 2007          $ 5,417  
  Additions based on tax positions related to the current year        1,877  
  Additions for tax positions of prior years              659  
  Reductions for tax positions of prior years                     (1,809)
  Reductions as result of a lapse of applicable statutes of limitations          (169)
  Settlements                  (86)
Balance at December 28, 2008          $  5,889  
         
 
All amounts in the reconciliation are reported on a gross basis and do not reflect a federal tax benefit on state income 
taxes. Inclusive of the federal tax benefit on state income taxes the ending balance as of December 28, 2008 is $5.6 
million. Included in the balance at December 28, 2008 is $1.9 million related to tax positions for which the ultimate 
deductibility is highly certain, but for which there is uncertainty about the timing of such deductibility. Under deferred 
tax accounting, the timing of a deduction does not affect the annual effective tax rate but does affect the timing of tax 
payments. Absent a decrease in the unrecognized tax benefits related to the reversal of these timing related tax positions, 
the Company does not anticipate any significant increase or decrease in the unrecognized tax benefits within 12 months 
of the reporting date. The balance at December 28, 2008 includes $3.7 million of unrecognized tax benefits which, if 
ultimately recognized, will reduce the Company’s annual effective tax rate.
 
The Company is subject to income taxes in the U.S. federal jurisdiction, and various states and foreign jurisdictions. Tax 
regulations within each jurisdiction are subject to the interpretation of the related tax laws and regulations and require 
significant judgment to apply. With few exceptions, the Company is no longer subject to U.S. federal, state and local, or 
non-U.S. income tax examinations by tax authorities for the years before 2002.
 
The Company is currently under examination by the Internal Revenue Service for its U.S. income tax returns for fiscal 
years 2002 through 2005. The Company expects this examination to be concluded in 2010.
 
In adopting FIN 48 on January 1, 2007, the Company changed its previous method of classifying interest and penalties 
related to unrecognized tax benefits as income tax expense to classifying interest accrued as interest expense and 
penalties as operating expenses. Because the transition rules of FIN 48 do not permit the retroactive restatement of 
prior period financial statements, the Company’s 2006 financial statements continue to reflect interest and penalties on 
unrecognized tax benefits as income tax expense. During the fiscal year ended December 28, 2008 and December 30, 
2007 the Company recognized respectively $0.4 million and $0.6 million in interest and penalties. The Company had 
accrued approximately $1.9 million and $1.5 million for the payment of interest and penalties at December 28, 2008, 
and December 30, 2007, respectively.
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17.  Selected Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)
 
The Company’s selected quarterly financial data is as follows (in thousands, except per share data):
 

     

2008
Revenues
Operating income
Income from continuing operations
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax
Basic earnings per share:
Income from continuing operations
Income from discontinued operations
Net income per share
Diluted earnings per share:
Income from continuing operations
Income from discontinued operations
Net income per share

Revenues
Operating income (1),(4)
Income from continuing operations
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax
Basic earnings per share:
Income from continuing operations
Income (loss) from discontinued operations
Net income per share
Diluted earnings per share:
Income from continuing operations
Income (loss) from discontinued operations
Net income per share

2007
Revenues
Operating income (2),(5)
Income from conitinuing operations
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax
Basic earnings per share:
Income from continuing operations
Income from discontinued operations
Net income per share
Diluted earnings per share:
Income from continuing operations
Income from discontinued operations
Net income per share

Revenues
Operating income (2),(3),(4)
Income from continuing operations
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax
Basic earnings per share:
Income from continuing operations
Income from discontinued operations
Net income per share
Diluted earnings per share:
Income from continuing operations
Income from discontinued operations
Net income per share

$    262,454
23,687
11,888

519

$          0.24
0.01

$          0.25
 

$          0.23
0.01

$          0.24

$    254,105
28,733
15,497

362

$          0.31
0.00

$          0.31

$          0.30
0.01

$          0.31

 

$    225,119
19,582

4,433
831

$          0.11
0.02

$          0.13

$          0.11
0.01

$          0.12

$    254,658
23,848
11,500

1,238

$          0.23
0.02

$          0.25

$          0.22
0.03

$          0.25

$    269,994
26,990
13,852

347

$          0.27
0.01

$          0.28

$          0.27

$          0.27

$    256,453
34,986
20,216
(3,779)

$          0.40
(0.08)

$          0.32

$          0.39
(0.07)

$          0.32

$    246,528
25,414
11,633

733

$          0.23
0.02

$          0.25

$          0.23
0.01

$          0.24

$    249,994
21,883
10,523

954

$          0.21
0.02

$          0.23

$          0.20
0.02

$          0.22

First Quarter Second Quarter

Third Quarter Fourth Quarter

First Quarter Second Quarter

Third Quarter Fourth Quarter
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Item 9.  Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
 
None.
 
   
Item 9A.  Controls and Procedures
 
Disclosure Controls and Procedures
Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, has evaluated 
the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) 
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, referred to as the Exchange Act), as of the end of the period 
covered by this report. On the basis of this review, our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and our 
Chief Financial Officer, has concluded that as of the end of the period covered by this report, our disclosure controls and 
procedures were effective to give reasonable assurance that the information required to be disclosed in our reports filed 
with the Securities and Exchange Commission, or the SEC, under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized 
and reported within the time periods specified in the rules and forms of the SEC, and to ensure that the information 
required to be disclosed in the reports filed or submitted under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to 
our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, in a manner that allows timely 
decisions regarding required disclosure.
 
It should be noted that the effectiveness of our system of disclosure controls and procedures is subject to certain 
limitations inherent in any system of disclosure controls and procedures, including the exercise of judgment in designing, 
implementing and evaluating the controls and procedures, the assumptions used in identifying the likelihood of future 
events, and the inability to eliminate misconduct completely. Accordingly, there can be no assurance that our disclosure 
controls and procedures will detect all errors or fraud. As a result, by its nature, our system of disclosure controls and 
procedures can provide only reasonable assurance regarding management’s control objectives.

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

(a)  Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
See “Item 8. — Financial Statements and Supplemental Data — Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial 
Reporting” for management’s report on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 
28, 2008.
 
   
(b)  Attestation Report of the Registered Public Accounting Firm
See “Item 8. — Financial Statements and Supplemental Data — Report of Independent Registered Certified Public 
Accountants” for the report of our independent registered public accounting firm on the effectiveness of our internal 
control over financial reporting as of December 28, 2008.

(c)  Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
Our management is responsible for reporting any changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as such terms 
is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) during the period to which this report relates that 
have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting. 
Management believes that there have not been any changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as such term 
is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) during the period to which this report relates that 
have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

(1)  Operating income for Third and Fourth Quarters 2008 includes the effects of a change in our vacation policy for 
certain employees which conformed to a fiscal year-end based policy. The new policy allows employees to use vacation 
regardless of service period but within the fiscal year. Vacation expense decreased by $3.7 million fiscal year 2008 
compared to fiscal year 2007 primarily due to this change. This had a positive impact on earnings for Third and Fourth 
Quarters of $2.0 million and $1.7 million, respectively. Also included in our results for fiscal Fourth Quarter ended 
December 28, 2008 is a one-time tax benefit related to our equity affiliate of $1.9 million.
     
(2)  Selected Financial data for 2007 includes adjustments to First Quarter, Second Quarter, Third Quarter and Fourth 
Quarter operating income for income on discontinued operations of $0.9 million, $1.2 million, $1.4 million and $1.5 
million, respectively.
     
(3)  Fiscal year 2007 income from continuing operations reflects $2.1 million in insurance recoveries related to damages 
incurred at the New Castle Correctional Facility in Indiana offset by a write-off of $1.4 million in deferred acquisition 
costs.
      
(4)  Third Quarter results reflect increases and (decreases) to insurance reserves of $2.7 million and $(0.9) million for 
fiscal 2008 and fiscal 2007, respectively.
     
(5)  First Quarter 2007 income from continuing operations reflects a write-off of debt issuance costs of $4.8 million 
related to the repayment of $200.0 million in the Term Loan B.

18.  Subsequent events 
During September 2003, GEO entered into two interest rate swaps with its lenders. The agreements, which have payment 
and expiration dates and call provisions that mirror the terms of the Notes, effectively convert $50.0 million of the Notes 
into variable rate obligations. Each of the Swaps has a termination clause that gives the lender the right to terminate 
the interest rate swap at fair market value if they are no longer a lender under the Credit Agreement. In addition to the 
termination clause, the interest rate swaps also have call provisions which specify that the lender can elect to settle the 
swap for the call option price, as specified in the swap agreement. In First Quarter 2009, one of the Company’s lenders 
elected to prepay its interest rate swap obligations to the Company at the call option price which equaled or was greater 
than the fair value of the interest rate swap on the respective call date. Since the Company did not elect to call any 
portion of the Notes, the Company will amortize the value of the call options over the remaining life of the Notes. The 
termination of this Swap is expected to increase the Company’s interest expense for fiscal 2009 by approximately one 
million dollars.
 
New contracts 
In January 2009, the Company announced that its wholly owned U.K. subsidiary, GEO UK Ltd., has signed a contract 
with the United Kingdom Border Agency for the management and operation of the Harmondsworth Immigration 
Removal Centre (the “Centre”) located in London, England. The Company’s contract for the management and operation 
of the Centre will have a term of three years and is expected to generate approximately $14.0 million in annual revenues 
for GEO. Under the terms of the contract, the Company will take over management of the existing Centre, which has 
a current capacity of 260 beds on June 29, 2009. Additionally, the Centre will be expanded by 360 beds bringing its 
capacity to 620 beds when the expansion is completed in June 2010. Upon completion of the expansion, this management 
contract is expected to generate approximately $19.5 million in annual revenues.
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Exhibit
Number           Description
             
2.1

3.1

3.2

3.3

3.4

3.5

3.6

4.1

4.2

 

Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of September 19, 2006, among the Company, GEO 
Acquisition II,  Inc. and CentraCore Properties Trust (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 
2.1 of the Company’s report on Form 8-K, filed on September 21, 2006)

Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of the Company, dated May 16, 1994 (incorporated 
herein by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s registration statement on Form S-1, filed on 
May 24, 1994)

Articles of Amendment to the Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation, dated October 30, 
2003 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Company’s report on Form 10-K, filed 
on February 15, 2008)

Articles of Amendment to the Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation, dated November 
25, 2003 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.3 to the Company’s report on Form 10-K, 
filed on February 15, 2008)

Articles of Amendment to the Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation, dated September 
29, 2006 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.4 to the Company’s report on Form 10-K, 
filed on February 15, 2008)

Articles of Amendment to the Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation, dated May 30, 
2007 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.5 to the Company’s report on Form 10-K, filed 
on February 15, 2008)

Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.1 
to the Company’s report on Form 8-K, filed on April 2, 2008)

Indenture, dated July 9, 2003, by and between the Company and The Bank of New York, as Trustee, 
relating to 8 1 / 4 % Senior Notes Due 2013 (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the 
Company’s report on Form 8-K, filed on July 29, 2003)

Registration Rights Agreement, dated July 9, 2003, by and among the Company Corporation 
and BNP Paribas Securities Corp., Lehman Brothers Inc., First Analysis Securities Corporation, 
SouthTrust Securities, Inc. and Comerica Securities, Inc. (incorporated herein by reference to 
Exhibit 4.2 to the Company’s report on Form 8-K, filed on July 29, 2003)

Item 9B.  Other Information
 
None.
 

PART III
 
Items 10, 11, 12, 13 and 14
 
The information required by Items 10, 11, 12 (except for the information required by Item 201(d) of Regulation S-K 
which is included in Part II, Item 5 of this report), 13 and 14 of Form 10-K will be contained in, and is incorporated 
by reference from, the proxy statement for our 2009 annual meeting of shareholders, which will be filed with the SEC 
pursuant to Regulation 14A within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year covered by this report.
 

PART IV
 
   
Item 15.  Exhibits, and Financial Statement Schedules
 
(a)(1) Financial Statements.
 
The consolidated financial statements of GEO are filed under Item 8 of Part II of this report.
 
(2) Financial Statement Schedules.
 
Schedule II — Valuation and Qualifying Accounts — Page 124
 
All other schedules specified in the accounting regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission have been 
omitted because they are either inapplicable or not required.
 
(3) Exhibits Required by Item 601 of Regulation S-K. The following exhibits are filed as part of this Annual Report:
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10.14

10.15

10.16

10.17

10.18

Exhibit        
Number           Description
             
10.19

10.20

10.21

10.22

10.23

10.24

Amended Executive Retirement Agreement, dated January 17, 2003, by and between the Company 
and Wayne H. Calabrese (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.19 to the Company’s 
report on Form 10-K, filed on March 20, 2003)†

Amended Executive Retirement Agreement, dated January 17, 2003, by and between the Company 
and John G. O’Rourke (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.20 to the Company’s report 
on Form 10-K, filed on March 20, 2003)†

Senior Officer Employment Agreement, dated March 23, 2005, by and between the Company and 
John J. Bulfin (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.22 to the Company’s report on Form 
10-K, filed on March 23, 2005)†

Senior Officer Employment Agreement, dated March 23, 2005, by and between the Company and 
Jorge A. Dominicis (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.23 to the Company’s report on 
Form 10-K, filed on March 23, 2005)†

Senior Officer Employment Agreement, dated March 23, 2005, by and between the Company and 
John M. Hurley (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.24 to the Company’s report on 
Form 10-K, filed on March 23, 2005)†

Office Lease, dated September 12, 2002, by and between the Company and Canpro Investments 
Ltd. (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.22 to the Company’s report on Form 10-K, 
filed on March 20, 2003)

The Geo Group, Inc. Senior Management Performance Award Plan (incorporated herein by reference 
to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s report on Form 10-Q, filed on May 13, 2005)
 
The GEO Group, Inc. 2006 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.21 
to the Company’s report on Form 10-K, filed on February 15, 2008)†

Amendment to The Geo Group, Inc. 2006 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by reference 
to the Company’s report on Form 10-Q, filed on August 9, 2007)

Third Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of January 24, 2007, by and among The 
GEO Group, Inc., as Borrower, BNP Paribas, as Administrative Agent, BNP Paribas Securities 
Corp. as Lead Arranger and Syndication Agent, and the lenders who are, or may from time to time 
become, a party thereto (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s report 
on Form 8-K, filed on January 30, 2007)

Amendment No. 1 to the Third Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of January 31, 
2007, between The GEO Group, Inc., as Borrower, and BNP Paribas, as Lender and as Administrative 
Agent (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s report on Form 8-K, filed 
on February 6, 2007)

Exhibit   
Number           Description
4.3

10.1

10.2

10.3

10.4

10.5

10.6

10.7

10.8

10.9

10.10

10.11 

10.12 

10.13

Rights Agreement, dated as of October 9, 2003, between the Company and EquiServe Trust Company, 
N.A., as the Rights Agent (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to the Company’s report 
on Form 8-K, filed on July 29, 2003)

Stock Option Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s registration 
statement on Form S-1, filed on May 24, 1994)†

1994 Stock Option Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s 
registration statement on Form S-1, filed on May 24, 1994)†

Form of Indemnification Agreement between the Company and its Officers and Directors 
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s registration statement on Form 
S-1, filed on May 24, 1994)†

Senior Officer Retirement Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s 
registration statement on Form S-1/A, filed on December 22, 1995)†

Amendment to the Company’s Senior Officer Retirement Plan (incorporated herein by reference to 
Exhibit 10.5 to the Company’s report on Form 10-K, filed on March 23, 2005)†

1999 Stock Option Plan (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to the Company’s report 
on Form 10-K, filed on March 30, 2000)†

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated November 4, 2004, between the Company 
and Dr. George C. Zoley (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s report 
on Form 10-Q, filed on November 4, 2004)†

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated November 4, 2004, between the Company 
and Wayne H. Calabrese (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s report 
on Form 10-Q, filed on November 5, 2004)†

Executive Employment Agreement, dated March 7, 2002, between the Company and John G. 
O’Rourke (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to the Company’s report on Form 10-
Q, filed on May 15, 2002)†

Executive Retirement Agreement, dated March 7, 2002, between the Company and Dr. George C. 
Zoley (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.18 to the Company’s report on Form 10-Q, 
filed on May 15, 2002)†

Executive Retirement Agreement, dated March 7, 2002, between the Company and Wayne H. 
Calabrese (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.19 to the Company’s report on Form 10-
Q, filed on May 15, 2002)†

Executive Retirement Agreement, dated March 7, 2002, between the Company and John G. 
O’Rourke (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.20 to the Company’s report on Form 10-
Q, filed on May 15, 2002)†

Amended Executive Retirement Agreement, dated January 17, 2003, by and between the Company 
and George C. Zoley (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.18 to the Company’s report 
on Form 10-K, filed on March 20, 2003)†
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Exhibit        
Number       Description
             
10.35

10.36

21.1

23.1

31.1

31.2

32.1

32.2

    
*   Filed herewith.
     
†   Management contract or compensatory plan, contract or agreement as defined in Item 402 (a)(3) of   
  Regulation S-K.

Amended and Restated The GEO Group, Inc. Senior Management Performance Award Plan, 
effective December 31, 2008 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the Company’s report 
on Form 8-K January 7, 2009)

Amended and Restated The GEO Group, Inc. Senior Officer Retirement Plan, effective December 
31, 2008 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to the Company’s report on Form 8-K January 
7, 2009)

Subsidiaries of the Company*

Consent of Grant Thornton LLP, independent registered certified public accountants*

Rule 13a-14(a) Certification in accordance with Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 
2002.*

Rule 13a-14(a) Certification in accordance with Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 
2002.*

Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the 
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.*
 
Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the 
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.*
 

10.25

 
10.26 

10.27

10.28

10.29

 
10.30

 
10.31

10.32 

10.33

10.34

Amendment No. 2 to the Third Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of January 31, 
2007, between The GEO Group, Inc., as Borrower, and BNP Paribas, as Lender and as Administrative 
Agent (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s report on Form 8-K, filed 
on February 20, 2007)

Amendment No. 3 to the Third Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of May 2, 2007, 
between The Geo Group, Inc., as Borrower, and BNP Paribas, as Lender and as Administrative 
Agent (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s report on Form 8-K, 
dated May 8, 2007)
 
Amendment No. 4 to the Third Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated effective as of 
August 26, 2008, between The GEO Group Inc., as Borrower, certain of GEO’s subsidiaries, as 
Grantors, and BNP Paribas, as Lender and as Administrative Agent (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s report on Form 8-K, filed on September 2, 2008)

Form of Lender Addendum, dated as of October 29, 2008, by and among The GEO Group, Inc. as 
Borrower, BNP Paribas as Administrative Agent and the Lender parties thereto (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s report on Form 10-Q, filed November 5, 2008)

Second Amended and Restated Executive Employment Agreement, effective December 31, 2008, 
by and between The GEO Group, Inc. and George C. Zoley (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 
10.1 to the Company’s report on Form 8-K January 7, 2009)

Second Amended and Restated Executive Employment Agreement, effective December 31, 2008, by 
and between The GEO Group, Inc. and Wayne H. Calabrese (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 
10.2 to the Company’s report on Form 8-K January 7, 2009†

Amended and Restated Executive Employment Agreement, effective December 31, 2008, by and 
between The GEO Group, Inc. and John G. O’Rourke (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to 
the Company’s report on Form 8-K January 7, 2009)

Amended and Restated Senior Officer Employment Agreement, effective December 31, 2008, by 
and between The GEO Group, Inc. and John J. Bulfin (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to 
the Company’s report on Form 8-K January 7, 2009)

Amended and Restated Senior Officer Employment Agreement, effective December 31, 2008, by 
and between The GEO Group, Inc. and Jorge A. Dominicis (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 
10.5 to the Company’s report on Form 8-K January 7, 2009)†

Amended and Restated Senior Officer Employment Agreement, effective December 31, 2008, by 
and between The GEO Group, Inc. and Thomas M. Wierdsma (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 
10.6 to the Company’s report on Form 8-K January 7, 2009)
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THE GEO GROUP, INC.

 SCHEDULE II
 VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

 For the Fiscal Years Ended December 28, 2008, December 30, 2007, and December 31, 2006
 
                              
           

Description    
          (In thousands)  

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 28, 2008:                     

Allowance for doubtful accounts        $  445 $  602             $  (302)               $  (120)            $  625  

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 30, 2007:                     

Allowance for doubtful accounts        $  926 $  (176)             $  (130)   $  (120)            $  445  

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2006:                     

Allowance for doubtful accounts        $  224 $  762             $    —   $    (60)            $  926  

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 28, 2008:                     

Asset Replacement Reserve        $  885  $    54             $    —   $  (316)            $  623  

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 30, 2007:                     

Asset Replacement Reserve        $  768 $  328             $    —   $  (211)            $  885  

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2006:                     

Asset Replacement Reserve        $  723 $  258             $    —   $  (213)            $  768  

Balance at 
Beginning 
of Period

Charged to 
Cost and 
Expenses

Charged 
to Other 
Accounts

Deductions, 
Actual 

Charge-Offs

Balance 
at End of 

Period

SIGNATURES
 
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly 
caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
 

 
Date: February 18, 2009

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following 
persons on behalf of the Company and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.           

      Signature       Title             Date
             

         

/s/  George C. Zoley

George C. Zoley      February 18, 2009

         

/s/  John G. O’Rourke

John G. O’Rourke      February 18, 2009

         

/s/  Brian R. Evans

Brian R. Evans      February 18, 2009

         

/s/  Wayne H. Calabrese

Wayne H. Calabrese      February 18, 2009

         

/s/  Norman A. Carlson

Norman A. Carlson      February 18, 2009

         

/s/  Anne N. Foreman

Anne N. Foreman     February 18, 2009

         

/s/  John M. Palms

John M. Palms     February 18, 2009

         

/s/  Richard H. Glanton

Richard H. Glanton      February 18, 2009

         

/s/  John M. Perzel

John M. Perzel      February 18, 2009

Chairman of the Board & Chief Executive Officer

 (principal executive officer)

Senior Vice President & Chief Financial Officer

 (principal financial officer)

Vice President of Finance, Treasurer & Chief 

Accounting Officer (principal accounting officer)

Vice Chairman of the Board,

 President & Chief Operating Officer

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

THE GEO GROUP, INC.   
    

/s/  JOHN G. O’ROURKE
John G. O’Rourke

Senior Vice President &
Chief Financial Officer
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Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We have issued our reports dated February 17, 2009, with respect to the consolidated financial statements, schedule and 
internal control over financial reporting included in the Annual Report of The GEO Group, Inc. on Form 10-K for the 
year ended December 28, 2008. We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference of said reports in the Registration 
Statements of The GEO Group, Inc. on Form S-4 (File No. 333-107709, effective November 10, 2003), Forms S-3 (File 
No. 333-141244, effective March 13, 2007 and File No. 333-111003, effective December 8, 2003 as amended by File 
No. 333-111003, effective January 20, 2004 as amended by File No. 333-111003, effective January 26, 2004) and Forms 
S-8 (File No. 333-142589, effective May 3, 2007, File No. 333-79817, effective June 2, 1999, File No. 333-17265, 
effective December 4, 1996, File No. 333-09977, effective August 12, 1996 and File No. 333-09981, effective August 
12, 1996).

February 17, 2009
/s/ Grant Thornton LLP

 Miami, Florida

EXHIBIT 21.1

The GEO Group, Inc. Subsidiaries

GEO International Holdings, Inc.
 GEO RE Holdings LLC
 WCC Financial, Inc.
 WCC Development, Inc.
 WCC/FL/01, Inc.
 WCC/FL/02, Inc.
 GEO Design Services, Inc.
 GEO Care, Inc.
 The GEO Group UK Ltd.
 The GEO Group Ltd.
 Premier Custodial Development Ltd.
 South African Custodial Holdings Pty. Ltd.
 The GEO Group Australasia Pty, Ltd.
 GEO Australasia Pty, Ltd.
 The GEO Group Australia Pty, Ltd.
 Premier Employment Services Pty, Ltd.
 Australasian Correctional Investment Pty, Ltd.
 Pacific Rim Employment Pty, Ltd.
 Strategic Healthcare Solutions Pty, Ltd.
 Wackenhut Corrections Corporation N.V.
 Canadian Correctional Management, Inc.
 Miramichi Youth Center Management, Inc.
 Wackenhut Corrections Puerto Rico, Inc.
 Correctional Services Corporation
 FF&E, Inc.
 CPT Limited Partner LLC
 CPT Operating Partnership LP
 Correctional Properties Prison Finance LLC
 Public Properties Development & Leasing LLC
 GEO Holdings I, Inc.
 GEO Acquisition II, Inc.
 GEO Transport, Inc.
 CSC of Tacoma, LLC
 CPT Limited Partner, LLC
 CPT Operating Partnership L.P.
 Correctional Properties Prison Finance LLC
 Public Properties Development and Leasing LLC 
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Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

I, George C. Zoley, certify that:

     1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of The GEO Group, Inc.;
     
    2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a 
material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were 
made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
     
    3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly 
present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and 
for, the periods presented in this report;
     
    4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls 
and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting 
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f), for the registrant and have:
    
  a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be 
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated 
subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is 
being prepared;
    
  b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial 
reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial 
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles;
     
 c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report 
our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by 
this report based on such evaluation; and
      
 d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred 
during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fiscal Fourth Quarter in the case of an annual report) 
that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial 
reporting; and
    
    5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control 
over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s Board of Directors (or 
persons performing the equivalent function):
   
 a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over 
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize 
and report financial information; and
     
 b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role 
in the registrant’s internal controls over financial reporting.

Date: February 18, 2009

Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

I, John G. O’Rourke, certify that:
     
    1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of The GEO Group, Inc.;
     
    2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a 
material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were 
made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
    
    3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly 
present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and 
for, the periods presented in this report;
     
    4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls 
and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting 
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f), for the registrant and have:
     
 a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be 
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated 
subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is 
being prepared;
     
 b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting 
to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting 
and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles;
     
 c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report 
our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by 
this report based on such evaluation; and
     
 d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred 
during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fiscal Fourth Quarter in the case of an annual report) 
that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial 
reporting; and
     
    5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control 
over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s Board of Directors (or 
persons performing the equivalent function):
     
 a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over 
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize 
and report financial information; and
     
 b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role 
in the registrant’s internal controls over financial reporting.
 

Date: February 18, 200

/s/  George C. Zoley
  George C. Zoley 

Chief Executive Officer

/s/  John G. O’Rourke
  John G. O’Rourke

 Chief Financial Officer
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Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS
 ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

     In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of The GEO Group, Inc. (the “Company”) for the fiscal year 
ended December 28, 2008 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), 
I John G. O’Rourke, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as 
adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 that:
     
    (1) the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, 
as amended; and
    
    (2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results 
of operations of the Company.
         
 

    
Date: February 18, 2009

 /s/  George C. Zoley
  George C. Zoley

 Chief Executive Officer

Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS
 ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

     In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of The GEO Group, Inc. (the “Company”) for the fiscal year 
ended December 28, 2008 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), 
I George C. Zoley, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as 
adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 that:
    
    (1) the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, 
as amended; and
    
    (2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results 
of operations of the Company.
         

    
Date: February 18, 2009

/s/ John G. O’Rourke
  John G. O’Rourke

 Chief Financial Officer
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Regional offices 
Eastern Region, USA 
Gregory Skeens, Vice President 
13777 Ballantyne Corporate Place
Ballantyne Two, Suite 200
Charlotte, NC 28227
Phone: 704-543-3400 Fax: 704-543-3416 

Central Region, USA 
Reed Smith, Vice President 
1583 Common Street, Suite 111 
New Braunfels, Texas 78130 
Phone: 830-625-9000 Fax: 830-626-0108 

Western Region, USA 
Ed Brown, Vice President 
5963 La Place Court, Suite 120
Carlsbad, California 92008 
Phone: 760-930-9500 Fax: 760-930-9550  

inteRnational offices 
The GEO Group UK Ltd 
Walter MacGowan, Managing Director 
10 Suttons Business Park
Sutton Park Avenue
Reading, Berkshire RG6 1AZ
Tel: +44-118-935-9460 Fax: +44-118-935-9480

The GEO Group Australia Pty Ltd. 
Pieter Bezuidenhout, Managing Director 
Level 18, 44 Market Street 
Sydney, New South Wales 2000, Australia 
Phone: +61-2-9262-6100 Fax: +61-2-9262-6005 

South African Custodial Services 
Pieter Jordaan, Acting Managing Director 
Oak Place, Woodmead Office Park 
Western Service Road  
Woodmead, Sandton, South Africa 2191 
Phone: +27-11-802-4440 Fax: +27-11-802-4491  

otheR officeRs 
Thomas F. Boyer 
Vice President, Risk Management 

Ronald A. Brack
Vice President and Controller

Louis V. Carrillo 
Vice President, Corporate Counsel and Assistant Secretary 

Ronald D. Champion 
Vice President, International Services 

Mathew J. DenAdel 
Vice President, Pricing 

Valerie A. Deveraux
Vice President, Residential Treatment Facilities
GEO Care, Inc.

Brian R. Evans 
Vice President, Finance, Treasurer, 
and Chief Accounting Officer 

Dale W. Frick 
Vice President, Project Development 
and Client Relations
GEO Care, Inc. 

Stephen V. Fuller 
Vice President, Human Resources 

Karen E. Galin
Vice President, Clinical Programs

George P. Gintoli
Vice President, Secure Treatment Facilities
GEO Care, Inc.

Donald E. Houston
Vice President, Business Development

Lauren B. Kroger 
Vice President, Correctional Health Services

Craig A. Jenkins
Vice President, Finance
GEO Care, Inc. 

Charles F. Lister 
Vice President, Security Operations
GEO Care, Inc. 

Ron G. Maddux 
Vice President, Project Development 

Marcel Maier 
Vice President, Tax 

Amber D. Martin 
Vice President, Contracts 

Philip D. Mosciski 
Vice President, GEO Design Services 

David A. Mustain 
Vice President, Office of Professional Responsibility 

Cassandra F. Newkirk
Vice President, Correctional Mental Health Services
GEO Care, Inc.

Alfred P. Ramon III 
Vice President and Chief Information Officer 

Jeffrey A. Rone
Vice President, Security Operations 
GEO Care, Inc.

Ed C. Spooner
Vice President, Design Services

Cloid L. Shuler 
Vice President, Business Development 

Ernest A. Stepp
Vice President, Security

Ed Stubbs
Vice President, Transportation

Gary W. Templeton 
Vice President, Programs 

Robert D. White 
Vice President, Administration  

Rick A. Zahner
Vice President, Construction Services

coRpoRate and shaReholdeR infoRmation 
Corporate and shareholder information, as well as a copy of 
the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, as filed with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission, may be obtained free of 
charge by contacting Pablo E. Paez, Director, Corporate Rela-
tions at The GEO Group, Inc., One Park Place, 621 N.W. 53rd 
Street, Suite 700, Boca Raton, Florida 33487 or by visiting the 
Company’s website at www.thegeogroupinc.com. 

Annual Report Copy
Pablo E. Paez
Director, Corporate Relations

Annual Report Design
Kalia D. Mancell
Manager, Publications and Graphics

Auditors 
Grant Thornton, LLP
2700 South Commerce Parkway, Suite 300
Weston, FL  33331

Corporate Counsel  
Akerman, Senterfitt & Eidson, P.A. 
One Southeast Third Avenue, 28th Floor 
Miami, FL 33131 

Transfer Agent and Registrar 
BNY Mellon Shareowner Services 
Newport Office Center VII 480 Washington Boulevard 
Jersey City, New Jersey 07310 
866-210-7619   www.melloninvestor.com/isd 

Notice of Annual Meeting 
The Annual Shareholder Meeting for The GEO Group, Inc. will 
be held at the Boca Raton Resort & Club, 501 E. Camino Real, 
Boca Raton, Florida 33432 at 9:00 a.m. on April 30, 2009. 

Officer Certification 
The certifications of The GEO Group, Inc.’s Chief Executive Of-
ficer and Chief Financial Officer, required under section 302 of 
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, have been filed as exhibits to 
The GEO Group, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K. In 2008, 
The GEO Group, Inc.’s Chief Executive Officer submitted the 
annual certification to the New York Stock Exchange regard-
ing The GEO Group, Inc.’s compliance with the New York 
Stock Exchange corporate governance listing standards. 

Forward-Looking Statements — Safe Harbor
This report and the documents incorporated by reference herein 
contain “forward-looking” statements within the meaning of Sec-
tion 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 
21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. “For-
ward-looking” statements are any statements that are not based 
on historical information. Statements other than statements of 
historical facts included in this report, including, without limita-
tion, statements regarding our future financial position, business 
strategy, budgets, projected costs and plans and objectives of 
management for future operations, are “forward-looking” state-
ments. Forward-looking statements generally can be identified 
by the use of forward-looking terminology such as “may,” “will,” 
“expect,” “anticipate,” “intend,” “plan,” “believe,” “seek,” “esti-
mate” or “continue” or the negative of such words or variations 
of such words and similar expressions. These statements are not 
guarantees of future performance and involve certain risks, uncer-
tainties and assumptions, which are difficult to predict. Therefore, 
actual outcomes and results may differ materially from what is 
expressed or forecasted in such forward-looking statements and 
we can give no assurance that such forward-looking statements 
will prove to be correct. Important factors that could cause actual 
results to differ materially from those expressed or implied by the 
forward-looking statements, or “cautionary statements,” include, 
but are not limited to our ability to timely build and/or open facili-
ties as planned, profitably manage such facilities and successfully 
integrate such facilities into our operations without substantial ad-
ditional costs; the instability of foreign exchange rates, exposing 
us to currency risks in Australia, the United Kingdom, and South 
Africa, or other countries in which we may choose to conduct our 
business; our ability to reactivate the North Lake Correctional 
Facility; an increase in unreimbursed labor rates; our ability to 
expand, diversify and grow our correctional and mental health 
and residential treatment services; our ability to win management 
contracts for which we have submitted proposals and to retain 
existing management contracts; our ability to raise new project 
development capital given the often short-term nature of the cus-
tomers’ commitment to use newly developed facilities; our ability 
to estimate the government’s level of dependency on privatized 
correctional services; our ability to accurately project the size and 
growth of the U.S. and international privatized corrections indus-
try; our ability to develop long-term earnings visibility; our ability 
to obtain future financing at competitive rates; our exposure to 
rising general insurance costs; our exposure to state and federal 
income tax law changes internationally and domestically; our 
exposure to claims for which we are uninsured; our exposure to 
rising employee and inmate medical costs; our ability to maintain 
occupancy rates at our facilities; our ability to manage costs and 
expenses relating to ongoing litigation arising from our operations; 
our ability to accurately estimate on an annual basis, loss reserves 
related to general liability, workers compensation and automobile 
liability claims; our ability to identify suitable acquisitions, and 
to successfully complete and integrate such acquisitions on satis-
factory terms; the ability of our government customers to secure 
budgetary appropriations to fund their payment obligations to us; 
and other factors contained in our filings with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission, or the SEC, including, but not limited to, 
those detailed in this annual report on Form 10-K, our Form 10-Qs 
and our Form 8-Ks filed with the SEC. We undertake no obligation 
to update publicly any forward-looking statements, whether as a 
result of new information, future events or otherwise. All subse-
quent written and oral forward-looking statements attributable to 
us, or persons acting on our behalf, are expressly qualified in their 
entirety by the cautionary statements included in this report.

©  The GEO Group, Inc. 2009
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